Public Document Pack

A Meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE will be held
David Hicks 1 - Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham RG40
1BN on MONDAY 16 DECEMBER 2019 AT 7.00 PM

Susan Parsonage
Chief Executive
Published on 3 December 2019

This meeting will be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s
website.
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog
from this meeting. The use of these images or recordings is
not under the Council’s control.

Our Vision
A great place to live, an even better place to do business

Our Priorities
Improve educational attainment and focus on every child
achieving their potential
Invest in regenerating towns and villages, support social and
economic prosperity, whilst encouraging business growth
Ensure strong sustainable communities that are vibrant and
supported by well designed development
Tackle traffic congestion in specific areas of the Borough
Improve the customer experience when accessing Council
services

The Underpinning Principles
Offer excellent value for your Council Tax
Provide affordable homes
Look after the vulnerable
Improve health, wellbeing and quality of life
Maintain and improve the waste collection, recycling and fuel
efficiency
Deliver quality in all that we do

MEMBERSHIP OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE
Councillors
Simon Weeks (Chairman)
Gary Cowan
Abdul Loyes
Angus Ross

ITEM
NO.

WARD

Chris Bowring (ViceChairman)
Carl Doran
Andrew Mickleburgh
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey

Stephen Conway
Pauline Jorgensen
Malcolm Richards

SUBJECT

58.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence.

59.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 13
November 2019.

60.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
To receive any declaration of interest

61.

APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND
WITHDRAWN ITEMS
To consider any recommendations to defer
applications from the schedule and to note any
applications that may have been withdrawn.

PAGE
NO.

5 - 16

62.

Emmbrook

APPLICATION NO. 191949 - LAND AT
MATTHEWSGREEN FARM, MATTHEWSGREEN
ROAD, WOKINGHAM, RG41 1JX
Recommendation: Conditional approval subject to
completion of deed of variation

17 - 50

63.

Finchampstead
North

APPLICATION NO. 192285 - SILVERSTOCK
MANOR, SANDHURST ROAD, FINCHAMPSTEAD,
WOKINGHAM, RG40 3JE
Recommendation: Conditional approval

51 - 66

64.

Charvil

APPLICATION NO. 192648 - THE HOMESTEAD,
PARK LANE, CHARVIL, RG10 9TR
Recommendation: Conditional approval

67 - 88

65.

Charvil

APPLICATION NO. 192713 - THE HOMESTEAD,
PARK LANE, CHARVIL, RG10 9TR
Recommendation: Conditional approval

89 - 106

66.

Wokingham
Without

APPLICATION NO. 192244 - HEATHLANDS FARM,
HONEY HILL, WOKINGHAM, RG40 3BG
Recommendation: Conditional approval

107 - 124

67.

Wokingham
Without

APPLICATION NO. 192245 - HEATHLANDS FARM,
HONEY HILL, WOKINGHAM, RG40 3BG
Recommendation: Conditional approval

125 - 142

68.

Sonning

APPLICATION NO. 192312 - THE ATRIUM AND
POOL COURT, THAMES STREET, SONNING, RG4
6UR
Recommendation: Conditional approval

143 - 172

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief Executive if there are any
other items to consider under this heading.

GLOSSARY OF TERMS
The following abbreviations were used in the above Index and in reports.
C/A
CIL
R
LB
S106
F
MU
RM
VAR
PS
Category

Conditional Approval (grant planning permission)
Community Infrastructure Levy
Refuse (planning permission)
(application for) Listed Building Consent
Section 106 legal agreement between Council and applicant in accordance
with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(application for) Full Planning Permission
Members’ Update circulated at the meeting
Reserved Matters not approved when Outline Permission previously granted
Variation of a condition/conditions attached to a previous approval
Performance Statistic Code for the Planning Application

Callum Wernham
Tel
Email
Postal Address

CONTACT OFFICER
Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist
0118 974 6059
democratic.services@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

Agenda Item 59.
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
PLANNING COMMITTEE
HELD ON 13 NOVEMBER 2019 FROM 7.00 PM TO 9.55 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: Simon Weeks (Chairman), Chris Bowring (Vice-Chairman), Stephen Conway,
Gary Cowan, Pauline Jorgensen, Abdul Loyes, Andrew Mickleburgh, Malcolm Richards,
Angus Ross and Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey
Councillors Present and Speaking
Councillors: Sarah Kerr and Caroline Smith
Councillors Present
Councillors: Wayne Smith
Officers Present
Ian Bellinger, Category Manager for Growth and Delivery (Strategy and Commissioning:
Place)
Marcia Head, Development Management Team Leader
Judy Kelly, Highways Development Manager
James McCabe, Specialist Strategy & Commissioning Places
Mary Severin, Borough Solicitor
Callum Wernham, Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist
Case Officers Present
Andrew Fletcher
Stefan Fludger
Christopher Howard
Simon Taylor
Graham Vaughan
47.
APOLOGIES
An apology for absence was submitted from Councillor Carl Doran.
48.
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 9 October 2019 were confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Chairman.
MEMBERS' UPDATE
There are a number of references to the Members’ Update within these minutes. The
Members’ Update was circulated to all present to the meeting. A copy is attached.
49.
DECLARATION OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.
50.
APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND WITHDRAWN ITEMS
No applications were recommended for deferral, or withdrawn.

5

51.
DIVERSION ORDER WOKINGHAM FOOTPATH 23
Proposal: Diversion Order of Wokingham Footpath 23
Applicant: Wokingham Borough Council
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this Diversion Order, set out in
agenda pages 9 to 16.
The Committee were advised that there were no Members’ Updates.
Simon Weeks commented that no objections had been received to the proposals which
had been through consultation.
RESOLVED That the Diversion Order of Wokingham Footpath 23 be made.
52.

APPLICATION NO. 192128 - WOODSIDE CARAVAN SITE, BLAGROVE LANE,
WOKINGHAM (EVENDONS)
Proposal: Application to vary condition 1 (relating to temporary and personal restrictions)
of planning consent 181694 which was a variation to conditions 1 (names of residents) and
2 (number of pitches) of planning permission 152821 (appeal decision
APP/X0360/C/15/3085493 dated 15/1/18) for the change of use of land for the stationing
of caravans for residential purposes.
Applicant: Mr B, C and Ms C Maughan
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in agenda
pages 17 to 50.
The Committee were advised that the Members’ Update included clarification that the site
to date had not been promoted through the Local Plan Update call for sites exercises or
subsequently, however the site would be subject to assessment through the local plan
process.
Philip Bain, resident, spoke in objection to the application. Philip stated that more
consideration and weight should be given to the noise and disruption caused by this site
which in his opinion had not been fully realised within the Officer’s report. Philip added that
environmental health had been involved with this site and a complaint had been upheld
regarding these matters. Philip stated that the site was near residential properties and
consequently directly affected their amenity. Philip added that residents wanted clear
clarification with regards to other pitch provision within the Borough, and why potential
sites had been deemed as unsuitable, which was an arbitrary conclusion in his opinion.
Philip stated that trade vehicles had been seen on site, despite conditions prohibiting the
site being used for commercial activities. Philip raised concerns regarding police activity
relating to the site, though confirmed that this was not a planning consideration. Philip was
of the opinion that should this application be approved then Wokingham Borough Council
(WBC) were not representing the local community as the site was, and would continue to,
cause harm to the local and surrounding area.
Lettie Maughan, applicant, spoke in support of the application. Lettie stated that there had
been no criminal activity on site and there had been a long history of claims made by local
residents that the occupants were deceitful regarding their circumstances, all of which
were untrue. Lettie stated there were no trade vehicles on site, and only one transit van.

6

Lettie added that the application as presented was true and accurate. Lettie stated that the
site was seen as devaluing local residential dwellings, however this site was necessary as
refusing permission would make 18 children homeless as there was no other suitable site
available. Lettie added that land swaps had been investigated but this had been
unsuccessful, and there really was no other option for all current occupants. Lettie
concluded by stating that some occupants had disabilities and 5 children lost their father
last year which had added to their stressful situation.
Sarah Kerr, Ward Member, spoke in objection to the application. Sarah stated that this
further application for temporary permission was frustrating, as the site was currently
having a negative impact on residents, wildlife and the surrounding area. Sarah was of the
opinion that if permanent planning permission would cause harm, then an extension to the
existing 2 year planning permission would cause harm in and of itself. Sarah stated that
the site did not have enough screening in place and was causing harm as it was an
urbanised site within a rural setting. Sarah added that temporary permission was originally
granted due to human rights issues of the applicant, however, during that 2 year period
what had been done to find an alternative site given that WBC had over 6 years pitch
supply. Sarah stated that the applicant had not been moved to some alternative sites due
to the families occupying nearby areas. Sarah stated that the number of occupants on site
had grown over time, and there was a genuine fear that the site could become permanent,
either through approval of permanent planning permission or continual approval of
temporary permissions.
Simon Weeks reminded the Committee that it was not a planning consideration to consider
the suitability of the applicant, nor was it within the Committee’s remit to preclude an
application that might be placed in the future.
Members raised a variety of concerns and queries with regards to this application, which
were asked in succession. Graham Vaughan, Case Officer, responded to these comments
en-masse at the conclusion of this round of Member comment.
Stephen Conway commented that the Inspector’s original findings stated that the site
would cause significant harm, however on balance of personal circumstances at the time
temporary permission was appropriate. Stephen sought assurances that the applicant had
made efforts to find an alternative site, and the reasons why some sites had been classed
as unsuitable.
Andrew Mickleburgh was of the opinion that the Inspector clearly believed that a 2 year
grant of planning permission should have been adequate. Andrew stated that he was
concerned over the use of the phrase ‘possible other sites’ within the report, and queried
whether it was realistic that a site would be found within the next 2 years. Andrew queried
what monitoring occurred to review that only the named occupants were present on the
site. Andrew queried the current speed limit of Blagrove Lane and whether speeds needed
to be reduced as a result of this site.
Pauline Jorgensen noted that the Inspector’s original judgment made comment that
occupancy of the site should cease either after 2 years or when a suitable alternative site
was found. Pauline queried why, when the Inspector had stated that the site should cease
to be occupied after 2 years, the Officer recommendation was contradictory to this.

7

Abdul Loyes queried what efforts had been made by the applicant to source an alternative
site, and whether a further application could be made for temporary permission in another
2 years.
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey queried whether provisions would be made within the Local
Plan Update to source additional pitches.
Chris Bowring was of the opinion that this application could not be refused, as the
difference between now and the Inspector’s original ruling was that there were additional
children who were more engrained within the local community. Chris suggested that this
item be deferred to allow for more information to be provided regarding the efforts made by
the applicant to find an alternative site.
Gary Cowan stated that having read a letter submitted by a resident regarding this
application, there were clear concerns with regards to this site. Gary added however that
the biggest issue with regards to this situation was the delayed Local Plan Update. Gary
suggested that the application be approved for a 2 year time period, which would be
subject to legal agreement, and an additional condition regarding screening of the site to
negate light pollution.
Graham Vaughan responded to a number of Member queries. Graham stated that the
Committee needed to determine the application on its own merit. Graham added that the
issues raised with regards to this application were similar to the issues raised in 2018
when the Inspector allowed the appeal and granted temporary permission. Graham
commented that the same weight should therefore be applied to the human rights and
specific family reasons, as an Inspector would likely view these in the same light at appeal
as the previous Inspector did in 2018. There was a strong weighting to the needs of the
applicant and family, in particular the children living on site, considered by the Inspector in
2018. Graham stated that there was nothing preventing the applicant submitting a further
application for temporary permission in the future, and each application would have to be
judged on its own merit. Monitoring of the site, in particular the named occupants’
condition, was enforced by the planning enforcement team. In addition to this,
development management were in contact with the applicant periodically. Graham stated
that the Inspector’s decision in 2018 to grant a 2 year permission was likely due to the
belief that WBC’s Local Plan would be further progressed than it currently was.
Judy Kelly, Highways Development Manager, stated that there was a 30Mph speed limit
for 160m south of the site, and good visibility splays were present. Judy added that no
highways safety issues were raised by the Inspector at appeal in 2018.
James McCabe, Specialist Strategy & Commissioning Place, updated the Committee on
the policy aspects of pitch supply within the Borough. James stated that there was
currently a 6.25 year supply of pitches which was calculated on an annual basis. James
added that of this deliverable supply of pitches, some had since been implemented but
were understood to be occupied, while others were yet to be delivered. It was a material
consideration as to whether a suitable alternative site was available to the applicant now or
within a reasonable period of time. James stated that since the Council’s latest annual
supply position, an additional 5 pitches had been approved at Belvedere Park which would
be incorporated into the next annual supply assessment. James stated that the Local Plan
would consult on a number of private sites which had come forward as potential Gypsy
and Traveller sites.

8

Pauline Jorgensen queried how long it took on average between planning permission
being granted for a pitch to occupation of the site. Marcia Head, Development
Management Team Leader, stated that it could easily take a year to enable conditions, for
example a contaminated land condition, to take full effect.
A number of Members requested that further information be provided which detailed which
alternative sites the applicant had considered, the dates that they were considered on, why
any potential sites were deemed as unsuitable and the current availability of sites across
the Borough. Stephen Conway moved that the item be deferred to allow for the
aforementioned information to be provided to the Committee in January. This was
seconded by Pauline Jorgensen.
RESOLVED That application 192128 be deferred, to allow for further information be
provided which detailed which alternative sites the applicant had considered, the dates
that they were considered on, why any potential sites were deemed as unsuitable and the
current availability of sites across the Borough – to be considered at the January
Committee.
53.
APPLICATION NO. 191573 - 9 EASTHAMPSTEAD ROAD, WOKINGHAM
Proposal: Full application for the proposed erection of a three storey building consisting of
22 residential units following demolition of existing building.
Applicant: Classicstone Properties
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in agenda
pages 51 to 116.
The Committee were advised that the Members’ Update included:










Clarification that previously refused scheme 181723 had been appealed and a
decision was pending. The applicant had given an undertaking that the appeal would
be withdrawn if this application was approved;
Clarification of paragraph 118, in summary to state that the Council’s Highways Officer
raised no objections based on parking space provision due to the highly sustainable
town centre location;
Examples of other town centre developments which had lower car parking spaces per
unit than present in the subject application;
Free parking times for both Easthampstead Road East and West public car parks,
which were located nearby the subject application site;
Clarification that paragraph 123 referred to a dual level cycle parking solution, which
was not an adopted policy. Specific details would be resolved as part of the pre
commencement requirements in Condition 9;
Clarification of paragraph 127, to state that access to the site was via the adopted
highway, with the private road access being limited to part of the western side of the
building;
Clarification that paragraph 132 should refer to an incident on 5 December 2018, not
2019;
Additional clarification regarding delivery arrangements and construction phases
relating to Condition 6;
Clarification that although there were four departures from internal living room space
requirements, these were Borough Design Guide guidelines only and not policy
requirements;

9




Correction that the commuted sum quoted in paragraph 162 should state £50,610.71;
Correction that paragraph 165 should refer to Rooks Nest Wood SANG.

Andrew Mickleburgh stated that his main concern with this application was with regards to
parking provision. Andrew added that some residents and visitors may struggle to find
parking, which could lead to ‘spill over’ onto other roads with parking restrictions. Andrew
commented that he was pleased to see the inclusion of photovoltaic panels within the
application, and queried whether more than the conditioned percentage of energy from
renewable sources could be provided. Simon Taylor, Case Officer, stated that all spaces
were allocated and disabled spaces and electric vehicle charging spaces would be
managed via a car parking management plan. With regards to the percentage of energy
from renewable sources, this was conditioned to generate 10 percent of the predicted
energy requirements for the development. The Committee could add an informative
suggesting that the applicant provided over and above the conditioned 10 percent of
generated predicted energy requirements for the development.
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey queried whether there was adequate alternative parking
available within the town centre setting, and whether the provided parking was policy
compliant. Simon Weeks stated that previous town centre developments had set a
precedent of providing less spaces that units, whilst the subject application provided
spaces equal to unit numbers. Although the proposals were not policy compliant,
precedent and the sustainable town centre location had led to no objections being raised
by Highways Officers.
Pauline Jorgensen was of the opinion that the proposed landscaping was disappointing,
and queried whether this could be improved. Simon Taylor stated that Easthampstead
Road was a green route, and the Landscaping Officer had conditioned more landscaping
on Easthampstead Road. In addition, a green wall would be conditioned.
Gary Cowan queried whether all parking spaces could be made electric charging capable,
by laying down the underground infrastructure. Judy Kelly, Highways Development
Manager, stated that there was currently no national policy for electric vehicle charging.
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey requested that an additional informative be added that
requested all parking spaces be fitted with the underground infrastructure required for
electric vehicle charging. Gary was of the opinion that the approximate £1,000 per unit
contribution to the SANG was low. Simon Taylor confirmed that the SANG contribution
calculation was based on the number of bedrooms per unit.
RESOLVED That application 19157 be approved, subject to conditions and informatives
as set out in agenda pages 52 to 62, various clarifications and corrections as set out in the
Members’ Update, additional informatives relating to increased energy from renewable
sources and full implementation of underground infrastructure required for electric
charging provision, and subject to completion of legal agreement(s).

10

54.
APPLICATION NO. 191554 - 8 VICTORIA ROAD, WARGRAVE
Proposal: Full planning application for the proposed erection of one 6no. bedroom
dwelling with attached double garage and ancillary annex, provision of new access, gates,
bike storage and bin storage.
Applicant: Mr and Mrs Ramsey
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in agenda
pages 117 to 154.
The Committee were advised that the Members’ Update included clarification that the
recommendation on page 118 had been inadvertently swapped with the recommendation
on page 156. For clarity, the recommendation for the subject application was set out in
agenda pages 118 to 125, with the bold text on page 118 swapped with the bold text on
page 156.
Paul Kelly, resident, spoke in objection to the application. Paul stated that this was an
unusual application, with the site being split into two separate but similar planning
applications. Paul added that there were inaccuracies within the report, including incorrect
totals of supporting comments and objecting comments. Paul was of the opinion that the
application had created confusion as a result of being split in to two parts. Paul stated that
the Committee had not been provided with full evidence nor the complete details of this
application. Paul added that Victoria Road was used as on-street parking by residents who
did not have access to sufficient parking on their properties, and the area outside the
proposed development was the only available area for some residents. Paul concluded by
stating that the proposed access was dangerous for cyclists and other highways users,
and was contrary to CP6.
Carl Ramsey, applicant, spoke in support of the application. Carl stated that the current
dwelling was dated, and the plan had always been to renovate the existing property.
However, there were various structural problems with the existing dwelling, including a
ceiling that had collapsed, which had meant that it would be necessary to build new
properties on the site. Carl stated that they had worked closely with Wokingham Borough
Council’s Planning department throughout the planning process. Carl commented that
there was not a number 2, 4 or 6 Victoria Road as the site was originally designated for
additional houses, however they were intent on making the site their ‘forever home’. Carl
stated that a considerable amount of work and consultation had been undertaken between
neighbours, and their closest neighbours were supportive of the scheme. Carl added that
there were no objections from any of the relevant Council department or consultative
authorities. Carl stated that all relevant planning policy had been followed, and on-street
parking would still be available on Victoria Road.
John Halsall, Ward Member, prepared a statement regarding this application and in his
absence it was read out by the Vice Chairman. John apologised to the Committee as he
was unable to be present on the evening. John stated that he had listed this application on
the grounds that it was controversial. John added that he was neither supporting the
application nor objecting to it. John stated that therefore it should be referred to
Committee, so that all parties could see that the process was transparent and fair. John
believed that the scheme could be improved so that it was not controversial should the
applicant were willing. John referred the Committee to the comments made by the Parish
Council. John was of the opinion that the introduction of a new entrance in this location
was incompatible with the street scene in relation to highway safety, and should there be a

11

single entrance to the whole site (the existing 8 Victoria Road site) the objection to the
application would be withdrawn. John stated that should this application be approved, the
Parish Council requested that Permitted Development Rights be withdrawn.
A number of Members queried whether this application would make the on-street parking
noticeably worse on Victoria Road, by means of increasing the entrances from one total on
the existing site to two total across the two plots. Judy Kelly, Highways Development
Manager, stated that there was capacity elsewhere on Victoria Road for parking and there
was therefore not a highways safety concern related to this application.
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey queried whether the applicant could install a dropped kerb
without planning permission. Simon Weeks stated that this would be subject to a highways
application, and would therefore be outside of the planning application process.
RESOLVED That application number 191573 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 118 to 125 (with the bold text on page 118
swapped with the bold text on page 156).
55.
APPLICATION NO. 191570 - 8 VICTORIA ROAD, WARGRAVE
Proposal: Full planning application for the proposed erection of one 5no. bedroom
dwelling with attached double garage and ancillary annex, provision of new access, gates,
bike storage and bin storage.
Applicant: Mr and Mrs Ramsey.
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in agenda
pages 155 to 188.
The Committee were advised that the Members’ Update included clarification that the
recommendation on page 156 had been inadvertently swapped with the recommendation
on page 118. For clarity, the recommendation for the subject application was set out in
agenda pages 156 to 162, with the bold text on page 156 swapped with the bold text on
page 118.
Paul Kelly, resident, spoke in objection to the application. Paul stated that there were a
number of inaccuracies with the report, including the number of comments for and against
the application being incorrectly stated. Paul stated that the amenity value of his property
would be compromised by this application, as the proposed dwelling would be 10 metres
closer to his property than the existing property. Paul added that the proposed application
would be overbearing, cause loss of light to his property and would have an impact on the
general overlook of the setting. Paul stated that the proposed dwelling would interrupt the
45o line within 5 meters of his dwelling which was contrary to R18 of the Borough Design
Guide. Paul added that there were privacy concerns regarding the overlook from the
proposed dwelling directly into the 1st floor bedroom of his daughter’s bedroom, concerns
of which had been raised with the child protection department. Paul stated that
Wokingham Borough Council (WBC) had approved the inclusion of the aforementioned
bedroom window in 2012 and therefore it was acceptable. Paul concluded that the
proposed application would be entirely unacceptable and contrary to CPO8.
Carl Ramsey, applicant, spoke in support of the application. Carl stated that both a CIL
payment and a S106 agreement were applied to this application, and the dwelling would
be used to accommodate family – some of whom had some health issues – allowing them

12

to be close by. Carl added that they had worked closely with WBC’s planning department
throughout the planning process, and a number of changes had been made to the
application following feedback from neighbours. Carl stated that this plot had been moved
further away from number 10 Victoria Road, and the proposals had received no objections
from other neighbours, WBC departments of consultative authorities. Carl was of the
opinion that number 10 Victoria Road had reduced their own amenity space when deciding
on extending their property in 2012. Carl stated that he had removed an extremely large
light blocking fern tree previously, which had allowed more light into both his property and
number 10. Carl was of the opinion that the 1st floor window at number 10 Victoria Road
should never have been approved as it overlooked his property, and was likely only
allowed due to the existence of the very large fern tree at the time.
John Halsall, Ward Member, prepared a statement regarding this application and in his
absence it was read out by the Vice Chairman. John apologised to the Committee as he
was unable to be present on the evening. John stated that he had listed this application on
the grounds that it was controversial. John added that he was neither supporting the
application nor objecting to it.
John stated that therefore it should be referred to Committee, so that all parties could see
that the process was transparent and fair. John believed that the scheme could be
improved so that it was not controversial should the applicant were willing. John referred
the Committee to the comments made by the Parish Council. John was of the opinion that
the introduction of a new entrance in this location was incompatible with the street scene in
relation to highway safety, and should there be a single entrance to the whole site (the
existing 8 Victoria Road site) the objection to the application would be withdrawn. John
stated that should this application be approved, the Parish Council requested that
Permitted Development Rights be withdrawn.
Simon Weeks queried whether there would be any additional overlook towards the window
on the extension of number 10 Victoria Road as a result of the proposed dwelling. Simon
also queried whether there would be any considerable light loss for number 10 Victoria
Road as a result of the proposed development. Simon Taylor, Case Officer, stated that it
was unlikely that there would be any additional overlook on the side window of number 10
Victoria Road as a result of the proposed dwelling. Simon added that there would be some
reduction in light towards number 10 Victoria Road, however this would mainly occur in
secondary windows and there was therefore a lesser weighting given to light loss in these
rooms.
RESOLVED That application number 191570 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 118 to 124, and subject to completion of a legal
agreement (with the bold text on page 156 swapped with the bold text on page 118).
56.
APPLICATION NO. 191879 - 31 REDHATCH DRIVE, EARLEY
Proposal: Householder application for the proposed single storey side/rear extension
including conversion of existing garage to additional habitable accommodation, and
insertion of 4no. rooflights, internal alterations and changes to fenestration (partretrospective).
Applicant: Mr Muhammad Dawood
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in agenda
pages 189 to 208.

13

The Committee were advised that the Members’ Update included:





Clarification that a condition requiring the implementation of the proposed parking was
inadvertently omitted from the recommendation. However, there was space for 3
vehicles on the existing driveway and it was therefore not considered necessary to
condition this. For clarity, the condition requiring the proposed paving to be permeable
was retained;
Additional neighbour comments and Officer notes;
Additional comments from Earley Town Council and Officer notes.

Muhammad Khan, applicant, spoke in support of the application. Muhammad stated that
he had no objections to any of the conditions as set out within the report and would abide
by them fully. Muhammad demonstrated a new plan, which had not been formally
submitted to Officers beforehand. This demonstrated a reduction in the proposed hard
standing in the front garden. Muhammad stated that now only 60 percent of the front
garden would be paved, with 40 percent of the garden retained as a grass surface.
Caroline Smith, Ward Member, spoke in objection to the application. Caroline stated that
the proposals were out of keeping with the character and appearance of the area. Caroline
added that should the Committee be minded to approve the proposals, that the flat roof
could not be used as a balcony without prior approval and requested that the fence be
reinstalled. Caroline requested that a hard and soft landscaping scheme and a sustainable
drainage scheme be provided as part of the application.
Simon Weeks queried whether any new balustrading could be added to the proposed site.
Stefan Fludger, Case Officer, stated that it was conditioned to ensure that no new
balustrading could be installed. Stefan added that it was possible to pave the entire front
garden under permitted development rights, however it was not a requirement under the
planning permission for all of the front garden to be paved.
The were some queries from Members regarding a new set of plans shown on the evening
by the applicant which only proposed to pave over 60 percent of the garden. Marcia Head,
Development Management Team Leader, stated that the Committee had to approve the
plans as set out within the report. Marcia added that the grass area had already been
retained and the applicant would be in breach of the approved plans should they alter this
without permission at a later date. Simon weeks suggested that the applicant could submit
a non-material planning application to alter the percentage split of hard paving and grass
area to the front of the property should the application be approved.
Simon Weeks commented that the applicant could work with Officers to ensure that
parking was not permanently occupied, for example by a caravan, therefore retaining the 3
parking spaces as required.
Andrew Mickleburgh stated that there had been a considerable improvement with the
application before the Committee compared to previous iterations. Andrew added that
despite this, not all of the Town Council’s concerns had been addressed. Andrew
requested that a condition be implemented to ensure that the parking spaces not be
permanently occupied and that a sustainable drainage condition be added due to the slope
of the site. Stefan Fludger confirmed that condition 6 addressed the sustainable drainage
concerns raised.

14

RESOLVED That application 191879 be approved, subject to conditions and informatives
as set out in agenda pages 189 to 191 and clarifications as set out within the Members’
Update.
57.

RECONSIDERATION OF REFUSAL REASON 2 - APPLICATION NO. 181499 LAND SOUTH OF CUTBUSH LANE, SHINFIELD, RG2 9GH
Proposal: That refusal reason 2 be withdrawn.
Taken to Committee by: Wokingham Borough Council
The Committee were advised that this was taken to Committee as an urgent item, and had
returned to Committee as per the rules set out in section 4.2.14.1 of the constitution,
gaining support of at least one quarter of the Committee.
The Committee received and reviewed a report, set out in supplementary agenda pages 3
to 10.
The Committee were advised that there were no Members’ Updates.
Stephen Conway stated that he had originally proposed the motion to refuse application
181499, which included refusal reason 2 relating to suitability of the mix of affordable
housing. Stephen stated that he now accepted the clear legal advice given that refusal
reason 2 would be very difficult for Wokingham Borough Council (WBC) to defend at
appeal. Stephen noted the comments made by the QC, which made clear that dropping
refusal reason 2 would not jeopardise WBC’s defence of refusal reason 1, and it was
considered that WBC could still make a robust case in respect of the design reason for
refusal.
Gary Cowan raised a number of concerns regarding how the affordable housing working
group were involved in the original application. Gary was of the opinion that this working
group had struck a deal with the developers, and had therefore made it impossible for the
Council’s affordable housing team to defend a refusal reason of this nature at appeal. Gary
questioned whether Members of the Planning Committee who were also on the affordable
housing working group should declare an interest in items in which affordable housing
proposals had been discussed.
Mary Severin, Borough Solicitor, clarified that the recommendation of the affordable
housing working group was just advice. In this particular instance, the Committee resolved
to go against this advice which then resulted in a decision that went against policy.
Pauline Jorgensen stated that she had previously been a member of the affordable
housing working group, and stressed that it never made any deals with developers.
Christopher Howard, Case Officer, stated that Officers had to bring a scheme to
Committee with an offer of affordable housing in order for the Committee to resolve the
application.
RESOLVED That refusal reason 2 for application 181499 be withdrawn.

15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 62.
Application
Number
191949

Expiry Date

Parish

Ward

EXT

Wokingham

Emmbrook

Applicant
Site Address

Bovis Homes
Land at Matthewsgreen Farm, Matthewsgreen Road, Wokingham,
RG41 1JX
Application for approval of reserved matters pursuant to outline
planning permission ref. O/2014/2242 for a revised layout and design
of part of Phase 4, comprising an additional 26 dwellings (to the 248
approved under reserved matters applications 172751 and 181888);
the erection of 33 dwellings within Phase 4d and 81 dwellings within
Phase 5, together with associated amenity spaces, garages, parking,
internal roads, pathways, drainage and associated landscaping.
(Appearance, Landscaping, Layout and Scale to be considered).
Reserved Matters
1
Sophie Morris
Major application

Proposal

Type
PS Category
Officer
Reason for
determination
by committee

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 16/12/2019
Assistant Director – Place Based Services

SUMMARY
The application site forms part of the overall Matthewsgreen Farm development site,
which comprises approximately 34 hectares in total and situated around 2km to the
northwest of Wokingham town centre and south of the A329 (M). The application site
sits within the development Plan allocated North Wokingham Strategic Development
Location (SDL).
The principle of the development was established through the granting of Outline
planning permission in March 2015 (O/2014/2242) for approximately 760 dwellings, a
primary school, a neighbourhood centre, community facilities, a section of the Northern
Distributor Road and associated works including open space. At the time it determined
the planning application, WBC accepted and established the principle and quantum of
development on the site. WBC has already approved Reserved Matters for 597
dwellings (phases 1, 2a, 2b, the majority of phases 3 and 4) and for the Northern
Distributor Road (NDR) running through the site. Reserved matters have also been
approved for the primary school and community centre. There is also a committee
resolution to approve the reserved matters for the local centre pending the completion
of a Deed of Variation relating to the tenure of the residential units.
This application seeks reserved matters approval in relation to Phases 4 and 5 of the
site, and involves a replan of part of the already approved Phase 4 area (resulting in an
additional 26 units in Phase 4), together with the provision of 33 units located on land
which was originally proposed for 60 units of extra care (Phase 4d) and 81 units in
Phase 5.

17

The application seeks reserved matters approval in respect of appearance, design,
layout, and landscaping.
The submitted proposals are considered compatible with the design and appearance of
the wider development area, and in accordance with the general parameters set out
under the outline permission and the Council’s adopted policies and guidance in terms
of scale, design and appearance. The development would provide high quality
development with appropriate levels of parking and amenity for future occupiers.
This proposal forms part of a wider sustainable development that offers public benefit in
that it helps meet the needs of the community and delivers on Wokingham’s
development aspirations for the North Wokingham SDL. The application will deliver high
quality development in accordance with the Council’s spatial strategy and there are no
other material planning considerations of significant weight that would dictate that the
application should be refused. Officers are therefore recommending the application for
approval, subject to the conditions listed and to the completion of a Deed of Variation
relating to the provision of an increased level of on-site affordable housing across the
site.

PLANNING STATUS
 Within North Wokingham Strategic Development Area
 7KM Thames Basin Heath SPA
 Archaeological Interest
 Flood Zone 1
 Minerals Consultation Zone
 Contaminated Land Zone
 Ground Water Protection Zone
 Landfill Gas Protection Zone
 Minerals Consultation Zone
RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF Reserved Matters subject to the
following:
A. Completion of a Deed of Variation of the original agreement of 2 April 2015
(as subsequently varied) relating to the following:





Increase in the on-site affordable housing provision from 22% to 25%;
Amendment to the associated affordable housing commuted sum in accordance
with the increase in the on-site affordable housing provision;
Amendment to the site-wide affordable housing mix/split in accordance with the
increase in on site affordable housing provision;
Incorporate the above matters into one Deed of Variation which also includes the
matters as set out in the recommendation of the Local Centre reserved matters
application 191024, as per the Planning Committee resolution of the 14 th August
2019.

18

B. Conditions and Informatives:
1. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to affect or vary the conditions
imposed by planning permission O/2014/2242, which conditions shall remain in
full force and effect save in so far as they are expressly affected or varied by this
permission.
2. This permission is in respect of plan no's listed below. The development hereby
permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved drawings and
documents listed unless otherwise agreed pursuant to the requirements of the
attached conditions or otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Plan numbers being finalised to be included on Members Update
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
application form and associated details hereby approved.
3. No dwelling shall be occupied until the vehicular accesses, parking and turning
areas to serve it, including the unallocated spaces, have been provided in
accordance with the plans hereby approved. The vehicle parking and turning
spaces shall be retained and maintained in accordance with the approved details
and the parking spaces shall remain available for the parking of vehicles at all
times and the turning spaces shall not be used for any other purpose other than
vehicle turning.
Reason: To provide adequate off-street vehicle parking and turning space and to
allow vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward gear in the interests of road
safety and convenience and providing a functional, accessible and safe
development and in the interests of amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy
policies CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy
CC07.
4. Prior to first occupation of the residential units, details of an electric vehicle
charging strategy shall be submitted to the Council for written approval. The
details as approved shall be installed prior to first occupation, and shall be
maintained thereafter, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Council.
Reason: In order to ensure the development contributes towards achieving a
sustainable transport system in accordance with Wokingham Borough Core
Strategy Policies CP1 and CP6, the Parking Standards Study within the Borough
Design Guide 2010 and the North Wokingham Development Location
Supplementary Planning Document (October 2011) and CC07 of the Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan (Feb 2014).
Sustainability
5. The water butts as referred to in paragraph 4.5.5 in the submitted design
statement (Ref 1331.DS), shall be provided prior to the occupation of the relevant
dwelling.

19

Reason: To enable the efficient use of water in accordance with NPPF,
Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policy CP1 and the Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan Policy CC04.
6. The internal and external spaces for the storage of refuse and recyclable
materials for the dwellings hereby approved shall be provided prior to occupation
of the relevant building and retained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure that adequate provision is made for the storage of
recyclables in accordance with Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policy CP1
and CC04 of the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (Feb 2014), the
Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document and
the North Wokingham Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning
Document (October 2011).

Informatives:
1. This permission should be read in conjunction with the outline planning permission
and associated original Section 106 legal agreement and subsequent S106
agreement dated 15/08/2018.
2. You are informed that this permission here relates only to the Reserved Matters
submitted pursuant to condition 2 of the Outline Permission. It does not convey any
written approval from the Local Planning Authority as may be required for any other
of the conditions of the outline permission; details for which shall need to be
submitted separately to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
3. The applicant is advised that the Council seeks that employers or developers within
the borough commit to using local labour / contractors where possible. This should
include:
•
Advertisement of jobs within local recruitment agencies / job centres;
•
Recruitment and training of residents from the local area;
•
Seek tender of local suppliers or contractors for work.
4. The applicant is informed that parking will need to be restricted along the main
routes (Northern Distributor Road and bus route) and on turning heads.
5. Work on Highway - The Corporate Head of Environment at the Council Offices,
Shute End, Wokingham should be contacted for the approval of the access
construction details before any work is carried out within the highway. This planning
permission does NOT authorise the construction of such an access.
6. Mud on Road - Adequate precautions shall be taken during the construction period
to prevent the deposit of mud and similar debris on adjacent highways. For further
information contact Corporate Head of Environment on tel: 0118 974 6302.
7. Highway Adoption - If it is the developer’s intention to request the Council, as local
highway authority, to adopt the proposed access roads etc. as highway maintainable
at public expense, then full engineering details must be agreed with the Corporate
Head of Environment at the Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham. The developer
is strongly advised not to commence development until such details have been

20

approved in writing and a legal agreement is made with the Council under S38 of the
Highways Act 1980.
8. Highway Management - Any works/events carried out either by, or at the behest of,
the developer, whether they are located on, or affecting a prospectively
maintainable highway, as defined under Section 87 of the New Roads and Street
Works Act 1991, or on or affecting the public highway, shall be coordinated under
the requirements of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 and the Traffic
management Act 2004 and licensed accordingly in order to secure the expeditious
movement of traffic by minimising disruption to users of the highway network in
Wokingham.
9. Utilities - Any works or events commissioned by the developer and particularly those
involving the connection of any utility to the site, shall be co–ordinated by them in
liaison with Wokingham Borough Council’s Street Works Team, (telephone 01189
746302). This must take place at least three month in advance of the works and
particularly to ensure that statutory undertaker connections/supplies to the site are
coordinated to take place wherever possible at the same time.
10. Noise - The attention of the applicant is drawn to the requirements of Section 60 of
the Control of Pollution Act 1974 in respect of the minimisation of noise on
construction and demolition sites. Application, under Section 61 of the Act, for prior
consent to the works, can be made to the Environmental Health and Licensing
Manager.

PLANNING HISTORY
Application Number Proposal

Decision

O/2014/2242

Outline application for a phased
development of up to 760 dwellings
including 60 units of assisted living
homes / older person
accommodation a local centre
(including retail) a primary school
community facilities and associated
areas of open space and drainage/
attenuation parking etc. Accesses
from Twyford Road, Matthewsgreen
Road and Toutley Road (Matters
reserved – layout, landscaping,
scale, appearance)
Old Forest Road SANG

Approved March 2015

Reserved Matters for Phase 1 (100
units)
Reserved Matters for NDR
Reserved Matters for Phase 2a (82
units)

Approved Oct 2015

F/2014/1216

150093
152649
160765

21

Approved September
2014

Approved March 2016
Approved July 2016

162140
170618
162431
172766
172331

172751
181888

182385
190198
191026
191232
191024

Reserved Matters for Phase 2b (73
dwellings)
Reserved Matters for Phase 3 (74
dwellings)
Development Brief for school and
community facility
Submission of details for Road 24
Reserved Matters for Primary
School, Nursery and Community
Centre
Reserved Matters for Phase 4 (243
dwellings)
Reserved Matters incorporating a
revised layout and replan for part of
Phase 4 comprising an additional 5
units (to the 243 approved under
172751) and 8 dwellings in Phase 5
Development brief for the Local
Centre
West of Old Forest Road section of
NDR
Reserved matters for 4 units in
Phase 1b
Reserved matters for 9 units in
Phase 4
Reserved matters for the local
centre including 16 residential units

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Proposed units
Proposed density - dwellings/hectare
Number of affordable units proposed
Previous land use
Proposed Public Open Space
Proposed parking spaces

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
South East Water
Thames Water

Crime Prevention Design Officer
National Grid

Approved November
2016
Approved July 2017
Approved April 2017
Approved October 2018
Approved 14/02/2018

Approved 15/08/2018
Approved 11/12/18

Approved 14/02/19
Approved 09/05/19
Approved 11/07/19
Approved 23/07/19
Committee resolution to
approve subject to
completion of a S106
Deed of Variation
14/08/19

13.2ha
140 new dwellings (resulting in 405 in total
across Phases 4 & 5)
31 dph (across Ph 4&5)
27 (resulting in 110 in total in Ph4)
Agriculture
1.2ha
863 (across Ph4 & 5)

No comments received
TW have been unable to determine the
waste water infrastructure needs of the
proposal. Conditions recommended.
No comments received
Response from Linesearch advise that
Fulcrum Pipelines and SGN have pipelines
in the vicinity of the site

22

Fulcrum Pipelines Limited

Details provided of Fulcrum pipelines
located in the vicinity of the site
No comments received
No comments received
Details provided of SGN owned pipes in the
vicinity of the site and standing advice
provided
No comments received
No objection subject to further details being
submitted for approval through the drainage
conditions submission
No objection
No objection subject to further landscaping
details being submitted for approval through
the outline landscaping conditions
No comments received
No objection

SSE Power Distribution
Berkshire Fire and Rescue
Southern Gas Networks

WBC Biodiversity
WBC Drainage

WBC Highways
WBC Tree & Landscape

WBC Education
WBC Public Rights of Way

REPRESENTATIONS
The below comments are those received following the initial application
consultation. Officer responses are provided at the end of the comments
summarised below and addressed in detail later in the report:
Town/Parish Council: Objects to the proposal on the following grounds:
 Additional road exit is unnecessary and could result in road safety issues (Officer
comment:- this aspect of the application has been removed and the additional
access is no longer proposed)
A further comment made by the Town Council was that they would like to see
more emphasis on alternative energy sources within the development such as solar
panels and grey water solutions such as collecting rainwater for re-use. (Officer
comment: - details relating to sustainability measures will be secured through
submissions made under outline condition 45. Water butts are proposed and condition 4
requires their provision. Other measures are also included in the building design to
improve energy efficiency and reduce energy consumption)
Local Members: No comments received
Emmbrook Residents Association: Object to the scheme for the following reasons:
 The proposal would result in development along this section of the Queens Road
consisting entirely of 6, three storey blocks of flats; to the south of this would be
four further blocks with space between them taken up by parking courts and
driveways, with minimal soft landscaping; considered that this area would take on
the character of a flatted development ghetto reminiscent of the worst examples
of 1970’s/80’s developments;
 Blocks along the Queens Road would be positioned as close to the road as
possible, in contrast to the houses they replace which were separated from the
road by a verge and a driveway –this contrasts with the development on the
northern side of Queens Road which consists of the local centre and the primary
school. The three storey height of the local centre is balanced by the three storey
block opposite to it (approved in application 191232) but the same cannot be said
for the remaining five blocks opposite the school which has a far less intrusive

23






profile as it is only two storeys high, sits lower than the road due to the contours
of the land, and is also positioned well back from the road.
No valid planning reason has been provided for the intensification of flatted
development;
Comments above demonstrate that the proposal represents an overdevelopment
that fails to conform to the National Planning Policy Framework requirement to
always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for
existing and future occupants of land and buildings – a requirement that is also
repeated in WBCs Core Strategy.
If the Planning Authority is minded to approve the application, an external noise
assessment must be carried out in order to comply with Condition 51 of the
outline application.

(Officer comment: -Refer to paras 27-41. The design of apartment blocks have been
amended since the original submission, and are now considered acceptable. A noise
assessment report is required to be submitted in accordance with Outline Condition 51,
and should detail suitable mitigation measures as necessary)
Neighbours: Consultation letters were sent to over 600 neighbouring properties. Five
letters of objection were received in response, the contents of which are summarised as
follows (officer comments in brackets):
 In light of the new developments in the area and as a result adding more
congestion traffic to the commute road from Reading Road (Old Forest Rd
Toutley Rd), please advise how this is going to be rectified. I don't think Old Forest Rd &
Toutley road has enough capacity to cover this additional number of road users, as a
result of these new development; (Officer comment: The principle of the development is
already established through the granting of the outline planning permission where such
matters were assessed and mitigation measures secured)
 The proposal is different to what was originally planned – another entrance
doesn’t make sense and will affect traffic on Matthewsgreen Road; (Officer
comment:- the additional access has been removed from the proposal)
 Disappointing to see no solar panels in sight;
 It is disappointing that the shops have been replaced by flats. This is important
for residents locally and having these facilities will reduce the traffic in
Wokingham by reducing cars on the road. The development is vast and needs
shops. (Officer comment:- the proposal does not include the replacement of any
shops – the local centre containing the retail units to serve the development will
be located on the north side of the NDR, the reserved matters for which has a
committee resolution to be approved (ref: 191024), and is pending the
completion of a Deed of Variation relating to affordable housing)
Following amendments to the scheme being carried out, the nature of which related to
amendments to the design of the apartment blocks along the NDR and changes to the
layout of Phase 5, including the removal of the proposed access onto Matthewsgreen
Road, further consultations were sent out to respondents who had initially
objected/commented on the scheme, as well as to local members.
One response has been received from the Emmbrook Residents Association, advising
that their original objection still stands. Their response is summarised as follows: Removal of the bin/cycle stores from the sides of the blocks has opened up the
gaps between the blocks, but the view along this side of Queen’s Road will still
be dominated by the scale and massing of the blocks;

24





Small increase in the set back from the road of three of the blocks is insignificant
– will have little impact on the dominance of built form nor on improvement in
privacy and amenity of the ground floor occupants;
Relocation of the bin/bicycle stores reduces area for landscaping in the centre of
the flatted development;
Revisions offer no real improvement on the original submission and the
application should be refused.

(Officer comment: - Refer to paras 27-41. Officers consider that the amendments to the
original submission are acceptable.)

PLANNING POLICY
National Policy
Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010

NPPF
CP1
CP2
CP3
CP4
CP5
CP6
CP7
CP8
CP9
CP10
CP13
CP20

Adopted Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan 2014

CC01
CC02
CC03
CC04
CC05
CC06
CC07
CC08

CC09
CC10
TB05
TB06
TB07

25

National Planning Policy Framework
National Design Guide
Sustainable Development
Inclusive Communities
General Principles for Development
Infrastructure Requirements
Housing mix, density and affordability
Managing Travel Demand
Biodiversity
Thames Basin Heaths Special
Protection Area
Scale and Location of Development
Proposals
Improvements to the Strategic
Transport Network
Town Centres and Shopping
North Wokingham Strategic
Development Location
Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development
Development Limits
Green Infrastructure, Trees and
Landscaping
Sustainable Design and Construction
Renewable energy and decentralised
energy networks
Noise
Parking
Safeguarding alignments of the
Strategic Transport Network & Road
Infrastructure
Development and Flood Risk (from all
sources)
Sustainable Drainage
Housing Mix
Development of private residential
gardens
Internal Space standards

TB20
TB21
TB23
TB24

Supplementary Planning
Documents
(SPD)

BDG

Service Arrangements and Deliveries
for Employment and Retail Use
Landscape Character
Biodiversity and Development
Designated Heritage Assets
Appendix 2 – Parking Standards
Borough Design Guide – Section 4
DCLG – National Internal Space
Standards
North Wokingham Strategic
Development Location SPD adopted
October 2011.
Infrastructure Delivery and
Contributions SPD for the Strategic
Development Locations adopted
October 2011.
Affordable Housing SPD adopted June
2011.
Sustainable Design and Construction
SPD adopted 2010.

PLANNING ISSUES
Application Site
1. The application site forms part of the Matthewsgreen Farm development site,
which is itself part of a larger area designated under the Wokingham Borough
Core Strategy as the North Wokingham Strategic Development Location (SDL).
The Matthewsgreen Farm site comprises approximately 34 hectares in total and
is situated approximately 2km to the northwest of Wokingham town centre and
south of the A329(M). The site is bounded to the south by Matthewsgreen Road,
by Toutley Road to the west, by Twyford Road to the east, and by the Ashridge
Stream watercourse to the north.
2. The site previously comprised mainly agricultural land, consisting of open fields,
ditches, hedgerows and a mixture of trees in terms of age and type. There is also
a small existing commercial operation located towards the southern boundary
along Matthewsgreen Road.
3. Outline planning permission for the phased delivery of the Matthewsgreen Farm
development (for approximately 760 dwellings and associated infrastructure) was
granted in 2015 under application O/2014/2242. Reserved matters planning
approval has subsequently been granted for phases 1, 2a, 2b, part of phase 3,
the majority of Phase 4, 8 units in Phase 5 and for the NDR. Reserved matters
approval has also been granted for the primary school and community centre.
There is also a committee resolution to approve the reserved matters for the local
centre pending the completion of a Deed of Variation relating to the introduction

26

of the tenure of affordable rent within the S106 tenure mix. This agreement is
currently being progressed by the relevant parties.
4. Development is progressing apace and Phases 1 and 2a are complete with
occupations on both phases. Phases 2b, 3 and 4 are currently under
construction. The development is also served by a SANG provided to the
northern side of Old Forest Road which was granted full planning permission in
2014 and is open to the public.
5. Phase 4 of the development is located on the southern side of the NDR,
occupying the area located between the NDR and the Public Right of Way
(PRoW) which separates Phase 1a from Phase 4. The Phase 4 area also
extends to the east along Matthewsgreen Road, from the end of the PRoW up to
the point where there is a vehicular access into this part of the development. The
area to the east of the access forms Phase 5, which continues along
Matthewsgreen Road to its junction with Milton Road and Twyford Road, and
then extends up along the eastern boundary of this part of the site along Twyford
Road, where it joins with the eastern section of Phase 4.
6. The majority of the layout of Phase 4 has already been approved through
reserved matters submissions which were approved in August 2018 (ref: 172751)
and December 2018 (ref: 181888) respectively. Eight dwellings within Phase 5
were also approved under the reserved matters application 181888.
Principle of development
7. The principle of development has been established by outline planning
permission ref: O/2014/2242. The outline permission was subject to an
Infrastructure Delivery Plan and S106 legal agreement, which secured the
coordinated delivery of the infrastructure necessary to support the SDL wide
development. This included requirements for on-site provision (affordable
housing, the NDR, the primary school, the community centre, the local centre
and the open spaces) together with contributions towards off-site infrastructure
and services such as roads, education, sports facilities and health services. The
Old Forest Road SANG, approved under application F/2014/1216, is now open
and has been constructed to serve the recreation requirements of the
development and thus mitigate its impact upon the Thames Basin Special
Protection Area.
8. Whilst detailed matters of layout, appearance, scale and landscaping were
reserved from consideration at the outline stage, the outline planning permission
establishes the broad parameters within which those matters need to be worked
up in detail for the purposes of the Reserved Matters application submissions. It
is important to note however that the parameter plans do not absolutely ‘fix’
matters of detailed design and that deviations from those plans may be accepted
under the Reserved Matters applications where the deviations do not
substantially alter the original planning permission approved and where the
impacts do not result in significant harm to the local area.

27

Application Proposals
9. This application seeks reserved matters approval in relation to Phases 4 and 5 of
the site, and involves a redesign of part of the already approved Phase 4 area
(resulting in an additional 26 units in Phase 4), together with the provision of 33
units located on land which was originally proposed at the outline stage for 60
units of extra care (Phase 4d) and 81 units in Phase 5.
10. The previously approved reserved matters applications for Phase 4 did not
include proposals for the area which was proposed at the outline application
stage as land for a 60 unit apartment block of extra care (affordable) units.
However the Council no longer have an identified need for such provision on this
site. The S106 agreement contained two options in respect of the on-site
affordable housing provision, in order to respond to either situation occurring, and
in the event that WBC did not require the 60 units, the S106 onsite affordable
housing provision is required to be 22% across the whole Matthewsgreen
development (with a contribution in lieu of the further 13% required to meet the
policy compliant provision of 35%).
11. This application however, proposes to increase the current agreed level of
affordable housing provision on site from 22% to 25% (equivalent to an additional
25 onsite affordable dwellings to those approved at the outline stage). The
increase in such provision would be met within three of the four apartment blocks
which are proposed on the land originally safeguarded for the units of extra care.
This element of the proposal is discussed later in the report.
12. In response to market trends and the redesign of the layout, the application also
proposes to substitute a part of the already approved Phase 4 area which
contained 12 dwellings, with four apartment blocks, and in association with this,
the current approved central open space positioned to the south of these blocks
would be enlarged. Other minor changes over part of the site are also proposed
such as some house type substitutions, and the removal of some car ports.
13. The remainder of Phase 5 is also included within this RM application, comprising
81 dwellings. If approved, this would take the number of approved dwellings in
Phase 5 to 89, as 8 of the Phase 5 dwellings have already been approved under
RM 181888. The submitted layout initially proposed an access to 5 properties in
the Phase 5 area from Matthewsgreen Road. However, in response to concerns
relating to the general layout in this area and its impact upon the existing
hedgerow and TPO trees along Matthewsgreen Road, this aspect of the proposal
has been removed from the scheme. The amended layout for Phase 5 is now
considered acceptable.
14. The proposals within this application, if approved, would result in a total of 405
dwellings approved across Phases 4 and 5, reflecting a density of approximately
31 dph. This would be made up of a variety of housing typologies including
terraces, semi-detached and detached houses, and three storey apartment
buildings, located within the site and along Queens Road (NDR). The Phase 4
area of the development would deliver 110 affordable dwellings on site. The
buildings would range from 1 to 3 storeys with two storey buildings located along
the eastern and southern edges of the development site. The 3 storey apartment
blocks are all located within the Phase 4 area, and would be located to address

28

the southern side of the NDR, and four further blocks would be set within the site,
located to the rear of the blocks facing the NDR. The total number of units
approved across the whole site would rise to 753 as a result of this application.
This aspect of the proposal is discussed later on.
15. The affordable housing across Phase 4 would be located within apartment blocks
(two of which are already approved under previous RM applications), and within
three new proposed blocks located on the area of the site which may have
otherwise housed the 60 units of extra care. Further affordable dwellings are
located within four other areas of housing within the site (all of which are already
approved under previous reserved matters applications). Car parking strategies
use both on plot and on street parking provisions along with parking courts. This
is addressed later in the report. Officers consider that the overall layout works
with the contours of the land and accommodates the drainage requirements of
the site and reflects the wider site layout.
16. Following officer comments on the design and layout, the proposal has been
amended since the initial submission. The changes relate to the design of the
apartment blocks within Phase 4 which would front onto the southern side of the
NDR. The original submission included 5 blocks reflecting the same elevation
design as Block A, which was approved as a stand-alone application in July (ref:
191232). However, whilst that block was considered acceptable on its own
merits, officers advised the applicant that due to the extent of frontage along the
road that the buildings would occupy, the design of the further apartment blocks
along the NDR needed refining in order to break up the horizontal emphasis and
provide greater variety along the street scene. WBC Trees and Landscaping
officer had also commented that better provision for landscaping in between the
blocks needed to be provided.
17. The applicant has therefore revised the proposals to address the concerns
raised, and the overall design is now considered acceptable. Further detail in
relation to this is provided in the relevant sections of the report below.
18. Further amendments to the scheme relate to the layout of Phase 5, whereby an
additional access onto Matthewsgreen Road was originally proposed to serve 5
properties within Phase 5. However, due to issues concerning the safeguarding
of the root protection area of a TPO tree located on the southern boundary, along
with concerns relating to the extent of hedgerow that would be required to be
removed to accommodate the access, this element of the proposal has been
removed in conjunction with a revised layout for Phase, which is now considered
acceptable.
19. In accordance with Condition 2 of the outline permission, this RMA seeks
approval in relation to appearance, landscape, layout and scale.
Reserved Matters - Detailed Design
20. Core Strategy Policies CP1 (Sustainable Development) and CP3 (General
Principles for Development) requires high quality design that respects its context.
This requirement is amplified by MDD LP Policies CC03 (Green Infrastructure,
Trees and Landscaping) and TB21 (Landscape Character) and the North
Wokingham SDL SPD. The Government has also recently released a National

29

Design Guide; Planning practice guidance for beautiful, enduring and successful
places in October 2019.
Layout
21. The already approved overall Phase 4 layout would not alter significantly as a
result of the current proposals. The approved primary access roads into the site
from Queens Road and Matthewsgreen Road and the majority of the internal
Phase 4 road layout would remain as already approved, with secondary access
roads radiating from the main internal routes to serve clusters of buildings. The
routes within the site will have a clear hierarchy and are designed to be legible
and in accordance with Manual for Streets. Pedestrian permeability through the
site is considered acceptable. The original S106 agreement required the
provision of a pedestrian/cycle link along the east side of the site to connect with
a Toucan crossing which will be positioned on Twyford Road and access into
Cantley. As the crossing is expected to be delivered in the forthcoming months, a
condition was imposed on the previous Phase 4 application requiring details of a
temporary footpath link to be installed until such time that the permanent
provision can be provided. These details have been submitted (ref: 193035) and
are currently being considered. It is expected that the temporary footpath link will
be provided in conjunction with the installation of the Toucan crossing on Twyford
Road. The proposed Phase 5 layout includes details of the permanent ped/cycle
link, and this would therefore be provided as part of the Phase 5 build
programme.
22. The main change to the layout when compared to what is already approved
relates to the area to the north of the central landscaped public open space
which was approved under RM application 172751 as a block comprising 12
houses. This proposal seeks to replace these with four apartment blocks
comprising 36 flats in total (an additional 24 units to what is currently approved).
Two further dwellings to what is currently approved within Phase 4 would be
achieved within the housing cluster areas where minor changes are proposed
under this application by the replacement of two detached dwellings with semidetached properties.
23. In conjunction with the proposal to locate apartment blocks in the area which was
previously approved with houses, the central open space area to the south of this
area would be extended, with this being achieved by replacing a section of an
internal access road (previously approved) with an extended landscaped open
space. This would help to provide a softer landscaped setting for the apartment
blocks.
24. Access to the parking areas to the rear of the four apartment blocks located
where the units of extra care would have been sited would be via the already
approved Phase 4 internal road layout. The proposed Phase 5 layout extends out
to the east from two access points off one of the Phase 4 internal roads, with
houses lining further secondary internal roads and cul-de-sacs. Following the
removal of the proposed access onto Matthewsgreen Road into the southern part
of Phase 5, all of the dwellings within Phase 5 would now be accessed solely via
the internal road layout. Parking areas will be softened with landscaping.

30

25. The amendment to the original layout involving the removal of the access onto
Matthewsgreen Road has resulted in an area of public open space in Phase 5
being split into two smaller areas. One of these would remain in the originally
proposed location, and the second area of open space would now be located on
the southern boundary of the site.
26. This arrangement is considered to have resolved a number of issues with the
original proposed layout, namely the protection of the root protection areas of the
TPO trees on the southern boundary of the site, but also the hedgerow along
Matthewsgreen Road. As discussed later in the report, the landscape strategy for
this application proposes a 15m landscaped buffer along the eastern boundary,
and with the amendment to the Phase 5 layout, this strategy has been extended
along the relevant part of the southern boundary of the site. Following the above
changes to the scheme, the proposed layout is now therefore considered to be
acceptable.
Scale
27. The scale of development broadly follows the parameter plans that were
considered and approved under the outline planning permission. The houses
within the development are either 2 or 2 ½ storeys in height while the apartment
blocks are three storeys.
28. An indicative heights parameter plan was submitted at the outline planning
application stage which indicated heights of up to 3 storeys being located along
the south side of the NDR (within the Phase 4 area). The current proposals
would result in the majority of the frontage along this section of the southern side
of the NDR consisting of three storey development in line with the outline
indicative heights parameters plan. However, there would also be two sections of
smaller scale 2 and 2 ½ storey houses.
29. These reserved matters proposals include five three storey apartment blocks
occupying the extent of NDR frontage between the end of the housing clusters
fronting the NDR and Block A, which will be positioned next to the large area of
public open space at the western side of Phase 4. The blocks would be broken
up by spaces in between them, allowing for the provision of trees and soft
landscaping. The overall design of these blocks has been amended since the
initial submission, whereby the windows at third floor level have been
incorporated into the eaves of the roofs, in order to improve their appearance and
help reduce their perceived scale.
30. The fenestration detailing has also been amended, as the original submission
included 5 blocks reflecting the same elevation design as Block A, which was
approved as a stand-alone application in July (ref: 191232). However, whilst that
block was considered acceptable on its own merits, officers advised the applicant
that due to the extent of frontage along the road that the buildings would occupy,
the design of the further apartment blocks along the NDR needed refining in
order to break up the horizontal emphasis and provide greater variety along the
street scene. The positioning of the bin and cycle stores serving the apartment
blocks have, where possible, been relocated to the rear of the buildings which
has resulted in larger spaces being achieved between these buildings. As

31

discussed later in the report, such changes to the design of the blocks are
considered acceptable.
31. The design changes to the apartment blocks fronting the NDR have also been
incorporated in the design of the two blocks which would address the central
open space area located within the site, and it is considered that this will result in
an improvement to how they appear in the context of the adjacent houses set
further within the Phase 4 area.
32. The letter of objection from the Emmbrook Resident’s Association (ERA) refers to
the extent of the three storey blocks along the NDR, and their contrast with the 2
storey school building which will be positioned on the northern side of the NDR
and set further back from the road frontage. Whilst it is acknowledged that the
apartment blocks will be located closer to the NDR than the school building and
will be slightly taller, the school will be one building with a large footprint
comprising a continuous façade, which is therefore more appropriate to be set
back from the road frontage in order to be successfully accommodated within the
street scene.
33. The revised proposals for the apartment blocks are considered to have
addressed concerns relating to the spaces between them, in order that they too
can be satisfactorily accommodated along the NDR. Three of them have been
set slightly further back from the NDR and there will now be better space for
appropriate planting/landscaping both between the buildings and the NDR
ped/cycle path. This approach has been used elsewhere through the SDL and
other SDL’s,
34. The ERA letter also states that there is no justification for the intensification of
flatted development on the site. However, there are areas within the wider site
which were envisaged at the outline stage to contain 3 storey elements but have
not come forward as such. Given the timescales involved in building out large
scale sites, the mix and type of units originally proposed will generally change to
reflect market trends over the lifetime of the build. Notwithstanding this however,
the overall site wide dwelling mix is largely in line with the outline illustrative
housing mix for the site, including the number of proposed flats. The scale of
development within the southern section of Phase 4 and the whole of Phase 5
would comprise 2 to 21/2 storey houses, which is more reflective of the scale and
nature of the existing wider adjacent residential area to the south of
Matthewsgreen Road and envisaged within the SPD.
35. The proximity of the apartment blocks to the Local Centre and school/community
centre are also considered reflective of this area being considered the central
core of the development, where the scale/density of buildings would be expected
to be higher. Furthermore, it was envisaged that the building comprising the 60
units of extra care would have been one large three storey block predominantly
fronting the NDR within Phase 4. It is therefore considered that the proposal for a
greater number of smaller blocks is considered an acceptable alternative in this
location, particularly as the NDR is a wide avenue and these buildings help to
reinforce the design concept that this is the main road through North Wokingham.
36. Taking the above into account, it is therefore considered that the scale of the
development proposed is acceptable and generally in line with what was

32

indicated at the outline application stage. It is, however, acknowledged that the
landscaping proposals within the area between and around the flats in particular,
will be key to ensuring that they are successfully integrated into their
surroundings and wider area. Although a landscape masterplan has been
submitted to accompany this application which is considered acceptable, the
detailed planting plans will be submitted for approval under the outline conditions.
Design and Appearance
37. The proposals would result in the overall Phase 4/5 areas comprising of a variety
of housing typologies including terraces, semi-detached and detached houses,
and apartment buildings. As described above, the Phase 4 area contains a
number of apartment blocks located at the northern end of the site in proximity to
and fronting the NDR, as well as a mixture of houses across the remainder of the
site. The majority of the housing area of Phase 4 has already been approved
through earlier reserved matters approvals, and this application proposes to
substitute a number of the previously proposed dwellings with some new house
types. These substitutions do not affect the overall layout, but would result in a
greater variety of house design in parts of the site, but whilst remaining
compatible with those already approved. Such changes are therefore welcomed
in this instance.
38. As referenced earlier in the report, the initial submission proposed five, three
storey apartment blocks positioned along part of the southern side of the NDR,
all of which had the same facade design as the already approved Block A
apartment, which will be located next to the public open space at the western end
of Phase 4. However, due to the number of proposed apartment blocks along this
section, officers advised that the design of these blocks needed to be refined and
improved, in order to reduce their combined overall perceived scale and bulk,
and to break up their horizontal emphasis and create a more diverse and
interesting street scene. Comments were also made by WBC Trees and
Landscaping officer in respect of the lack of space between the buildings for
trees and landscaping, due to the presence of the bin/bike stores attached to the
buildings.
39. In response, revised proposals for these apartments have been submitted, and
two differing designs to the blocks are now proposed. In both cases, the windows
at third floor level have been incorporated into the eaves of the roofs, which both
reduces the overall perceived height of the buildings, but also adds visual
interest/detail to the elevations. The first amended design remains similar to the
approved Block A design but with the third floor windows incorporated into the
eaves, and now also incorporates greater detailing on the brick sections through
the introduction of brick quoin detailing along the edges of the brickwork. This
design has also been applied to the two buildings which would address the
central open space within the site. The second apartment design provides a
better balance between the horizontal and vertical proportions, through the
introduction of a gable feature, which through a mix of brick and render finishes,
has the effect of breaking down the front elevation into smaller vertical sections.
This design also incorporates brick quoin detailing along the edges of the
brickwork. Further amendments to the buildings involve the relocation of the
bin/bike stores to the rear of the blocks, resulting in better spaces being located
between the buildings to accommodate trees and planting.

33

40. Officers consider that the design changes made to the apartments and
alternating these along the NDR, together with the improved spacing between
them to allow for planting would now result in an acceptable frontage along this
stretch of the NDR, which would be compatible with the character and
appearance of their setting and surroundings and would help to enhance the
development.
41. The layout of Phase 5 would comprise houses only, with a mix of small rows of
terraced properties, semi-detached and detached properties. This is considered
to be an acceptable design response to its edge of development location, and
reflective of the scale and character of the closest existing residential properties
along Matthewsgreen Road. The design and appearance of the dwellings are
also considered acceptable, and would be predominantly brick finished, with the
use of render in small areas to break up the house facades in some instances.
The overall dwelling designs are considered compatible with the existing area
and the similar house styles proposed within Phase 4.
Affordable Housing, Dwelling Mix and Standard of Accommodation
Affordable Housing
42. MDD policy TB05 (Housing Mix) requires that residential development should
provide an appropriate density and mix of accommodation reflecting the
character of the area. The affordable housing delivery requirements of the
development were established at the time of the outline planning permission
which requires an overall 35% affordable provision, with this being achieved by
either a 22% provision on site and a commuted sum towards off-site provision (in
the event that the Council did not require 60 units of extra care housing), or a
30% provision on site and a lesser commuted sum towards off-site provision in
the event that the extra care units were required.
43. As referred to earlier in the report, after the outline permission was granted, and
in accordance with the requirements of the S106, WBC confirmed to the
applicant that the 60 units of extra care would be required. However, given the
time that has elapsed, that position subsequently changed and the Council no
longer have an identified need for such provision on this site. As such, the
current S106 onsite affordable housing provision is required to be 22% across
the whole Matthewsgreen development (with a contribution in lieu for off-site
provision of the further 13%). The current level of on-site affordable housing
provision approved through the reserved matters to date stands at 24% (144
affordable units out of 597 site wide units approved so far). This will rise to 26%
(160 out of 613 units) once the Reserved Matters approval for the Local Centre is
issued.
44. Following the change in circumstances with regards to WBC no longer requiring
the 60 units of extra care on site, discussions have also taken place with the
applicant regarding increasing the current agreed level of on-site affordable
housing from 22% to 25% (an additional 25 on-site affordable units). This
application includes the proposal to house the additional 25 dwellings as units of
shared ownership within apartment blocks located on the land where the 60 units
of extra care was originally proposed.

34

45. The existing S106 agreement secured a 70/30 split between social rented units
and shared ownership and the level of social rented units approved to date
through the reserved matters approval stands at 57% (95 units) out of the overall
current required affordable housing provision of 168 units. WBC Housing
Consultations group have advised that as part of any agreement relating to an
increased on site affordable housing provision, they would not wish to see the
level of social rented units on site fall below 50%.The reserved matters proposal
for the local centre introduced the tenure of affordable rent for the units located
above the local centre, in agreement with WBC Housing Consultations group.
This was in the knowledge that there would also be a forthcoming proposal to
increase the level of on site affordable housing. With both the introduction of
affordable rent, and the increased onsite provision of shared ownership units, the
social rented provision across the site would not fall below 50%, and the revised
tenure mix/split, would be as follows:Tenure

Number of affordable
dwellings
99
16 (local centre)
78
193

Social Rent
Affordable Rent
Shared Ownership
Total

% provision
51.3
8.3
40.4
100%

46. Whilst the overall social rented percentage provision would reduce from the
originally agreed S106, it is considered that this would not outweigh the benefit of
increasing the level of on-site affordable housing as well as the range of
affordable housing tenure available across the site. The affordable housing
element associated with this reserved matters application is therefore considered
acceptable.
47. Associated changes to the original S106 including changes to the overall
affordable housing mix/split and the resulting affordable housing contribution in
lieu of the remaining 10% provision are required to be secured through an
associated Deed of Variation to the currently agreed S106.These changes and
the changes required in association with the local centre application, which will
provide 16 affordable rented apartments, are being dealt with through one single
Deed of Variation, and the recommendation on this application therefore reflects
this.
48. The current proposals would result in the overall Phase 4/5 dwelling mix as
follows:Dwelling Mix
Phase 4/5 Totals
1 bed flat
2 bed flat
2 bed house
3 bed house
4 bed house
5 bed house

Market

Affordable
9
44
37
17
3

51
35
153
54
2

35

Total
9
95
72
170
57
2

Totals

295

110 (27%)

405

49. Across the whole of the Matthewsgreen site, the updated overall dwelling mix
taking into account the application proposals would be as below:Site Wide
1 bed flat
2 bed flat
2 bed house
3 bed house
4 bed + house
Totals

Market
12
84
35
265
170
566

Affordable
27
76
53
27
4
187 (25%)

Total
39
160
88
292
174
753

50. As referred to earlier in the report, the resulting dwelling mix when taking these
proposals into account are not dissimilar to the Outline Illustrative Housing mix
where it was envisaged that there would be around 226 flats, 115x 2bed houses,
242x 3bed houses and 179x 4+bed houses.
51. As indicated in the above table, the approval of this reserved matters proposal
would take the total number of units approved across the site to 753. The
remaining reserved matters to come forward for the whole site would be the
residual 19 units which were taken out of the Phase 3 reserved matters
application (170918). The applicant was required to do so at the time of their
submission, in order to ensure that enough land was safeguarded for the local
centre provision. Therefore, on the assumption that the residual Phase 3
application will be for 19 units, the number of proposed units could rise to 772
dwellings from the 760. It should be noted that the outline planning application
described the proposal as being for ‘approximately 760’ dwellings, and the
indicative housing mix submitted with the application reflected 762 dwellings.
However, at the time of the outline, no detailed design work had been undertaken
across the site to determine the exact number of units that would be possible.
Since this, it has been demonstrated that additional units could be
accommodated on the site and the scheme would remain compliant with adopted
policy.
52. Officers therefore consider that should the residual proposal for 19 units be
considered acceptable in all other respects, the total of 772 units across the site
would reasonably sit with the permissible number of dwellings under the outline
permission and importantly would still meet the Council’s adopted policies and
guidance. The Deed of Variation associated with the proposed increase in the
onsite affordable housing provision and adjusted commuted sum would therefore
be based on this figure.
Borough Design and Space Standards
53. All of the dwellings are designed to National Space Standards. In addition, the
dwellings are required to be constructed to achieve appropriate internal ambient
noise levels which will be assessed under a separate conditions application
pursuant to condition 51 of the outline consent.
54. The Borough Design Guide sets a minimum garden depth of 11m. The proposed
layout complies with these requirements with all houses meeting or exceeding

36

the minimum threshold with the exception of 6 units (4 within Phase 4, and 2
within Phase 5). However the overall size and usability of these gardens are still
considered to be acceptable when their width and overall layout is taken into
consideration. These shortfalls are therefore not considered to be so significant
to warrant the refusal of the application for this reason.
55. Furthermore, the units are private and therefore buyers have the choice of
purchase or not. In addition, permitted development rights of the properties have
been removed by condition 7 of the outline permission so as to restrict
unacceptable encroachment into these important garden spaces. It should also
be noted that on large scale sites, it is very difficult to achieve total compliance
due to all the competing aims of design standards and therefore where
appropriate to do so, a small reduction can sometimes be accommodated as in
this instance.
56. All of the flats within the apartment blocks have balconies which are large
enough to accommodate a small table and chairs, which will offer private amenity
space to these residents, and units located at ground level will have a designated
area of defensible space. There is also adequate public open space provided
locally within the development for the residents’ amenity.
57. The Borough Design Guide establishes minimum separation distances of 10m
front-to-front across the street, 22m back-to-back and 12m back-to-flank and the
proposed layout complies with this guidance.
58. It is therefore considered the development will provide good levels of amenity for
future occupants, along with a good mix, balance and quality of dwelling types,
tenures and sizes so that a wide range of housing needs can be met. This will
ensure that the development is sustainable in meeting the housing needs of the
community. The development is therefore considered to accord with the relevant
policies of the development plan in this regard.
Neighbouring Residential Amenity
59. Core Strategy policy CP3 requires that new development should be of a high
quality of design that does not cause detriment to the amenities of adjoining land
users. Separation standards for new residential development are set out in
section 4.7 of the Borough Design Guide.
60. All dwellings on the site are sufficiently distant from all neighbouring properties
and have been designed such that they would not introduce unacceptable
relationships of overlooking and loss of outlook, daylight, sunlight or privacy.
Separation distances to existing dwellings to the south, where the new
development would be closest to existing properties, would all achieve
separation distances required by the standards set by WBC’s Borough Design
Guide.
61. Noise, disturbance and inconvenience during the construction period will be
managed and minimised as far as is reasonable through good practice and
through the existing conditions of the outline consent; which require the
submission (for the Council’s approval) of a Construction Environmental
Management Plan and which restrict the hours of construction activity. These

37

matters do not fall for consideration under this Reserved Matters planning
application.
Trees, Landscaping and Open Space
62. The proposals will be set within the wider context of the Phase 4 area, which
includes a large area of public open space at the north eastern end of the site,
which includes a Locally Equipped Area of Play (LEAP), along with a series of
landscaping proposals across the Phase 4/5 areas, including three further areas
of open space, and a green corridor along the eastern boundary of the site. This
green buffer serves to protect the root protection areas of a number of existing
TPO trees along the boundary, and in doing so provides an attractive landscaped
edge to this part of the site. Now that the Phase 5 layout has been amended, this
green buffer strategy extends around to the southern section of Phase 5, where
two further TPO trees are located on the boundary.
63. The detailed landscaping proposals associated with the already approved Phase
4 area have been approved, and upon the approval of this reserved matters
application, these will need to be amended to incorporate the additional Phase 4
areas, including the changes proposed in relation to the increased size of the
central public open space along with the Phase 5 detailed landscaping
proposals. The existing hedgerows located along the east will be retained where
possible. It is proposed that a section of existing bramble bushes located along
the southern boundary along Matthewsgreen Road will be removed and
replanted with native hedgerow planting. Further hedgerow planting will be
incorporated within the site proposal where appropriate. As mentioned, these
details will be secured through a separate conditions submission of the detailed
landscaping proposals pursuant to condition 14 of the outline permission.
64. The landscaped areas within site comprise the open spaces together with the
planting proposed for the immediate setting of the housing which will include
sections of hedge or blocks of shrubs within front gardens to run parallel with the
highway/footway. This will help create a sense of enclosure and creating a green
corridor along the access roads. Street trees are also proposed at intervals along
the access roads and within the parking courtyards. This approach is considered
acceptable as it is important in terms of not only breaking down the hard
landscaped appearance of the roads but also in creating a pleasant residential
environment for future and existing residents.
65. Following the revisions to the design of the apartment blocks and the Phase 5
layout, WBC Trees and Landscaping Officer has advised that she is happy with
the accompanying revised Landscape Masterplan for the proposals. Detailed
landscaping submissions will be required to be submitted for approval under the
Outline landscaping details condition 14.
66. The proposed landscaping, garden spaces and general open space within the
site, together with the proposed boundary treatments, will act to soften the built
environment and would reduce and mitigate the impact of the development upon
the landscape. Wherever possible, existing trees and hedgerows are to be
retained as integral features of the development and extensive additional
tree/hedge planting is proposed. The landscaping provisions are considered to
add significant quality to the residential environment.

38

67. The protection of existing trees and hedgerows within and adjacent to the site is
covered by condition 16 on the outline which requires the submission of an
Arboricultural Works scheme. Whilst an Arboricultural Method Statement has
been submitted in support of the application, this will need to be formally agreed
through a separate conditions application.
68. It is considered that the overall landscaping proposals will ensure an appropriate
setting for the development both visually, but also in terms of the residential
amenities of future occupiers. Detail such as boundary treatments, which also
play an important part to the overall setting and appearance of a new
development, will also be considered under a separate outline conditions
application.
Ecology and Biodiversity
69. Core Strategy Policy CP7, carried forward by MDD LP Policy TB23, requires
appropriate protection of species and habitats of conservation value. Design
Principle 1b (i-ii) is concerned with protection of ecological habitat and
biodiversity features, together with mitigation of any impacts that do arise.
70. The principles of ecological protection for the development were established
under the indicative plans and strategies of the outline consent. Subject to the
implementation of the various strategies, this reserved matters submission would
have no significant impact upon ecology. Detailed matters of such in relation to
this Phase will be agreed and formally secured pursuant to the relevant
conditions of the outline consent.
Transport, Highways and Parking
71. The proposals are in accordance with the Council’s adopted design and parking
standards. Primary vehicular access into the site will be taken from the NDR and
Matthewsgreen Road and further within the site, secondary access roads will
radiate from the main internal routes to serve clusters of buildings. As previously
mentioned, the internal road layout within the Phase 4 area does not significantly
differ from the already approved layout. The routes within the site will have a
clear hierarchy and are designed in accordance with Manual for Streets.
72. The layout is considered to connect well with the PROW running along the
western boundary of Phase 4 (which in itself provides a good connection with the
SANG), and a footpath continues from the end of the PROW and along the
southern boundary of the Phase 4 site and continues along into Phase 5.
Permeability through Phase 5 to the location of the Toucan crossing on Twyford
Road is now improved as a result of the amended layout, and there will also be a
footpath link to the location of a new bus stop on Matthewsgreen Road.
73. It is proposed that the majority of the roads and footpaths within Phases 4 and 5
will be adopted by WBC. Details to ensure their construction is to an adoptable
standard will need to be submitted and approved by WBC pursuant to
condition 31 of the outline planning application. The majority of the already
approved Phase 4 layout has technical approval, and a Section 38 agreement is
in the process of being completed for that Phase. In the event that the current

39

RM application is approved, updated details will need to be submitted for
approval, in order to reflect the changes within the Phase 4 area, along with such
details for Phase 5.
Parking
74. In line with Core Strategy Policy CP6 and MDD DPD Policy CC07, the
development will incorporate parking in line with the Council’s standards, as
follows:
Type

No. spaces

Ratio (405 dwellings)

1. Allocated (including car ports
excluding garages)
2. Unallocated
3. Visitor
Total Allocated + Unallocated +
Visitor
4. Garages
Total Allocated + Unallocated +
Visitor + 0.5*Garages

643

1.6

93
82
818

0.2
0.2
2

90
863

0.2
2.1

75. Allocated parking is proposed on the site by a combination of on-plot parking
(drives and garages), and communal parking areas serving the flats and houses.
On-street parking will also be incorporated as a means of managing the flow of
traffic and vehicle speeds. The on-street parking will be managed in accordance
with details that will need to be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA
pursuant to condition 29 of the outline permission.
76. Where communal parking is proposed, both for the affordable and private
apartment blocks, these would be overlooked by dwelling units and therefore
offering security. These are necessary to accommodate the level of development
and parking required within the development and as such the communal parking
areas are considered acceptable. The visitor spaces are considered to be evenly
dispersed throughout the site.
77. In line with our emerging policy on electric vehicle charging points, a condition
has been included to provide details of such provision (condition 4).
78. Refuse bins for the apartment blocks are located within integral stores within the
buildings. WBC’s refuse team no longer favour designated collection points
within developments. Tracking information has been provided to demonstrate a
refuse vehicle will be able to collect waste from the development in accordance
with WBC guidance.
Cycle Parking
79. The Council’s standards, as currently set out in MDDLP Appendix 2 requires the
provision of at least one cycle space for dwellings with three or fewer habitable
rooms, two spaces for dwellings with four or five habitable rooms and three cycle
spaces for larger dwellings. For the houses it is proposed that cycle parking is
provided on site either within garages or sheds and the apartment blocks will

40

have integral cycle parking stores. It is considered that all dwellings have been
provided with sufficient space for cycle storage / parking in accordance with the
above requirements.
Flooding and Drainage
80. Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDDLP Policies CC09 and CC10 establish that
new development should avoid increasing and where possible reduce flood risk
(from all sources) by managing surface water in a sustainable manner. The site
is within flood zone 1 which is the lowest level of flood risk.
81. Surface water run-off will be managed using a Sustainable Drainage System
(SuDS) including attenuation in pipelines and an attenuation basin located in the
north of the overall site, before being discharged at the greenfield run-off rate.
The drainage details submitted in support of this application for the site
demonstrate that the drainage strategy for Phase 5 and for the new areas of
Phase 4 will connect into the drainage network which has been approved under
the previous reserved matters submission. Further detailed information will need
to be submitted and formally agreed under a separate conditions application
submission pursuant to conditions 38 and 39 of the outline application.
82. Thames Water commented on the application and advised that they were unable
to determine the waste water infrastructure needs of the development and
therefore recommended conditions in this respect. However, this is a separate
matter for which a condition was imposed at the outline stage requiring details of
a scheme for the improvement of the existing sewerage system to be submitted
for approval (Condition 40). The details were approved in 2016 (ref: 152579) in
consultation with Thames Water and the applicant has relevant agreements in
place with Thames Water in this regard.
83. However, notwithstanding this, Thames Water will be consulted on the further
detailed drainage submissions which will be required to be submitted under
outline conditions 38 and 39 upon the approval of this reserved matters.
Land Contamination
84. The site was previously in agricultural use and the initial desk top and field
evaluation survey concluded that the site is low risk in terms of land
contamination. Should any unexpected contamination be discovered during
construction, this will be considered and mitigated pursuant to the requirements
of conditions 14 and 15 of the outline permission, and do not need further
consideration under this Reserved Matters Planning Application.
Noise
85. Concern has been raised by the Emmbrook Resident’s Association with respect
to noise impacts to future occupiers. Condition 51 of the outline application
requires the submission of mitigation schemes for internal and external noise
before commencement of development at each phase so suitable mitigation
measures can be agreed at that stage. For example mitigation could include
triple glazing along the NDR frontage. However, the requirement of the condition
will ensure suitable mitigation measures are implemented where needed.

41

Sustainable Design and Construction
86. Core Strategy Policy CP1 requires development to contribute towards the goal of
achieving zero carbon development by including on-site renewable energy
features and minimising energy and water consumption. MDD DPD policies
CC04, CC05 and the Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary
Planning Document (May 2010) also emphasise this.
87. Condition 44 on the outline permission required the development to achieve a
minimum code level 4 for Sustainable Homes or the equivalent code at the time
of construction. However, the Government has implemented a new approach for
the setting of technical standards for new housing. This has rationalised the preexisting and many differing standards into a simpler, streamlined system. The
Government set out its policy on the application of these standards in decisiontaking and plan-making in a written Ministerial Statement. The statement
withdrew the Code for Sustainable Homes and as such, WBC can no longer
apply the requirement to build to Code Levels as a condition to planning
permission. However, Part L of Building Regs effectively requires the equivalent
energy efficiency as Code Level 4.
88. Condition 45 on the outline requires the submission of details relating to how the
development will seek to achieve a minimum reduction of 10% of total energy
consumption through either on-site renewable energy generation or fabric first
approach. Details submitted under the above condition in this regard for the
original Phase 4 reserved matters approval proposed a fabric first strategy being
adopted in respect of achieving a reduction in energy consumption, and also
included measures such as photovoltaic panels on the flat roof of the apartment
block on the NDR. Updated details in this regard will be expected to be submitted
for approval in relation to the current proposals pursuant to condition 45. These
matters therefore do not need further consideration under this Reserved Matters
planning application.
89. The Town Council commented that they would like to see more emphasis on
alternative energy sources within the development such as solar panels and grey
water solutions such as collecting rainwater for re-use. As referred to above,
such sustainability measures will be secured through the conditions submission
and it is anticipated that an updated energy strategy will be submitted in
accordance with Condition 45. However all new buildings are expected to be
energy efficient and reduce their carbon output. This includes a combination of
measures, comprising from insulation to reduction in water consumption. In
respect of rainwater collection, proposed condition 4 on this application requires
the water butts referred to in the applicant’s Design and Access statement to be
installed prior to occupation.
Impact on Listed Buildings and Heritage
90. Policy TB24 of the MDD sets out that the Borough Council will conserve and
seek the enhancement of designated heritage assets in the Borough and their
settings. There are no designated or undesignated heritage assets within the
site. Furthermore, it was established at the outline application stage that the
development, subject to the land use distribution and height parameters

42

approved at that time and brought forward here, would not have a detrimental
impact upon the special interest or setting of any neighbouring Listed Buildings
and Conservation Areas. There is nothing within the current proposal that would
alter that conclusion.
Archaeology
91. In terms of archaeology, results of archaeological trial trenching do not highlight
any areas of archaeological potential in relation to the application site. WBC
Officers therefore accept Berkshire Archaeology’s advice that no further
archaeological work is required within the site. This has been confirmed through
submission of details pursuant to condition 50 of the outline application.
The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010)
92. In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its
obligations under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected
characteristics include age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage
and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief. There is
no indication or evidence (including from consultation on the application) that the
protected groups identified by the Act have or will have different needs,
experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular planning application
and there would be no significant adverse impacts upon protected groups as a
result of the development.
CONCLUSION
This reserved matters proposal does not substantially deviate from the principles and
parameters established by the outline planning permission, and is compatible with the
design and appearance of development already permitted on the wider Matthewsgreen
development and accords with adopted policies and standards. This is a sustainable
development that offers substantial public benefit in meeting the needs of the local
community and delivering on Wokingham’s development aspirations for the North
Wokingham SDL. The application will deliver high quality development in accordance
with the Council’s spatial strategy and there are no other material planning
considerations of significant weight, such as impact upon amenity, appearance etc. that
would dictate that the application should nevertheless be refused. The application is
therefore being recommended for approval, subject to the conditions listed and
associated Deed of Variation.
CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services
Enclosures:
1) Site location plan; Coloured Site Layout Plan; Landscape Masterplan
2) Wokingham Town Council comments

43

This page is intentionally left blank

T5

T2

TO
U
TL
EY
R
O
AD

T8

TO
U
TL
EY
R
O
AD

R

IM

B

LE

C

M

B

E

C

LO

S

E

T
O
U
T
L
E
Y
R
O
A
D

T4

303P

T9

AD
Y R
O
LE
UT

P302

P302

P306

TO

T3

T33
P306

P302

P306

T8

P306

14A

P402

T32

P408

T9

P402

P408

P402

P408

P302

P302

8

P302

P306

P306

T10
T2

P302

P408

P302

P408

P306

*

16

B

P408

3BH-A

P306

P306

P408

P302

P408

P302

P302
P302

2BH-A

P302

P302

*
*

2BH-A

*

2BH-A

P306

2BH-A

3BH-A

2BH-A

P306

P303

3BH-A

2BH-A

P306

7

3BH-A

P306

P306
.demrifn

oc eb ot

sezis fa

eL

P306

D00

P306

P306

*

Leaf sizes

to be confirmed.

D00

P408

P408

RO

OF

PL

AN

P408

P408

T11

F+
1H
40
14

8

F+
1H
40

7

9

9

SH

GE

9

GARA

2+

50

7

L3
SH

SALES

5

11

L3

11

SH
L3

6+
30

SH
L3

6+
30

+

L3

SH

F
1H
40

8

Carport

2+

50

F+
1H
40

8

L3

SH

03
+

7

6+

P3

30

4+

40

6+

5
5

30

5

30
6+

5
30
6+

6+

30

6+
30

8

30

6+

7

6+

4+

40

SHL2

6+

30

14

306+

30

P303+

P303+

P302+

SHL2

P302+

40

P303+

4+

SHL2

6+

SHL2

+
03
P3
30

SHL2

SHL2

2+

SHL2

SHL4

SHL2

SHL3

16B
4

3LHS

40

7

6+

30

2LHS

9

6+

30

2LHS

SHL4

9

6+

30

4

7

16
B

8

SHL3

8

P303+

P202+

P202+
P202+

P302+

3LHS

4

7

P202+

3LHS

SHL3

4

3P

0

+3

SHL2

SHL2

8

SHL2

6+

6+
30

SHL2

8

2+

+

6
30

SHL2

7

P

03

40

+3

4

8

30

40

2+

4

7

7

6+
30

6+
30

P303+

P303+
8

SHL3

5

8

T29

SHL2

8

5

7

7

9
14

9

4

4

SHL2

9
9

14

4

9

CYCLEWAY

SHL2

41

4

9

5

4

9

7

8

4

8

SHL2

SHL2

8
8

9

5
9
41

5

4

14

15
5

4

61

5

7

4

L2

4

SH

L2
L2

16

AY
5

B

L2
SH
SH
L

2

L2

11

SH

SH

L3

L2

SH

11

3

HS

O

A

8

D

4

DRIVE

11

SH

11

8

7

2

8

5

T27

SH
L

11

4

SH
L2

5

7

R

11

N

11

E

PRIVATE

7
E

11

R

SH

G

SH
L3

S

L3

W

SH

E

L2

H

L3

SH

L3

4L
HS
TT

4

SH
L

8

A

11

3L
M

T28

4

5

L2

PRIVATE
DRIVE

5

7

SH

5

SH

L2

5
5

4

9

DRIVE

AD

PRIVATE

RO

9

EN

4

RE

4

SH

SG

9

EW

L3

TH

SH

AT

5

M

PRIVATE
DRIVE

4

SH
L2

CYCLEW

14

SH

14

AY

4

8

8
8

E

8

14

H

W

S

G

R

8

5

12
E

E

N

R

O

7

8
4

TT

12

4

A

11

T18
M

CYCLEW

8

8

7
A

D

12

LL

5
A

VE

AY

E

CYCLEW

W

7

E

8

S

8

8
5

5

5

7

5

8

5

T26

21

7

5

H

E

12

T

W

S

G

R

E

E

N
R

CYCLEWAY

8
O

A

8
8

8
7

D

5

5

IVA

TE

DR

4

IVE

4

7

T

7

A

12

M

5

T25

PR
12

16

SE

4

B

5

WE
LL

7

AV

15

8

7

E

8

M

51

A
T
T
H
E
W
S

15

G
R
E
E
R
O
A

8

7

N

7

T21

D

E

AT

IV

PR

A

DR

M

14

IV

R

E

K
S

T24

R
O
A
D

14

RK
AD

SHARED SU

O
S R

RFACE

MA

T22

14
T

T

B6

A

1

21

M

H

E

W

S

G

R

E

E

21

N
R

L

IF

T

O

N

R

O

A

LL

E

Y

C

R

E

S

C

E

N

D

M

T

A

T

T

H

E

W

S

G

R

E

T23
E

N

R

O

A

D

D

SCALE BAR 1:1000

0

20

50

100

Rev

N

Date

Amendment

Initials

Project:

MATTHEWS GREEN, WOKINGHAM
PHASE 4c & 5
Client:

BOVIS SOUTHERN COUNTIES
Drawing:

SITE LAYOUT

Drawing no:

PRELIMINARY

C

A

A

7

V

O

Rev:

1331-400
Scale@A0: 1/1000

Date:

N
06-2019

Drawn:

RFT

Checked:

FINC Architects Ltd
61 New London Road
Chelmsford,
Essex
CM2 0ND
T +44 (0)1245 933988
www.fincarchitects.com

Disclaimer:

B

O

45

All dimensions and measurements to be checked on site.
© FINC Architects Limited holds the copyright to all the information contained within this
document and their written consent must be obtained before copying or using the data other than
for the purpose it was originally supplied.
Do not scale from this drawing.

-

This page is intentionally left blank

47

This page is intentionally left blank

49

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 63.
Application
Number
192285

Applicant
Site Address
Proposal
Type
PS Category
Officer
Reason
determination
committee

Expiry Date

Parish

Ward

24 December 2019

Finchampstead
North

Finchampstead North

Mr. Nicholas Prior
"Silverstock Manor", Sandhurst Road, Finchampstead,
Wokingham, RG40 3JE
Householder application for the proposed erection of a 2 (two)
storey extension to enlarge existing dwelling.
Full
1
Andrew Chugg
for
by Major application (site is over 0.5ha)

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on Monday, 16 December 2019
Assistant Director – Place

SUMMARY
The proposal intends the extension of the existing bungalow resulting in a larger 6-bed
property which reflects three previous planning permissions (now lapsed) that were
granted by the local planning authority against the same development plan policies.
The proposal would not result in excessive encroachment within the countryside nor
inappropriate expansion of development away from original buildings on site. While the
proposed extension is considerably larger than the existing dwelling, and would
effectively become the main or dominant part of the house in its appearance, the
resulting dwelling would appear entirely acceptable in its context given the spacious
nature of this single residential plot and would be comparable in size and scale to other
neighbouring properties.
Adequate parking and amenity area can be provided on site and there are no resultant
ecology impacts or impact on neighbours.

PLANNING STATUS
Badger Sett Consultation Zones
Water Utility Consultation Zones
Affordable Housing Thresholds
Bat Roost Habitat Suitability
Countryside
Farnborough Aerodrome Consultation Zone
Tree Preservation Orders – Part of Woodland TPO
Berkshire Biodiversity Opportunity Area
Local Plan Update Submitted Sites
SSSI Impact Risk Zones
Thames Basin Heaths SPA Mitigation Zones
Green Route
Local Wildlife Sites Consultation Zone

51

RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following:
A. Conditions and informatives:
Conditions:
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).

2.

This permission is in respect of the following submitted application plans and
drawings:
- Location Plan (drawing no. SMAN-PLAN-01)
- Site Plan (drawing no. SMAN-PLAN-04)
- Proposed Plans and Elevations (drawing no. SMAN-PLAN-02 Rev A)
as received by the local planning authority on 24th September 2019. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried
out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby
approved.

3.

Before the development hereby permitted is commenced details of the materials to
be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the building/s shall have first
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with the soapproved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3

4.

No development shall commence until the following sustainable drainage
information has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority:
i) An assessment of seasonal high groundwater levels for the area.
ii) Storage attenuation to cater for the 1 in 100 year flood event with a 40%
allowance for climate change.
iii) Controlled discharge from the development at existing rates or better.
iv) Confirmation that the base of the attenuation feature shall be at least 1m above
seasonal high groundwater levels for the area.
Reason: To prevent increased flood risk from surface water run-off. Relevant policy:
NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal
Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing Development Delivery Local
Plan policies CC09 and CC10.

5.

No part of the extension hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the
vehicle parking and turning space has been provided in accordance with the
approved plans. The vehicle parking and turning space shall be retained and
maintained in accordance with the approved details and the parking space shall

52

remain available for the parking of vehicles at all times and the turning space shall
not be used for any other purpose other than vehicle turning.
Reason: To provide adequate off-street vehicle parking and turning space and to
allow vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward gear in the interests of road
safety and convenience and providing a functional, accessible and safe
development and in the interests of amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies
CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
Informatives:
1. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining
this application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations,
including planning policies and any representations that may have been received
and subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance with
the presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF.
2. The development hereby permitted is liable to pay the Community Infrastructure
Levy. As an affordable housing development a claim for relief can be made. This
is a matter for the developer. The Liability Notice issued by Wokingham Borough
Council will state the current chargeable amount. Anyone can formally assume
liability to pay, but if no one does so then liability will rest with the landowner.
There are certain legal requirements that must be complied with. For instance,
whoever will pay the levy must submit an Assumption of Liability form and a
Commencement Notice to Wokingham Borough Council prior to commencement
of development. For more information see http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/planning/developers/cil/cil-processes/.
PLANNING HISTORY
Application Number Proposal
163284
Householder application for a
proposed two-storey front/side
extension to existing dwelling and
continued use as a dwelling house.
EXT/2012/1560
Application to extend
implementation date of planning
consent F/2009/1576
F/2009/1576
Erection of two-storey extension to
enlarge existing dwelling plus part
demolition of existing dwelling.

Decision
APPROVED 30/01/17

APPROVED 06/12/12

APPROVED 04/09/09

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area: 2.4ha

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
WBC Ecologist
WBC Drainage
WBC Highways
WBC Trees & Landscape
WBC Growth & Delivery (Planning Policy)
WBC Public Rights of Way

53

No objection
No objection subject to a drainage condition
No objection subject to parking condition
No objection
No comments received
No objection

REPRESENTATIONS
Finchampstead Parish Council: No objection
Local Members: No comments received
Neighbours: No comments received

APPLICANTS POINTS
 The proposal represents an acceptable household extension that has previously
been approved three times before.


The proposal results in no impact on neighbours, ecology or wildlife habitat and
there is space for car parking to exceed the Council’s standards.

PLANNING POLICY
National Policy

NPPF

National Planning Policy Framework

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010

CP1

Sustainable Development

CP3

General Principles for Development

CP6

Managing Travel Demand

CP7

Biodiversity

CP8

Thames Basin Heaths Special
Protection Area

CP11

Proposals outside development limits
(including countryside)

CC01

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development

CC02

Development Limits

CC03

Green Infrastructure, Trees and
Landscaping

CC07

Parking

CC09

Development and Flood Risk (from all
sources)

CC10

Sustainable Drainage

BDG

Borough Design Guide – Section 4

Adopted Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan 2014

Supplementary Planning
Documents
(SPD)

DCLG – National Internal Space
Standards

54

PLANNING ISSUES
Description of Development:
1. The proposal is for a significant two storey side extension to the existing chalet
bungalow on site. The existing bungalow’s dimensions are approximately 9m wide x
16m deep x 6m high. The proposed extension would be 16m wide x 13m deep x
9.5m high and would project 5m forward of the host dwelling. The proposal would
incorporate two forward facing gables with overhanging sections at first floor with
mock-tudor detailing (refer to extract of proposed elevation below) and would
appear as the dominant part of the house with the original dwelling effectively
appearing as a side extension.
Extract of proposed elevation:

2. As mentioned above, the host dwelling (refer to Pic 1.0 below) was previously
granted similar extensions under planning permissions (F/2009/1576,
EXT/2012/1560 and 163284). However, neither of these historic permissions were
implemented and the applicant has now reapplied.
Pic 1.0 – Existing chalet bungalow

55

3. The application site is located within designated Countryside and along a ‘Green
Route’ as identified on the Borough’s Proposals Map. Parts of the NE, NW and SW
edge of the site incorporate a ditch/watercourse. The area surrounding this is
designated as a Local Wildlife Site. The site lies on the north-eastern side of
Sandhurst Road and comprises a chalet bungalow, a number of derelict
outbuildings, hardstanding and entrance gates and walls. While the site is relatively
flat it does rise up above the lower ground levels along Sandhurst Road. There is a
landscaped bund and walled gates on the SW edge of the site which screen most of
the existing buildings when viewed from Sandhurst Road (refer to Pic 2.0 below)
with the existing dwelling being sited approximately 100m back from the frontage of
the site.
Pic 2.0 – Site viewed from Sandhurst Road

Principle of Development:
4. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour
of sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development Plan.
The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD) Policy CC01 states that
planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan for
Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material considerations
indicate otherwise.
5. Policy CP11 states that in order to protect the separate identity of settlements and
maintain the quality of the environment, proposals outside of development limits will
not normally be permitted except in certain circumstances; i.e.:
i.
where it contributes to diverse and sustainable rural enterprises;
ii.
where is does not lead to excessive encroachment or expansion of
development away from original buildings;
iii.
buildings appropriate for conversion;
iv.
appropriate residential extensions;
v.
where it would bring about environmental improvements and not result in
inappropriate increases in the scale, form or footprint or the original building;
vi.
provision of community facilities, and
vii.
affordable housing on rural exception sites.

56

6. Therefore, the principle of the development is acceptable provided it accords with
Policy CP11 criterions ii) and iv) above. The other criterions are not relevant to this
development.
Impact on Character of the Area:
7. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states that development must be appropriate in
terms of its scale of activity, mass, layout, built form, height, materials and character
to the area in which it is located and must be of high quality design without
detriment to the amenities of adjoining land uses and occupiers.
8. The Borough Design Guide sets out general principles for residential alterations and
extensions. Alterations and extension, in accordance with policy R23 should; be
well designed, contribute to the local character and relate well to neighbouring
properties.
9. The proposed extension would significantly alter the appearance of the existing
chalet bungalow resulting in a much larger dwelling that would be visible, albeit at a
significant distance, from public locations along Sandhurst Road. However, the
proposed design would result in a well-balanced property with the two main gables
providing a degree of symmetry to the main elevation and the existing bungalow
thereby becoming an appropriate subservient element (refer to Proposed Elevations
extract above).
10. While substantial in bulk and mass, the resultant dwelling would be set back
significantly (approx. 100m) from the frontage of the site and would therefore
appear entirely appropriate within its setting (refer to Site Plan extract below) of the
application site. Therefore, the proposal would not result in excessive encroachment
within the countryside nor would it result in inappropriate expansion of development
away from original buildings on site.
Extract of proposed Block Plan:

57

11. The proposal intends the use of traditional materials such as a red stock brick and
red tiles however no specific details have been provided. Hence, a precommencement condition is recommended to secure full details of these external
materials.
12. The historic approvals granted to previous applications on this site were assessed
against the relevant Core Strategy policies and hence also considered material to
determination of this latest application.
13. Subject to compliance with the recommended materials condition, the proposal is
acceptable in design terms and in respect of its impact in the countryside and
surrounding area. The proposal therefore accords with Core Strategy Policies CP3
and CP11 and the Borough Design Guide in this respect.
Residential Amenities:
14. The nearest neighbouring house is approx. 100m away. Given this significant
distance of separation, the proposal would not result in overlooking, overshadowing
or create overly dominant structures that would significantly detract from the
amenities of neighbouring occupiers. As such, the proposal complies with Policy
CP3 and the Borough Design Guide in this respect.
Access and Movement:
15. The Council’s Highways Manager has raised no objections given that there is ample
room on site to provide adequate car and cycle parking facilities. The proposal is
therefore acceptable in this respect subject to a condition requiring vehicle parking
and turning being provided prior to the extension being occupied.
Flooding and Drainage:
16. MDD Policy CCO9 states that all development proposals must ensure surface water
arising from the proposed development including taking into account climate change
is managed in a sustainable manner. Core Strategy Policy CS1 states that planning
permission will be granted to proposals that avoid increasing risks of all forms of
flooding including from groundwater.
17. The Council’s Drainage Officer has been consulted on this application. They raise
no objection to the principle of the development, however, as the building footprint
would increase from 140m2 to 494m2 and no drainage details have been submitted
with the application a condition to secure full details of sustainable drainage details
for the site is recommended. Subject to adherence with this condition, the proposal
accords with MMD Policy CC09 and CS1.
Landscape and Trees:
18. The Council’s Landscape and Tree Officer has raised no objection to this
application. They commented that the site is covered by TPO 233/1983 although
there are no trees in conflict with the proposals. Therefore, the proposal is
acceptable in this respect.
Amenity Space for future occupiers:
19. The proposal doesn’t significantly affect the substantial area of surrounding private
amenity space for the dwelling and therefore meet the guidelines as set out in the
Borough Design Guide. As such, the proposal is acceptable in this respect.

58

Ecology:
20. Core Strategy Policy CP7 states that development will only be permitted where the
need for the proposal outweighs the need to safeguard nature conservation. Core
Strategy Policy CP3 (d) requires that proposals maintain or enhance flora and fauna
including protected species. MDD Policy TB23 requires compliance with CP7 in
addition to an obligation for developments to improve biodiversity measures.
21. An ecological appraisal of the site was carried out in 2015 (Arbtech 2015) to inform
the previous application (163284) on this site. The survey included a bat survey of
the building, which found that the building was unsuitable for use by roosting bats.
22. The Council’s Consultant Ecologist visited the site on 14 October 2019 and has
advised that “the house was as described in the 2015 report with closely fitted flat
concrete roof tiles, tightly fitted soffit boxes and no features suitable for use by
roosting bats. As such bats are very unlikely to be affected by the proposals. The
area where the new extension is to be built comprises a short cut lawn, this and the
adjacent habitats, are not “priority habitats” as defined in the NPPF. The lawn is not
suitable for reptiles and no signs of other protected species, such as badgers, were
found within the development footprint. It is therefore very unlikely that proposals
will affect protected species”.
23. In summary, since the proposals are very unlikely to affect protected species or
priority habitats and there are no concerns in respect of this application on ecology
grounds. Therefore, the proposal is compliant with Core Strategy Policy CP7 and
MDD Policy TB23 and with guidance contained within the NPPF.
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL):
24. The Council formally adopted a charging schedule in accordance with the
Community Infrastructure Level on 06.04.2015. The development would be liable to
pay the Community Infrastructure Levy.

The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010)
In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its obligations
under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected characteristics include age,
disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief. There is no indication or evidence (including from
consultation on the application) that the protected groups identified by the Act have or will
have different needs, experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular
planning application and there would be no significant adverse impacts upon protected
groups as a result of the development.
CONCLUSION
The proposal complies with Core Strategy Policy CP11 in that it would not result in
excessive encroachment within the countryside nor inappropriate expansion of
development away from original buildings on site. The proposal would retain adequate
parking and there would be no adverse impact on neighbours or ecology. The application
is therefore recommended to approval as outlined at the start of this report.

59

This page is intentionally left blank

Disclaimer

This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings and specifications.
Do not scale off this drawing. Use figured dimensions only. All levels and dimensions to be
checked on site. All levels and dimensional discrepancies are to be brought to the immediate
attention of Martlet architectural design ltd.

m
60

Responsibility cannot be accepted for alteration and/or deviation from this design without prior
acknowledgment of Martlet architectural design ltd.
Issues

C

n

Track

t

y
FB

Prior to any works commencing on site, The Engineer is to be contacted regarding the current
status, revision or regulatory approval of this drawing.
All work to be to the entire satisfaction of the NHBC or Local Authority not withstanding
anything shown or indicated on these drawings. All workmanship and materials to be the best
of their respective kind and at least equivalent of the appropriate British Standard Code of
Practice. All relevant dimensions and levels to be ascertained or checked and verified on site
before specific areas of work are commenced.

Collects
65m

k
Trac

C

o

o

s

B

d

Copyright reserved. This drawing may only be used for the client and location specified in the
title block. It may not be copied or disclosed to any other third party without prior written
consent from Martlet architectural design ltd.

ck
Tra

This drawing to be read in conjunction with clients specification/employers requirements and
structural engineers design details. Do not scale off this drawing, use figured dimensions
only, all dimensional discrepancies to be brought to the immediate attention on Martlet
Development Consultants.

65m

WARNING TO HOUSE PURCHASERS-PROPERTY MISDESCRIPTIONS ACT 1991
Buyers are warned that this is a working drawing and is not intended to be treated as
descriptive material describing, in relation to any particular property or development, any of
the specified matters prescribed by any order made under the above act. The contents of this
drawing may be subject to change at any time and alterations and variations can occur during
the process of works without revision of the drawing. Consequently the layout, form, content
and dimensions of the finished construction may differ materially from those shown. Nor do
the contents of this drawing constitute a contract, part of any contract or warranty.

62m

A

Y

SA

Collects
ND
HU
RS
T

Notes

RO
AD

S

E

S

R

P
C

Y

k
ac

C

Drain

L

Tr

60

m
60

m
AD
RO
EL
G
TA
TIN

67m

FB

Silverstock Bog

Sluice

Path

m
65

Silverstock

Manor

65m
60m

61

Tra

ck

65m

k
Trac

Path

Drain

ai
Dr

Queen's

n
Collects

Mere

Queenscot

th

Pa

A3
21

Drain

66m

Rev.

Silver

Description

Drn.

App.

Date

Client

Birches

SILVERSTOCK MANOR

SA

ND

HU

ROAD

RS

T

RO

RANG
E

AD

65m

Project

Drain

Silverstock Manor Development
RG40 3JE
FB

Drawing Title

SITE LOCATION PLAN

V

I

E

ILE RID
NINE M

E

Mast

R

N

E

D

Meadow Court,
Faygate Lane, Faygate,
Horsham, West Sussex, RH12 4SJ.
T: 01293 852003
F: 01293 851988
E: info@martlet.net
W: www.martlet.net

S

R

I

O

D

64m

N

H

N

RS RISE

S

N
KI

O

W

L

I

LR
M

U

M

Status

HA
G

B3430

A member of Martlet Group plc.

SOLDIE

E RIDE
INE MIL

FOR APPROVAL

RD

O

B

Date

SEPT 19

Scale 1:1250@A0

Drawn by ANT

Approved AE

L

T

Y

69m

O

L

Drawing Number

H

62m

SMAN-01

Revision

-

This page is intentionally left blank

Disclaimer

This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings and specifications.
Do not scale off this drawing. Use figured dimensions only. All levels and dimensions to be
checked on site. All levels and dimensional discrepancies are to be brought to the immediate
attention of Martlet architectural design ltd.
Responsibility cannot be accepted for alteration and/or deviation from this design without prior
acknowledgment of Martlet architectural design ltd.
Copyright reserved. This drawing may only be used for the client and location specified in the
title block. It may not be copied or disclosed to any other third party without prior written
consent from Martlet architectural design ltd.
Prior to any works commencing on site, The Engineer is to be contacted regarding the current
status, revision or regulatory approval of this drawing.
All work to be to the entire satisfaction of the NHBC or Local Authority not withstanding
anything shown or indicated on these drawings. All workmanship and materials to be the best
of their respective kind and at least equivalent of the appropriate British Standard Code of
Practice. All relevant dimensions and levels to be ascertained or checked and verified on site
before specific areas of work are commenced.
This drawing to be read in conjunction with clients specification/employers requirements and
structural engineers design details. Do not scale off this drawing, use figured dimensions
only, all dimensional discrepancies to be brought to the immediate attention on Martlet
Development Consultants.
WARNING TO HOUSE PURCHASERS-PROPERTY MISDESCRIPTIONS ACT 1991
Buyers are warned that this is a working drawing and is not intended to be treated as
descriptive material describing, in relation to any particular property or development, any of
the specified matters prescribed by any order made under the above act. The contents of this
drawing may be subject to change at any time and alterations and variations can occur during
the process of works without revision of the drawing. Consequently the layout, form, content
and dimensions of the finished construction may differ materially from those shown. Nor do
the contents of this drawing constitute a contract, part of any contract or warranty.

67m

Notes

Silverstock Bog

65

m

Proposed House

63

60m

Out Buildings

Drain

Rev.

Description

Drn.

App.

Date

Client

SILVERSTOCK MANOR

Project

Silverstock Manor Development
RG40 3JE
Drawing Title

SITE PLAN

Meadow Court,
Faygate Lane, Faygate,
Horsham, West Sussex, RH12 4SJ.
T: 01293 852003
F: 01293 851988
E: info@martlet.net
W: www.martlet.net
A member of Martlet Group plc.

Status

Date

FOR APPROVAL
SEPT 19

Drawn by ANT

A3

21

Scale 1:500@A0
Approved AE

Drawing Number

SMAN-PLN-04

Revision

-

This page is intentionally left blank

Disclaimer

This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings and specifications.
Do not scale off this drawing. Use figured dimensions only. All levels and dimensions to be
checked on site. All levels and dimensional discrepancies are to be brought to the immediate
attention of Martlet architectural design ltd.
Responsibility cannot be accepted for alteration and/or deviation from this design without prior
acknowledgment of Martlet architectural design ltd.
Copyright reserved. This drawing may only be used for the client and location specified in the
title block. It may not be copied or disclosed to any other third party without prior written
consent from Martlet architectural design ltd.
Prior to any works commencing on site, The Engineer is to be contacted regarding the current
status, revision or regulatory approval of this drawing.
All work to be to the entire satisfaction of the NHBC or Local Authority not withstanding
anything shown or indicated on these drawings. All workmanship and materials to be the best
of their respective kind and at least equivalent of the appropriate British Standard Code of
Practice. All relevant dimensions and levels to be ascertained or checked and verified on site
before specific areas of work are commenced.
This drawing to be read in conjunction with clients specification/employers requirements and
structural engineers design details. Do not scale off this drawing, use figured dimensions
only, all dimensional discrepancies to be brought to the immediate attention on Martlet
Development Consultants.
WARNING TO HOUSE PURCHASERS-PROPERTY MISDESCRIPTIONS ACT 1991
Buyers are warned that this is a working drawing and is not intended to be treated as
descriptive material describing, in relation to any particular property or development, any of
the specified matters prescribed by any order made under the above act. The contents of this
drawing may be subject to change at any time and alterations and variations can occur during
the process of works without revision of the drawing. Consequently the layout, form, content
and dimensions of the finished construction may differ materially from those shown. Nor do
the contents of this drawing constitute a contract, part of any contract or warranty.

Notes

Silverstock Elevation 1 (proposed)

Silverstock Elevation 2 (proposed)

65

Silverstock Elevation 4 (proposed)

Silverstock Elevation 3 (proposed)

Kitchen

A

Rev.

Bath/Shower
Room

Drawing description updated to WBC
comments, window removed from existing

Description

22.09.19

AE

EP

Drn.

App.

Date

Client

SILVERSTOCK MANOR
Dining
Room
En-Suite

Bed 2
Lounge

Project

Dressing
Bed 5

Drawing
Room

Bed 6
En-Suite

SILVERSTOCK MANOR
RG40 3JE

Bed 1
Drawing Title

Boiler/Store
W
WC

St.
Dressing

En-Suite

En-Suite

W
Play
Room

ST

ST

PLANNING DRAWINGS
PROPOSED PLANS
& ELEVATIONS

Study
Bed 4

Bed 3
Meadow Court,
Faygate Lane, Faygate,
Horsham, West Sussex, RH12 4SJ.
T: 01293 852003
F: 01293 851988
E: info@martlet.net
W: www.martlet.net

Silverstock Manor Ground Floor Plan
(Proposed 2 Storey Extension)

A member of Martlet Group plc.

Silverstock Manor First Floor Plan
(Proposed 2 Storey Extension)

Status

Date

FOR APPROVAL
SEPT 19

Drawn by ANT

Scale 1:100
Approved AE

Drawing Number

SMAN-PLN-02

Revision

A

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 64.
Application Number
192648

Expiry Date
10 January 2019

Applicant
Site Address
Proposal

Type
Officer
Reason for determination
by committee
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Parish
Charvil

Ward
Charvil

Mr M Bicknell
The Homestead, Park Lane, Charvil RG10 9TR
Full application for the proposed erection of 3no.
commercial warehouse buildings for storage (Class B8)
use (retrospective)
Full
Simon Taylor
Major application (>1 hectare)

Planning Committee on Monday, 16 December 2019
Assistant Director – Place

SUMMARY
The site lies in designated countryside to the south of Charvil with the main western
railway corridor forming the southern boundary, a brook forming the northern boundary
and woodland defining the rear boundary. It has operated with a commercial use since
the 1960s but has operated as A Better Service (trade waste collection) since 1992.
Additional uses include storage for several other businesses, a dwelling at the front of
the site and six caravans on the northern side boundary which are used by workers of
the business.
The application is retrospective in nature and relates to the erection of three commercial
warehouse buildings at the rear of the site and its use for Class B8 storage. Two are
used by Bells and Two Tones Limited, which leases fire tenders, firefighting equipment
and firefighting personnel to the film industry and the third is used by A Better Service.
Parking and turning space is proposed in front of the building.
The application is a resubmission 190674 for the same retrospective proposal. A review
of additional justification provided with this application has concluded that whilst it could
be perceived as encroachment within the countryside, there are acceptable impacts
upon the character of the area and the traffic implications are viewed as acceptable.
Hours of use are controlled by Condition 5 to protect neighbour amenity, external
storage is prohibited by Condition 4 to prevent the accumulation of clutter, formal
parking arrangements are required by Condition 3 and additional landscaping is required
by Condition 2. Subject to these stipulations, the proposal is acceptable and no objection
is raised.
PLANNING STATUS

Designated Countryside

Adjacent to Local Wildlife Site (Sandpit Copse)

Adjacent to Priority Habitat (Broadleaved and mixed deciduous woodland)

Adjacent to Biodiversity Opportunity Area (Loddon Valley Gravel Pits)

Wind turbine safeguarding zone

Contaminated land consultation zone

Historic contaminative land use

Minerals consultation zone

Sand and gravel extraction consultation zone

67








Groundwater protection zone
Adjacent o Railway Corridor
Flood Zone 1
Adjacent to Archaeological site
Bat consultation zone
Non-classified road

RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following conditions and informatives:
Conditions
1)

Approved details
This permission is in respect of the unnumbered plans titled Location Plan, Bock
Plan, Side, Side, Rear and Front, all received by the local planning authority on 7
October 2019. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details unless other minor variations are agreed in writing after the date
of this permission and before implementation with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried
out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby
approved.

2)

Landscaping details
Within one month of the date of this planning permission, a scheme of landscaping
for the purposes of softening the development along the boundary with the railway
corridor, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. It shall include species, planting sizes, spacing and numbers of
trees/shrubs to be planted.
Planting shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details in the first
planting and seeding seasons. Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years
from the date of the planting (or within a period of 5 years of the occupation of the
buildings in the case of retained trees and shrubs) die, are removed or become
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with
others of similar size and species or otherwise as approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
Reason: To ensure adequate planting in the interests of visual amenity and
character within the countryside.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and CP11 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21.

3)

Parking and turning space details
Within one month of the date of this planning permission, vehicle parking, HGV
parking, cycle parking and turning space shall be annotated on a plan submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The vehicle parking and
turning space so-approved shall be retained in accordance with the approved

68

details and the parking space remain available for the parking of vehicles at all
times and the turning space shall not be used for any purpose other than vehicle
turning.
Reason: To provide adequate off-street vehicle parking and turning space.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 and CP6 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
4)

External storage
No materials, plant, machinery, containers, equipment or vehicles shall be stored
outside buildings either within the site defined by the Block Plan or within the wider
site as noted on the Location Plan.
Reason: In order to safeguard the visual amenities of the area.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3

5)

Hours of use
The storage use hereby permitted shall not operate other than between the hours
of 7am and 8pm Monday to Saturday and shall not operate at all on Sundays or
Bank or National Holidays.
Reason: To safeguard residential amenities.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policy CC06.

Informatives
1)

Discussion
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining
this application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations,
including planning policies and any representations that may have been received.
This planning application has been the subject of positive and proactive
discussions with the applicant in terms of amended plans being submitted by the
applicant to overcome character concerns. The decision to grant planning
permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable
development as set out in the NPPF is considered to be a positive outcome of
these discussions.

PLANNING HISTORY
App No.
Description
0/120/1960
Detached bungalow (outline)
50/1961
O/83/1967
R/106/1969

Construction of detached bungalow (outline)
Construction of a workshop to be used for the
repair of commercial vehicles and plant
Construction of a workshop to be used for the
repair of commercial vehicles and plant

69

Decision/Date
Approved 23
March 1961
Approved 1961
Refused 5
March 1967
Refused 1969

R/13/1970

BRA1921

Construction of a workshop to be used for the
repair of agricultural implements and vehicles
Retention of buildings and yard for the storage of
building materials.
Appeal against planning ref 24004 dismissed and
enforcement notice upheld
Addition of a bedroom to the detached bungalow

29042

First floor extension to the detached bungalow

37039

Loft conversion of dwelling

CB/WD/PLEA/C
HA/7
C/90/H0330/16/
P6
41110

Enforcement action seeking the removal of touring
caravans and trailers
Appeal against enforcement notice
CB/WD/PLEA/CHA/7
CoU of an agricultural buildings for maintenance
and repair of commercial vehicles
Installation of three storage tanks for effluent

24004

F/1995/60388
96/64483/VAR
97/64873/VAR
VAR/2000/1626
RTP/2001/4983
F/2009/0164
F/2014/0703
083397
171283

173248
180471

Variation of Condition 1 of 64483 to allow
continued use
Extension of time period for 64483
Variation of Condition 6 of 41110 to allow the
parking of nine vehicles on site.
Renewal of VAR/2000/1626 to allow the parking of
nine vehicles on site.
Retrospective change of use of land for the storage
and distribution of empty skips and portable WCs
Retrospective application for the erection of a
building for B8 (storage) use.
Enforcement action relating to caravans/mobile
homes on site and additional building erected
Certificate of existing lawful development for the
use of part of the land for the siting of no more than
three caravans for human habitation
Expansion of the existing caravan site

190674

Variation to Conditions 10 and 11 of 173248 by
modifying occupation restrictions of caravans
3no. commercial storage buildings (retrospective)

192713

1no. commercial storage building (retrospective)

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
1.24 hectares (A Better Service site)
Floor space
590m2
Parking spaces Informal parking within 2050m2 of external area
Employment
Unknown

70

Refused 29
January 1970
Refused 29
August 1985
Dismissed 18
December 1986
Approved 3
December 1986
Approved 27
November 1987
Approved 8
February 1991
Issued 21
August 1990
Dismissed 19
April 1991
Approved 23
August 1993
Refused 13
June 1995
Refused 6
March 1997
Refused 6
March 1997
Approved 19
October 2000
Approved 4
December 2001
Approved 25
March 2009
Approved 1
August 2014
Commenced 27
February 2017
Approved 21
September
2017
Approved 2
January 2018
Approved 17
April 2018
Refused 3 May
2019
Pending

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
WBC Ecology
No objection, on the grounds that the application is retrospective.
WBC Env. Health No objection.
WBC Highways
No objection, subject to details of car and cycle parking (not
including HGVs).
Officer comment: See comments in ‘Highway Access and Parking
Provision’ and Condition 3
REPRESENTATIONS
Charvil Parish
Objections are raised on the following grounds:
Council
 There is planning permission that allows for the storage of nine
vehicles only, not 12
 Traffic impacts from HGVs upon Park Lane, including upon the
nearby school
Officer comment: Traffic impacts are considered to be acceptable,
as noted in ‘Highway Access and Parking Provision’.


Noise disturbance from non-compliance with hours of use

Officer comment: Operating hours are controlled in Condition 3 and
discussed in ‘Residential Amenities’. Any existing noise concerns
relating to A Better Service elsewhere on the site are outside the
scope of this application and would require further consideration by
the Council’s Environmental Health department.


Woodley Town
Council
Local Members
Neighbours

Community involvement has not included the parish council

Officer comment: Noted.
No objection.
No comments received.

APPLICANTS POINTS
There has been a long standing permission for business use of the site. Recent planning
permissions have helped support sustainable growth and expansion of various
businesses within the site.
The additional buildings are contained within a small well screened corner within the
site. As such they are visually discrete and there is no material intensification in terms of
traffic movements. Their visual impact and impact in terms of residential amenity and
traffic cause no material harm, particularly when judged in relation to the already
authorised commercial uses.
The use provides a valuable service and additional jobs within the locality. Such small
businesses are encouraged by both national and local policies.
The officer’s report for the last storage building approved on this site (F/2014/0703)
concluded as follows:

71

“The detached building has been erected within the main site of an established
business use and is well screened from the wider countryside. The building will be
used for storage only and would not result in a significant increase in the use of the
site. The position and use of the building is therefore considered to not cause
significant harm to the countryside or to the character of the area. There are no
other matters of concern and therefore this application is recommended for
approval.”
There are considered to be no new material considerations raised by this application
which could lead to a different conclusion.
PLANNING POLICY
National Policy NPPF
Core Strategy CP1
2010
CP2
CP3
CP6
CP9
CP11
CP15
Managing
CC01
Development
CC03
Delivery Local CC06
Plan 2014
CC07
CC09
CC10
TB11
TB20
TB21
Borough
BDG
Design Guide

National Planning Policy Framework
Sustainable Development
Inclusive Communities
General Principles for Development
Managing Travel Demand
Scale and Location of Development Proposals
Proposals outside development limits (including countryside)
Employment Development
Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
Noise
Parking
Development and Flood Risk (from all sources)
Sustainable Drainage
Core Employment Areas
Service Arrangements and Deliveries for Employment Use
Landscape Character
Sections 6-8

PLANNING ISSUES
Description of Development
1.

The proposal involves retrospective approval for the construction of three
commercial warehouse buildings (with a total footprint of 590m2) at the rear of the
existing commercial site operated by A Better Service, which is a waste removal
and drainage services business. The use is Class B8 (storage and distribution).
Two of the three warehouses are operated by Two Tones Limited (a film hire
business) and the third warehouse is operated by A Better Service. It includes an
area of approximately 2050m2 to the north of the building for parking and turning
(not storage). Access will be via the existing access onto Park Lane.

2.

The application is a resubmission of 190674, which was refused for the following
reason:
1.

Inappropriate development in the countryside

72

By virtue of its excessive size and footprint, encroachment away from the
original
buildings and parking area, the proposal represents inappropriate
development in the countryside. It results in adverse harm to the character of
the area and detracts from the openness of the countryside.
This is contrary to paragraphs 84 and 170 of the National Planning Policy
Framework 2018, Policies CP1, CP3 and CP11 of the Core Strategy 2010,
Policies CC02, CC03 and TB21 of the Managing Development Delivery Local
Plan 2014 and RD1, NR1 and NR5-NR9 of the Borough Design Guide
Supplementary Planning Document 2012.
Site Description
3.

A two storey detached dwelling house fronts Park Lane to the east or front of the
property. Behind the house (and a high gated fence) is a commercial waste
disposal company with a permanent office building towards the front of the site,
one large storage shed/workshop in the centre of the site and six other sheds of
varying sizes interspersed across the property, including the three attached sheds
at the rear of the site that form part of this application. A row of six fixed caravans
line the northern side boundary. There is likely to be in excess of fifty parked
vehicles, with waste collection trucks making up the bulk of these vehicles.

4.

The surrounding area is countryside, with woodland to the west and east, the main
western railway line to the south and Charvil Primary School to the north. The
southern settlement edge of Charvil lies 225m north of the site with the northern
part of the area between the settlement edge and the subject site currently under
construction for 25 dwellings, which was approved at appeal (planning reference
F/2014/2503).

Principle of Development
5.

The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour
of sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development
Plan. Policy CC01 of the MDD Local Plan states that planning applications that
accord with the policies in the Development Plan for Wokingham Borough will be
approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Principle of Development
6.

There has been gradual encroachment of development over the years since the
original change of use of buildings from agricultural to business in 1992. Much of it
has been undertaken without planning permission, including the warehouse
building that is the subject of 192713, the three subject warehouse buildings at the
rear of the site and the caravans along the northern boundary, the latter of which
have now been formalised and granted a licence.

7.

Policy CP15 of the Core Strategy allows for minor extensions of buildings in
employment use and paragraph 83 of the NPPF seeks to encourage the
sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas, both
through conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new buildings. The use
of the building would be broadly supportive of both of the above policies.

73

8.

However, the site is located outside the settlement boundary and Policy CP11 of
the Core Strategy does not permit development outside of development limits
unless it represents a sustainable rural or recreational enterprise, where it does not
lead to excessive expansion away from the original building and is contained within
a building suitable for conversion. The retrospective proposal does not fall within
any of the above categories as it relates to a business operation and the previous
planning application was refused because it represented further encroachment
away from the original buildings on the site.

9.

In response, the agent has argued that the site is classed as previously developed
land and the site can be used for the open storage of items as there are no
conditions restricting this on past planning permissions, particularly in this area of
the site. The agent refers to this as the fallback position of uncontrolled external
storage on the site.

10.

A review of the last application for a warehouse building on the wider site
(F/2014/0703) indicates that the land to the rear of the site is within the approved
red line plan but it is undeveloped. It could only be considered as previously
developed land if it is lawful. A site inspection also indicated that there is a degree
of unchecked storage in the area to the north of the three warehouse units but
there are also parked vehicles. A review of the planning file does confirm that there
is no restriction relating to open air storage of items in this area.

11.

In this respect, a review of the proposal has concluded that whilst there is a
departure from countryside policy, the importance of paragraph 83 of the NPPF is
given greater weight and the relevance of the fallback of open air storage (some of
which already occurs) is relevant. On this basis, the principle of the development is
acceptable.

Sustainability
12.

Policies CP1, CP6, CP9 and CP11 of the Core Strategy permit development where
it is based on sustainable credentials in terms of access to local facilities and
services and the promotion of sustainable transport. Expanding on this, paragraph
4.57 in the Core Strategy aims to prevent the proliferation of development in areas
away from existing development limits as they are not generally well located for
facilities and services and would lead to the increase in use of the private car.

13.

The site is outside settlement limits but is contained within an existing business on
the immediate southern outskirts of Charvil. There are eastbound and westbound
bus stops on Old Bath Road to the north, which is within 840m walking distance. It
allows for good morning and afternoon connections to Reading, High Wycombe
and Wokingham. Furthermore, there is also a pub, petrol station and convenience
store within 850m.

14.

The sustainability credentials are modest but otherwise acceptable when
accounting for paragraph 84 of the NPPF, which states that planning policies and
decisions should recognise that sites to meet local business and community needs
in rural areas may have to be found adjacent to or beyond existing settlements,
and in locations that are not well served by public transport. In these
circumstances it will be important to ensure that development is sensitive to its

74

surroundings, does not have an unacceptable impact on local roads and exploits
any opportunities to make a location more sustainable (for example by improving
the scope for access on foot, by cycling or by public transport). The use of
previously developed land, and sites that are physically well-related to existing
settlements, should be encouraged where suitable opportunities exist.
Character of the Area
15.

Paragraph 170(b) of the NPPF requires that planning applications enhance the
natural and local environment by ‘recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of
the countryside, and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem
services – including the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile
agricultural land, and of trees and woodland.’

16.

Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy also states that development must be appropriate
in terms of its scale, mass, layout, built form, height and character of the area and
must be of high quality design. NR1, NR5, NR8 and NR9 of the Borough Design
Guide also aim to ensure that development respond to the site and local context,
including in the use of materials.

17.

The three warehouse buildings are of typical warehouse construction and are not
out of place within an industrial or rural setting. They have a combined footprint of
590m2, a height of 6.1m and a volume of 3,200m3.

18.

They are located at the rear of the site, away from view on Park Lane but will be
visible from the railway line, although views are obtained in fleeting glances in the
backdrop of the other commercial buildings and activities. There is some loss of
openness at the rear of the site.

19.

However, paragraph 80 of the NPPF seeks to create the conditions in which
businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be placed on
the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking into account both
local business needs and wider opportunities for development. Paragraph 83 also
aims to promote the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in
rural areas, both through conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new
buildings and the development and diversification of agricultural and other landbased rural businesses. It should be read in the context of paragraph 84, which
states that it is ‘important to ensure that development is sensitive to its
surroundings’.

20.

The previous application referred to the harm to the countryside and the loss of
openness. The assessment of the subject application gives greater consideration
to promoting the growth of the existing business and the fact that outdoor storage
is currently unchecked.

21.

There is encroachment of development but they are only readily visible in views
from the railway line and even then, only viewed momentarily. There are some
items stored in the item at present and the approval of this application would limit
the area to the parking of vehicles (and not storage of vehicles). This would
indicate that the storage of existing fire engines in front of two of the warehouse
units operated by Bells and Two Tones would be in contravention of Condition 3.

75

As such, a more formalised parking arrangement would lead to a more a managed
and orderly storage arrangement at the rear of the site.
22.

On the basis of the above planning balance, the proposal has an acceptable
impact upon the setting of the countryside and is viewed as acceptable.

Residential Amenities
23.

Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy aims to protect neighbouring amenity. The site
does not adjoin any neighbouring residential properties. It is 270m to the
settlement edge in Charvil and 100m from the edge of the approved residential
scheme to the north of the site. Accordingly, by virtue of this separation distances,
the high noise levels of the railway line to the south and low noise generation that
arises from the vehicle storage business, there are no foreseeable adverse
amenity concerns.

24.

There are six caravans on the northern boundary and a dwelling at the front, both
of which form part of the site. Previous planning applications have acknowledged
the mixed use nature of the site and the land use conflict but it was acceptable on
the basis of the circumstances of the on-site accommodation being used by
workers. The warehouse is unlikely to exacerbate this issue, particularly given the
application is retrospective.

Highway Access and Parking Provision
Car parking
25.

Policy CC07 and Appendix 2 of the MDD Local Plan stipulates minimum off street
parking standards. The warehouses comprises 590m2 of Class B8 floorspace,
which requires a total of 12 car spaces and a minimum of one HGV space (15m x
3.5m) of up to three HGV spaces – one for each warehouse unit. It is clear in
indicative drawings that these spaces can be achieved within the specified 2050m2
of parking area to the front of the building and Condition 3 requires these details
within one month of the planning permission. In doing so, the Council’s Highways
Officer raises no objection.

Cycle parking
26.

Cycle parking is required at a rate of one long term space per 200m2 and
consistent with the justification provided in paragraph 14 above, the cycle parking
is required in order to address the modest sustainability credentials. The three
spaces (or one within each unit) can be accommodated within the units without
compromising the internal usability of the space. See Condition 3.

Access
27.

Access will be via the existing entrance at Park Lane, which is afforded adequate
splays and turning and forward movement is assured.

76

Traffic generation
28.

VAR/2000/1626 has granted approval for the operation of nine six wheel gully and
cesspool emptying vehicles and nine staff cars associated with A Better Service,
which is an increase from six vehicles as approved in planning permission 41110,
dated 23 August 1993. There has been no change since that time but Condition 8
of F/2009/0164 also states that the maximum number of vehicle movements
associated with the development (storage and distribution of empty skips and
portable WCs) shall not exceed 14 (7 in and 7·out) Monday to Saturday.

29.

There are an abundance of vehicles across the site and it is possible that A Better
Service no longer complies with this condition although this is a separate matter for
enforcement and there are also several other business within the site that would
not be constrained by this condition. Notwithstanding this, it is indicated that the
film hire use within two of the warehouses has minimal daily traffic movements and
there is no in principle disagreement on this point. The third of the warehouses is
used as a workshop or storage area for A Better Service and on its own, it is not
considered to represent an adverse traffic issue.

30.

More generally, the Class B8 use implies low traffic movements and this is
reflected in a low parking generation rate. With limitations imposed upon external
storage in Condition 5, the number of vehicles will remain low and it is reasonable
to conclude that traffic movements will be accommodated within the surrounding
road network. On this basis, it is not considered necessary to limit the number of
movements by condition.

Landscaping and Trees
31.

Policy CC03 of the MDD Local Plan aims to protect green infrastructure networks,
retain existing trees and establish appropriate landscaping and Policy TB21
requires consideration of the landscape character. The site adjoins woodland to
the west but has been built on cleared land. As such, there are no implications for
existing landscaping and trees and no objection is raised. Condition 2, however,
does requires additional landscape screening along the boundary with the railway
line, which is intended to soften the commercial nature of the building rather than
screen it given the railway lies on an embankment.

Ecology
32.

Policy TB23 of the MDD Local Plan requires the incorporation of new biodiversity
features, buffers between habitats and species of importance and integration with
the wider green infrastructure network.

33.

The site adjoins Sandpit Copse to the west, which is a Local Wildlife Site and
Priority Habitat. The Council’s Ecology Officer has reviewed the proposal and has
suggested that an ecological assessment would have been needed to be
undertaken to ensure that there were no adverse impacts of the adjacent LWS.
However, as it is a retrospective application and the works have been carried out,
there are no objections to this application on ecological grounds.

77

Building Sustainability
34.

Policy CC04 of the MDD Local Plan and the Sustainable Design and Construction
SPD require sustainable design and conservation. The buildings are generic
warehouse construction and despite the fact that they have already been
constructed, no real sustainability measures would be necessary.

Waste Storage
35.

Policy CC04 of the MDD Local Plan requires adequate internal and external
storage for the segregation of waste. The use of the warehouse is unlikely to
generate any excessive amount of waste and where it does, it would be
accommodated within the existing operations of the site. On this basis, no
objection is raised.

Flooding and Drainage
36.

Policy CC09 of the MDD Local Plan requires consideration of flood risk from
historic flooding. The site and access thereto is located within Flood Zone 1 and
the proposal represents no additional flood risk or vulnerability. It is therefore
acceptable in terms of Policy CC09.

37.

Policy CC10 of the MDD Local Plan requires sustainable drainage methods and
the minimisation of surface water flow. The additional footprint of the buildings
would pose some drainage impact but because of its retrospective nature and with
limited hard surfacing within the site, no objection is raised.

Contamination
38.

The area is listed as potentially contaminated on Council’s inventory but the use of
the site is not changing. As such, no objection is raised.

Community Infrastructure Levy
39.

Not applicable.

The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010)
40. In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its
obligations under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected
characteristics include age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief. There is no
indication or evidence (including from consultation on the application) that the
protected groups identified by the Act have or will have different needs,
experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular planning application
and there would be no significant adverse impacts upon protected groups as a
result of the development.

78

CONCLUSION
41. The retrospective proposal for additional warehouse space at the rear of the site
represents a degree of encroachment but is still an acceptable form of
development (both in terms of the structure and the use) within an existing
commercial site. It is also supportive of NPPF guidelines in supporting business
growth and would allow for a more orderly arrangement at the rear of the site by
virtue of formalisation of the curtilage of the building. Subject to Conditions 2 and 3
requiring additional landscaping and parking details and Conditions 4 and 5
limiting the hours of use and external storage, there will be satisfactory traffic,
amenity and character outcomes for the site and no objection is raised.

79

This page is intentionally left blank

PLANNING REF
: 192648
PROPERTY ADDRESS : 30 Park View Drive South
: Charvil, Wokingham
: RG10 9QX
SUBMITTED BY
: Charvil Parish Council
DATE SUBMITTED
: 25/10/2019
COMMENTS:
Charvil Parish Council would like to comment on this application as follows:
1. There is currently permission for nine commercial
vehicles to be parked on this site. The application states that there is
permission for 12 commercial vehicles this is no t the case as far as the
Parish Council can ascertain; there is a Goods Vehicle Operators Licence
(GVOL) for 12, but not planning permission. There is no permission for the
Bells and Two Tones vehicles, nor a Rabbit Self Hire vehicle that also has a
GVO L to operate from the site. The Parish Council would have objected to the
extension to 12 vehicles in the GVOL if it had been permitted, but Parish
Council can only object in exceptional circumstance. The road is narrow, is now
home to a Primary School, which was not the case when permission on this site
was first granted and is now subject to a new development currently being
built. The Parish Council has no objection to the site being
used commercially but is concerned that the type of business allowe d should
not include increased goods vehicle movements as complaints from residents have
increased in recent years. There are grave concerns that the conditions of only
working on Mondays to Saturdays 7am to 8pm are not being enforced. It is not
fair on t he residents of Park Lane that such noisy vehicles should be using
the road late at night and on Sundays and Bank Holidays.
2. Having read both the report from the Planning officer and the Planning,
Design and Access Statement, that Bells and Two Tones L td create minimal
vehicle usage on the local roads, we feel that this needs to be challenged.
Residents of Charvil see these vehicles out and about daily possibly some
people assume they are genuine fire and rescue vehicles, which is why they dont
caus e much offence but they are frequently moving from the site. Charvil
Parish Council do not regard this site as
suitable for this business either, because of this; if they were just being
stored there, that one be one thing but because of their regular u se, they
also have an impact on Charvil residents.
3.In the
Planning, Design and Access Statement, it states that there has been informal
community engagement. It would have been helpful if this Community Engagement
had stretched to the Parish Council , as there is no desire to prevent the site
from use as a commercial site, but rather to balance commercial activity with
the interests of residents.

81

This page is intentionally left blank

83

84

85

86

87

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 65.
Application Number
192713

Expiry Date
13 January 2019

Parish
Charvil

Ward
Charvil

Applicant
Site Address
Proposal

Mr M Bicknell
The Homestead, Park Lane, Charvil RG10 9TR
Full application for the proposed erection of 1no.
commercial storage building (Use Class B8) (retrospective)
Type
Full
Officer
Simon Taylor
Reason for determination Major application (>1 hectare)
by committee
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on Monday, 16 December 2019
Assistant Director – Place

SUMMARY
The site lies in designated countryside to the south of Charvil with the main western
railway corridor forming the southern boundary, a brook forming the northern boundary
and woodland defining the rear boundary. It has operated with a commercial use since
the 1960s but has operated as A Better Service (trade waste collection) since 1992.
Additional uses include storage for several other businesses, a dwelling at the front of
the site and six caravans on the northern side boundary which are used by workers of
the business.
The application is retrospective in nature and relates to the erection of a commercial
warehouse building in the middle of the site and its use for Class B8 storage. It is
currently used by Rabbit Vehicle Hire Limited. The company provide vehicles for hire
from their premises in Calcot and Didcot. The building is used for the storage of their
historic paperwork as well as storage of vehicles when not required at the above
mentioned premises. Vehicles are not hired from this site and no customers visit the site.
Parking and turning space is proposed at the rear of the building.
The building is of modest proportions and centrally located in the site and the use is
appropriate in terms of the surrounding commercial uses. There are minimal impacts
upon the character of the countryside and the traffic implications are viewed as
acceptable. Hours of use are controlled by Condition 5 to protect neighbour amenity,
external storage is prohibited by Condition 4 to prevent the accumulation of clutter,
formal parking arrangements are required by Condition 3 and additional landscaping
details are required by Condition 2. Subject to these stipulations, the proposal is
acceptable and no objection is raised.
PLANNING STATUS

Designated Countryside

Adjacent to Local Wildlife Site (Sandpit Copse)

Adjacent to Priority Habitat (Broadleaved and mixed deciduous woodland)

Adjacent to Biodiversity Opportunity Area (Loddon Valley Gravel Pits)

Wind turbine safeguarding zone

Contaminated land consultation zone

Historic contaminative land use

Minerals consultation zone

Sand and gravel extraction consultation zone

89








Groundwater protection zone
Adjacent o Railway Corridor
Flood Zone 1
Adjacent to Archaeological site
Bat consultation zone
Non-classified road

RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following conditions and informatives:
Conditions
1)

Approved details
This permission is in respect of the unnumbered plans titled Location Plan, Bock
Plan, Side, Side, Rear and Front, all received by the local planning authority on 14
October 2019. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details unless other minor variations are agreed in writing after the date
of this permission and before implementation with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried
out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby
approved.

2)

Landscaping details
Within one month of the date of this planning permission, a scheme of landscaping
for the purposes of softening the development along the boundary with the railway
corridor, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. It shall include species, planting sizes, spacing and numbers of
trees/shrubs to be planted.
Planting shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details in the first
planting and seeding seasons. Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years
from the date of the planting (or within a period of 5 years of the occupation of the
buildings in the case of retained trees and shrubs) die, are removed or become
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with
others of similar size and species or otherwise as approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
Reason: To ensure adequate planting in the interests of visual amenity and
character within the countryside.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and CP11 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21.

3)

Parking and turning details
Within one month of the date of this planning permission, vehicle parking, HGV
parking, cycle parking and turning space shall be annotated on a plan submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The vehicle parking and
turning space so-approved shall be retained in accordance with the approved

90

details and the parking space remain available for the parking of vehicles at all
times and the turning space shall not be used for any purpose other than vehicle
turning.
Reason: To provide adequate off-street parking and turning space. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 and CP6 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policy CC07.
4)

External storage
No materials, plant, machinery, containers, equipment or vehicles shall be stored
outside buildings either within the site defined by the Block Plan or within the wider
site as noted on the Location Plan.
Reason: In order to safeguard the visual amenities of the area.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3

5)

Hours of use
The storage use hereby permitted shall not operate other than between the hours
of 7am and 8pm Monday to Saturday and shall not operate at all on Sundays or
Bank or National Holidays.
Reason: To safeguard residential amenities.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policy CC06.

Informatives
1)

Discussion
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining
this application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations,
including planning policies and any representations that may have been received.
This planning application has been the subject of positive and proactive
discussions with the applicant in terms of amended plans being submitted by the
applicant to overcome character concerns. The decision to grant planning
permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable
development as set out in the NPPF is considered to be a positive outcome of
these discussions.

PLANNING HISTORY
App No.
Description
0/120/1960
Detached bungalow (outline)
50/1961
O/83/1967
R/106/1969

Construction of detached bungalow (outline)
Construction of a workshop to be used for the
repair of commercial vehicles and plant
Construction of a workshop to be used for the
repair of commercial vehicles and plant

91

Decision/Date
Approved 23
March 1961
Approved 1961
Refused 5
March 1967
Refused 1969

R/13/1970

BRA1921

Construction of a workshop to be used for the
repair of agricultural implements and vehicles
Retention of buildings and yard for the storage of
building materials.
Appeal against planning ref 24004 dismissed and
enforcement notice upheld
Addition of a bedroom to the detached bungalow

29042

First floor extension to the detached bungalow

37039

Loft conversion of dwelling

CB/WD/PLEA/C
HA/7
C/90/H0330/16/
P6
41110

Enforcement action seeking the removal of touring
caravans and trailers
Appeal against enforcement notice
CB/WD/PLEA/CHA/7
CoU of an agricultural buildings for maintenance
and repair of commercial vehicles
Installation of three storage tanks for effluent

24004

F/1995/60388
96/64483/VAR
97/64873/VAR
VAR/2000/1626
RTP/2001/4983
F/2009/0164
F/2014/0703
083397
171283

173248
180471

Variation of Condition 1 of 64483 to allow
continued use
Extension of time period for 64483
Variation of Condition 6 of 41110 to allow the
parking of nine vehicles on site.
Renewal of VAR/2000/1626 to allow the parking of
nine vehicles on site.
Retrospective change of use of land for the storage
and distribution of empty skips and portable WCs
Retrospective application for the erection of a
building for B8 (storage) use.
Enforcement action relating to caravans/mobile
homes on site and additional building erected
Certificate of existing lawful development for the
use of part of the land for the siting of no more than
three caravans for human habitation
Expansion of the existing caravan site

190674

Variation to Conditions 10 and 11 of 173248 by
modifying occupation restrictions of caravans
3no. commercial storage buildings (retrospective)

192648

3no. commercial storage buildings (retrospective)

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
1.24 hectares (A Better Service site)
Floor space
120m2
Parking spaces Informal parking within 185m2 of external area
Employment
Unknown

92

Refused 29
January 1970
Refused 29
August 1985
Dismissed 18
December 1986
Approved 3
December 1986
Approved 27
November 1987
Approved 8
February 1991
Issued 21
August 1990
Dismissed 19
April 1991
Approved 23
August 1993
Refused 13
June 1995
Refused 6
March 1997
Refused 6
March 1997
Approved 19
October 2000
Approved 4
December 2001
Approved 25
March 2009
Approved 1
August 2014
Commenced 27
February 2017
Approved 21
September
2017
Approved 2
January 2018
Approved 17
April 2018
Refused 3 May
2019
Pending

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
WBC Highways
No objection, subject to details of car and cycle parking (not
including HGVs).
Officer comment: See comments in ‘Highway Access and
Parking Provision’ and Condition 3.
REPRESENTATIONS
Charvil Parish Council No comments received in relation to subject application.
Woodley Town Council No objection.
Local Members
No comments received.
Neighbours
APPLICANTS POINTS
There has been a long standing permission for business use of the site. Recent planning
permissions have helped support sustainable growth and expansion of various
businesses within this discrete commercial enclave.
The additional building is sited adjacent to an existing building within a small well
screened area of this commercial site. As such it is visually discrete and there is no
material intensification in terms of traffic movements. The visual impact and impact in
terms of residential amenity and traffic cause no material harm, particularly when judged
in relation to the already authorised commercial use.
The use provides a valuable service and additional jobs within the locality. Such small
businesses are encouraged by both national and local policies.
The officer’s report for the last storage building approved on this site (F/2014/0703)
concluded as follows:
“The detached building has been erected within the main site of an established
business use and is well screened from the wider countryside. The building will be
used for storage only and would not result in a significant increase in the use of the
site. The position and use of the building is therefore considered to not cause
significant harm to the countryside or to the character of the area. There are no
other matters of concern and therefore this application is recommended for
approval.”
There are considered to be no new material considerations raised by this application
which could lead to a different conclusion.
PLANNING POLICY
National Policy NPPF
Core Strategy CP1
2010
CP2
CP3
CP6
CP9
CP11
CP15
CC01

National Planning Policy Framework
Sustainable Development
Inclusive Communities
General Principles for Development
Managing Travel Demand
Scale and Location of Development Proposals
Proposals outside development limits (including countryside)
Employment Development
Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

93

Managing
Development
Delivery Local
Plan 2014

Borough
Design Guide

CC03
CC06
CC07
CC09
CC10
TB11
TB20
TB21
BDG

Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
Noise
Parking
Development and Flood Risk (from all sources)
Sustainable Drainage
Core Employment Areas
Service Arrangements and Deliveries for Employment Use
Landscape Character
Sections 6-8

PLANNING ISSUES
Description of Development
1.

The proposal involves retrospective approval for the construction of a commercial
warehouse buildings (with a footprint of 128m2) on the southern side of the
existing commercial site operated by A Better Service, which is a waste removal
and drainage services business. The use is Class B8 (storage and distribution)
and it is currently occupied by a car rental business for storage purposes (Rabbit
Vehicle Hire Limited). It includes an area of 185m2 to the west of the building for
parking and turning (not storage). Access will be via the existing access onto Park
Lane.

Site Description
2.

A two storey detached dwelling house fronts Park Lane to the east or front of the
property. Behind the house (and a high gated fence) is a commercial waste
disposal company with a permanent office building towards the front of the site,
one large storage shed/workshop in the centre of the site and six other sheds of
varying sizes interspersed across the property, including the three attached sheds.
A row of six fixed caravans line the northern side boundary. There is likely to be in
excess of fifty parked vehicles, with waste collection trucks making up the bulk of
these vehicles.

3.

The surrounding area is countryside, with woodland to the west and east, the main
western railway line to the south and Charvil Primary School to the north. The
southern settlement edge of Charvil lies 225m north of the site with the northern
part of the area between the settlement edge and the subject site currently under
construction for 25 dwellings, which was approved at appeal (planning reference
F/2014/2503).

Principle of Development
4.

The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour
of sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development
Plan. Policy CC01 of the MDD Local Plan states that planning applications that
accord with the policies in the Development Plan for Wokingham Borough will be
approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

94

Principle of Development
5.

There has been gradual encroachment of development over the years since the
original change of use of buildings from agricultural to business in 1992. Much of it
has been undertaken without planning permission, including the subject
warehouse building, three warehouses at the rear of the site and the caravans
along the northern boundary, the latter of which have now been formalised and
granted a licence.

6.

Policy CP15 of the Core Strategy allows for minor extensions of buildings in
employment use and paragraph 83 of the NPPF seeks to encourage the
sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas, both
through conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new buildings. The use
of the building would be broadly supportive of both of the above policies.

7.

However, the site is located outside the settlement boundary and Policy CP11 of
the Core Strategy does not permit development outside of development limits
unless it represents a sustainable rural or recreational enterprise, where it does
not lead to excessive expansion away from the original building and is contained
within a building suitable for conversion. The retrospective proposal does not fall
within any of the above categories as it relates to a business operation. However,
the building is sited within an approved and established commercial operation and
is well contained within the middle of the site, with development on three sides
and the embankment of the railway line to the south.

8.

In this respect, whilst there is a departure from countryside policy, there is no
immediate harm to the wider area and enforcement action to require the removal
of the building is considered to be unnecessary. On this basis, the principle of the
development is acceptable.

Sustainability
9.

Policies CP1, CP6, CP9 and CP11 of the Core Strategy permit development
where it is based on sustainable credentials in terms of access to local facilities
and services and the promotion of sustainable transport. Expanding on this,
paragraph 4.57 in the Core Strategy aims to prevent the proliferation of
development in areas away from existing development limits as they are not
generally well located for facilities and services and would lead to the increase in
use of the private car.

10.

The site is outside settlement limits but is contained within an existing business on
the immediate southern outskirts of Charvil. There are eastbound and westbound
bus stops on Old Bath Road to the north, which is within 840m walking distance. It
allows for good morning and afternoon connections to Reading, High Wycombe
and Wokingham. Furthermore, there is also a pub, petrol station and convenience
store within 850m.

11.

The sustainability credentials are modest but otherwise acceptable when
accounting for paragraph 84 of the NPPF, which states that planning policies and
decisions should recognise that sites to meet local business and community
needs in rural areas may have to be found adjacent to or beyond existing
settlements, and in locations that are not well served by public transport. In these

95

circumstances it will be important to ensure that development is sensitive to its
surroundings, does not have an unacceptable impact on local roads and exploits
any opportunities to make a location more sustainable (for example by improving
the scope for access on foot, by cycling or by public transport). The use of
previously developed land, and sites that are physically well-related to existing
settlements, should be encouraged where suitable opportunities exist.
Character of the Area
12.

Paragraph 170(b) of the NPPF requires that planning applications enhance the
natural and local environment by ‘recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of
the countryside, and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem
services – including the economic and other benefits of the best and most
versatile agricultural land, and of trees and woodland.’

13.

Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy also states that development must be appropriate
in terms of its scale, mass, layout, built form, height and character of the area and
must be of high quality design. Policy NR1, NR5, NR8 and NR9 of the Borough
Design Guide also aim to ensure that development respond to the site and local
context, including in the use of materials.

14.

The building is well contained within the site and is of modest proportions and
because of its location behind other existing buildings, it is not readily visible from
Park Lane. Whilst it is apparent in views from the railway line, this are obtained in
fleeting glances in a backdrop of the other commercial buildings and activities.
The character and form of the building is commercial in nature and not
inappropriate in the context of other surrounding buildings.

15.

Notwithstanding this, it is prudent to impose Condition 2, which requires details of
landscaping along part of the southern boundary with the railway line to soften
(rather than screen) the building and the wider site. In doing so, the proposal
would be satisfactory in terms of the above policies.

Residential Amenities
16.

Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy aims to protect neighbouring amenity. The site
does not adjoin any neighbouring residential properties. It is 270m to the
settlement edge in Charvil and 100m from the edge of the approved residential
scheme to the north of the site. Accordingly, by virtue of this separation distances,
the high noise levels of the railway line to the south and low noise generation that
arises from the vehicle storage business, there are no foreseeable adverse
amenity concerns.

17.

There are six caravans on the northern boundary and a dwelling at the front, both
of which form part of the site. Previous planning applications have acknowledged
the mixed use nature of the site and the land use conflict but it was acceptable on
the basis of the circumstances of the on-site accommodation being used by
workers. The warehouse is unlikely to exacerbate this issue, particularly given the
application is retrospective.

96

Highway Access and Parking Provision
Car parking
18.

Policy CC07 and Appendix 2 of the MDD Local Plan stipulates minimum off street
parking standards. The warehouses comprises 120m2 of Class B8 floorspace,
which requires a total of five car spaces. It is clear in indicative drawings that
these spaces can be achieved within the specified 187m2 of parking area to the
rear of the building and Condition 3 requires these details within one month of the
planning permission. In doing so, the Council’s Highways Officer raises no
objection.

Cycle parking
19.

Cycle parking is required at a rate of one long term space per 200m2 and
consistent with the justification provided in paragraph 11 above, the cycle parking
is required in order to address the modest sustainability credentials. The space
can be accommodated within the building without compromising the internal
usability of the space. See Condition 3.

Access
20.

Access will be via the existing entrance at Park Lane, which is afforded adequate
splays and turning and forward movement is assured.

Traffic generation
21.

VAR/2000/1626 has granted approval for the operation of nine six wheel gully and
cesspool emptying vehicles and nine staff cars associated with A Better Service,
which is an increase from six vehicles as approved in planning permission 41110,
dated 23 August 1993. There has been no change since that time but Condition 8
of F/2009/0164 also states that the maximum number of vehicle movements
associated with the development (storage and distribution of empty skips and
portable WCs) shall not exceed 14 (7 in and 7·out) Monday to Saturday.

22.

There are an abundance of vehicles across the site and it is possible that A Better
Service no longer complies with this condition although this is a separate matter
for enforcement and there are also several other business within the site that
would not be constrained by this condition. Notwithstanding this, likely traffic
generation is varied because of the variable movement of vehicles associated with
the occasional use of the building as a vehicle storage depot for an off site storage
business.

23.

More generally, the Class B8 use implies low traffic movements and this is
reflected in a low parking generation rate. With limitations imposed upon external
storage in Condition 5, the number of vehicles will remain low and it is reasonable
to conclude that traffic movements will be accommodated within the surrounding
road network. On this basis, it is not considered necessary to limit the number of
movements by condition.

97

Landscaping and Trees
24.

Policy CC03 of the MDD Local Plan aims to protect green infrastructure networks,
retain existing trees and establish appropriate landscaping and Policy TB21
requires consideration of the landscape character. The site adjoins woodland to
the west but has been built on cleared land. As such, there are no implications for
existing landscaping and trees and no objection is raised. Condition 2, however,
does requires additional landscape screening along the boundary with the railway
line, which is intended to soften the commercial nature of the building rather than
screen it given the railway lies on an embankment.

Ecology
25.

Policy TB23 of the MDD Local Plan requires the incorporation of new biodiversity
features, buffers between habitats and species of importance and integration with
the wider green infrastructure network.

26.

The site adjoins Sandpit Copse to the west, which is a Local Wildlife Site and
Priority Habitat. The Council’s Ecology Officer has reviewed the proposal and has
suggested that an ecological assessment would have been needed to be
undertaken to ensure that there were no adverse impacts of the adjacent LWS.
However, as it is a retrospective application and the works have been carried out,
there are no objections to this application on ecological grounds.

Building Sustainability
27.

Policy CC04 of the MDD Local Plan and the Sustainable Design and Construction
SPD require sustainable design and conservation. The buildings are generic
warehouse construction and despite the fact that they have already been
constructed, no real sustainability measures would be necessary.

Waste Storage
28.

Policy CC04 of the MDD Local Plan requires adequate internal and external
storage for the segregation of waste. The use of the warehouse is unlikely to
generate any excessive amount of waste and where it does, it would be
accommodated within the existing operations of the site. On this basis, no
objection is raised.

Flooding and Drainage
29.

Policy CC09 of the MDD Local Plan requires consideration of flood risk from
historic flooding. The site and access thereto is located within Flood Zone 1 and
the proposal represents no additional flood risk or vulnerability. It is therefore
acceptable in terms of Policy CC09.

30.

Policy CC10 of the MDD Local Plan requires sustainable drainage methods and
the minimisation of surface water flow. The additional footprint of the buildings
would pose some drainage impact but because of its retrospective nature, no
objection is raised.

98

Contamination
31.

The area is listed as potentially contaminated on Council’s inventory but the use of
the site is not changing. As such, no objection is raised.

Community Infrastructure Levy
32.

Not applicable.

The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010)
33. In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its
obligations under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected
characteristics include age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief. There is no
indication or evidence (including from consultation on the application) that the
protected groups identified by the Act have or will have different needs,
experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular planning application
and there would be no significant adverse impacts upon protected groups as a
result of the development.
CONCLUSION
34. The retrospective infill proposal represents an acceptable form of development
(both in terms of the structure and the use) within an existing commercial site. It is
also supportive of NPPF guidelines in supporting business growth. Subject to
Conditions 2 and 3 requiring additional landscaping and parking details and
Conditions 4 and 5 limiting the hours of use and external storage, there will be
satisfactory traffic, amenity and character outcomes for the site and no objection is
raised.

99

This page is intentionally left blank

101

102

103

104

105

106

Agenda Item 66.
Application
Number
192244

Expiry Date

Parish

Ward

19 December 2019

Wokingham Without

Wokingham Without

Applicant
Site Address
Proposal

The Owner and/or Occupier
Heathlands Farm, Honey Hill, Wokingham RG40 3BG
Full application for the proposed erection of a single storey extension
to the east elevation of the existing soft fruit processing plant to provide
additional space for automated processing and packaging
Full
Simon Taylor
Major application (site >1ha)

Type
Officer
Reason for
determination
by committee

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on Monday 16 December 2019
Assistant Director – Place

SUMMARY
Hall Hunter Partnership are the largest soft fruit producer in Europe, producing over
12,000 tonnes of fruit annually across a total of 566 hectares. Of this, 82 hectares is at
the Heathlands and Birchin lnhams sites on Heathlands Road with production including
strawberries, raspberries, blackberries and blueberries and employment extending to
over 400 permanent and 2,000 seasonal staff.
The proposal comprises a 454m2 extension to the eastern side of the existing
packhouse, processing and packaging building and will include specialised processing
plant dealing with grading, packing and labelling of soft fruits. It has been submitted
concurrently with application 192245 for a similar extension on the western side of the
same building, which is intended to be used for storage.
The existing building has been expanded extensively and regularly and changed use
since its original construction in 1962. Cumulatively, the proposed works across both
buildings represent modest extensions to the existing building and will house existing
materials and machinery that are currently stored outside of the building, thereby
enabling a more ordered arrangement. The building is not readily apparent in views, if at
all, from the public roadway and no objections were received from neighbouring
properties or from internal and external consultations. The application is recommended
for approval, subject to Condition 3 which requires consistency in building materials,
Condition 4 which requires the removal of the extensions if the approved use ceases
and Condition 6 which prohibits any mezzanine levels. Condition 5 also carries over
from the most recent approval for the building in 2007, which was imposed to limit the
amount of imported produce brought onto the site to ensure no adverse impacts arising
from traffic movements.
PLANNING STATUS

Countryside

Site promoted by owner for inclusion as residential land in the Local Plan update

Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area (5km zone)

Bat consultation zone

Grade 4 agricultural land classification

107








Contaminated land consultation zone
Nitrate vulnerable zone (surface water)
Farnborough Aerodrome consultation zone
Heathrow Aerodrome wind turbine safeguarding zone
Minerals consultation zone
Adjoins non-classified road

RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following conditions and informatives:
Conditions
1)

Timescale
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).

2)

Approved details
This permission is in respect of the plans numbered 3852/4 and 3852/5, both
dated July 2019 and received by the local planning authority on 28 August 2019
and plans numbered 3852/1A and 3852/2, both dated July 2019 and received 24
September 2019. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details unless other minor variations are agreed in writing after the date
of this permission and before implementation with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried
out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby
approved.

3)

External materials
Except where stated otherwise on the approved drawings, the materials to be
used in the construction of the external surfaces of the extension hereby permitted
shall be of similar appearance to those used in the existing building, unless other
minor variations are agreed in writing after the date of this permission and before
implementation with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3.

4)

Limitations of use
The extension hereby approved shall be used only for the storage, processing
and/or packaging of agricultural or horticultural products and for no other purpose.
The extension hereby approved shall not be used for any purpose other than
those associated with the agricultural production on the farm and handling of
imported produce. If the extension hereby approved should cease being used for

108

this purpose within the unit within 10 years from the date of substantial completion
or first use, whichever is the later, then it shall be removed from the land, and the
land shall be restored to its condition before the development took place within 3
years of the date that the use ceased.
Reason: The extension hereby approved would constitute inappropriate
development in the countryside if it were not for the proposed use.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP11 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policy TB21.
5)

Imported produce
The extension hereby approved and in F/2007/1307 shall be used for the storage
or packaging of agricultural or horticultural products primarily grown on site.
Imported produce shall not exceed 540 tonnes in any one calendar year. Imported
produce is defined as produce grown outside of Wokingham Borough Council.
The applicant shall maintain records of produce imported to the site and make
such records available to the Council within one month of any written request.
Reason: To prevent an over-development of the site that would result in additional
traffic movements and parking demand.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.

6)

Additional floorspace
No additional floorspace, including mezzanine floors, shall be constructed within
the extension hereby approved without prior written permission of the local
planning authority.
Reason: To prevent an over-development of the site and to ensure adequate
access arrangements and parking.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.

Informatives
1)

Legal agreement from F/2005/4929
HGV movements remain subject to an s106 agreement dated 10 March 2006 (in
relation to F/2005/4929) which includes a lorry routing plan and prohibits the use
of Honey Hill for HGV access.

2)

Changes to the approved plans
The applicant is reminded that should there be any change from the approved
drawings during the build of the development this may require a fresh planning
application if the changes differ materially from the approved details. Non-material
changes may be formalised by way of an application under s.96A Town and
Country Planning Act 1990.

3)

Protected species

109

This permission does not convey or imply any approval or consent required under
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for protected species. The applicant is
advised to contact Natural England with regard to any protected species that may
be found on the site.
4)

Discussion
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining
this application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations,
including planning policies and any representations that may have been received
and subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the
presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF.

PLANNING HISTORY
(Note: Applications relating to the subject building are highlighted)
App Number
Proposal
Decision
104/1956
Conversion of dairy to farm living
Approved 13 March 1956
accommodation
441/1956
Conversion of dairy to farmhouse
Approved 10 July 1956
PD/292/1962
Dutch barn
Approved 12 July 1962
R/245/1965
Implement shed and loose boxes
Approved 28 October 1965
O/149/1967
Conversion of annexe into staff living Approved 31 August 1967
accommodation
R/358/1967
Approved 26 October 1967
O/26/1969
New farmhouse (outline)
Approved 20 March 1969
610/1970
Additions and conversion of
Approved 31 December
farmhouse roof to store
1970
1426/1971
Extension to farmhouse
Approved 30 December
1971
324/1972
Renewal of O/26/1969
Approved 11 May 1972
18700
CoU of farm buildings to agricultural
Approved 13 January 1983
workers dwellings
30299
CoU of barn to residential
Approved 20 October 1983
33335
Potato and general store
Approved 8 June 1989
33620
CoU of farm buildings to residential
Refused 3 August 1989
36241
Replacement agricultural dwelling
Approved 24 October 1990
Appeal against conditions in 36241
Upheld 17 September 1992
36794
Conversion of reservoirs to fishing
Approved 20 December
ponds
1990
41246
CoU of farm buildings to B1(c) use
Approved 1 September 1993
42282
Replacement dwelling
Approved 22 March 1994
42356
Temporary mobile home
Permitted development
FP/1994/2512
New dwelling
Refused 20 June 1994
43290
CoU of farm buildings to B1(c) use
Approved 12 October 1994
44381
Extension to agricultural building for
Approved 18 August 1995
storage
44633
CoU of farm building to B1(a) use
Approved 4 September 1995
FP/1995/3839
Garage block
Approved 29 August 1995
F/2000/1295
Replacement dwelling
Approved 22 November
2000

110

F/2000/2161
F/2001/3757
F/2001/5114
F/2002/5626
F/2003/0167
F/2005/4929

AG/2006/6664
AG/2006/7068
AG/2006/7067
F/2006/8284
F/2006/9473
F/2007/1307
CLE/2010/1310

CLE/2010/1314

F/2010/1326

F/2012/0176
CLE/2014/2769
153182
183529
191827
191645
192245

Extension to horticultural unit for
covered storage
New dwelling (amendment to
F/2000/1295)
New dwelling (amendment to
F/2001/3757)
Replacement barn
Replacement Class B1 building with
access and parking
CoU of horticultural packhouse to
including handling imported produce
and new HGV access
Storage area for pallets and
packaging
Agricultural storage building
Winter storage reservoir (prior app)
Extension to packhouse
Replacement conservatory to
dwelling
Extensions to packhouse with
relocated loading bay
Siting of 21 mobile homes for
occupation of agricultural workers
with bunds, fencing and drainage
Siting of 12 mobile homes for
occupation by agricultural workers
with bunds, fencing and drainage
CoU of agricultural land for over
winter storage of vacant mobile
homes
Solar PV panels to refrigeration unit
Conversion and use of premises for
Class C4 HMO
Earthworks to create reservoir (prior
app)
Two storey side extension to dwelling
New agricultural building
Three agricultural workers dwellings
with access to Honey Hill
Extension to western side of
packhouse

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Existing land use(s)

Proposed land use(s)
Existing floor space of building
Proposed floor space of building

Approved 14 September
2000
Approved 18 May 2001
Approved 14 December
2001
Approved 15 April 2002
Approved 28 November
2003
Approved 13 March 2006

Refused 25 January 2006
Approved 23 March 2006
Approved 3 October 2006
Withdrawn 19 October 2006
Approved 20 February 2007
Approved 5 September 2007
Refused 18 August 2010

Approved 16 August 2010

Withdrawn 7 December 2012

Approved 22 March 2012
Approved 18 March 2015
Approved 23 December
2015
Approved 11 March 2019
Approved 15 October 2019
Pending
Pending

40 hectares (approximate)
Agricultural packhouse for soft fruit farm and
handling of imported produce (industrial use with
ancillary offices) within an agricultural farm
Class B1(c) light industrial (processing and
packaging of fruit)
2,981m2
3,435m2 (increase of 454m2)

111

Proposed floor space of building
(inclusive of application 192245)
Parking spaces
CONSULTATION RESPONSES
WBC Ecology
WBC Highways
WBC Drainage
WBC Environmental Health
WBC Tree and Landscape
Southern Gas Networks
WBC Cleaner and Greener
WBC Community Infrastructure
WBC Planning Policy
SSE Power Distribution
National Grid
Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue
Crime Prevention Design Advisor
Minerals and Waste
Thames Water Utilities
REPRESENTATIONS
Wokingham Without Parish Council
Local Members
Neighbours

3,979m2 (increase of 998m2)
No formal change to parking

No objection.

No comments.

No objection.
No comments.

APPLICANTS POINTS

Unit B will link directly with the existing packhouse and will be largely screened on
the west and northern sides by existing buildings and by hedgerows and earth
banking to the south and east

The scale of the proposed unit is compatible with adjacent buildings with the ridge
level maintained below those of the adjacent buildings

Provisions for protection of other species have been made in the immediate
vicinity of the proposed buildings as part of the strong environmental awareness
and creation of suitable habitats within the Heathlands Estate

The proposal will meet the requirements of Building Regulations and provide for
level access for disabled and wheelchair use

The proposed building will be very similar to the existing packhouse and storage
buildings with matching profiled roofing and cladding and blockwork plinths
PLANNING POLICY
National Policy
Core Strategy 2010

NPPF
NPPG
CP1
CP2
CP3
CP6
CP7
CP8
CP9
CP11

National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Policy Guidance
Sustainable Development
Inclusive Communities
General Principles for Development
Managing Travel Demand
Biodiversity
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
Scale and Location of Development Proposals
Proposals Outside Development Limits

112

Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan
2014

Borough Design Guide

CC01
CC03
CC04
CC06
CC07
CC09
CC10
TB21
TB23
BDG

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
Sustainable Design and Construction
Noise
Parking
Development and Flood Risk
Sustainable Drainage
Landscape Character
Biodiversity and Development
Section 4

PLANNING ISSUES
Description of Development
1.

The proposal involves the construction of a 12.3m (w) x 36.9m (l) x 4.9m-6.1m (h)
extension to the south eastern corner of the existing packhouse building that is
currently used for the storage, processing and packaging of soft fruits and
associated equipment. It will be positioned within existing hardstanding and will
replace an existing temporary and lightweight polytunnel. It will be used to house
specialised processing plant and will include a rear facing roller door.

Site Description
2.

Heathlands Farm is a 40 hectare soft fruit farm (operating as part of a larger
agricultural business) bounded by Heathlands Road to the west and Honey Hill to
the east. It comprises a variety of buildings at the north eastern corner, including
several residential dwellings for on-site workers, office buildings and car parking
as well as the subject packaging and processing building and loading bay
immediately to the south. Mobile homes for seasonal workers line the eastern
boundary and the remainder of the site is comprised of polytunnels for fruit
growing, reservoirs for water supply and trees, including along a significant length
of the farm boundary.

3.

The surrounding area is countryside and comprises a mixture of woodland and
farmland and numerous non-agricultural buildings, including The Crooked Billet
pub and some dwelling houses, including those interspersed along Honey Hill to
the north and east and Squires Garden Centre and several office and commercial
buildings along Heathlands Road to the west.

Principle of Development
4.

The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour
of sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development
Plan. Policy CC01 of the MDD Local Plan states that planning applications that
accord with the policies in the Development Plan for Wokingham Borough will be
approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Existing and proposed use
5.

The subject building was first constructed as a barn in 1962 before being enlarged
and converted to a potato store in 1989 (application 33335). Part of the building
was changed to Class B1(c) light industrial in 1993 (application 41246) before a

113

formalisation of its use as a packhouse to include the processing, production and
packaging of fruit, including imported produce from other farms and improved
access to accommodate HGVs, in 2006 (application F/2005/4929). A further
extension in 2007 (application F/2007/1307 included offices, cold store, additional
packing space and staff mess room. It was subject to Condition 9 which limited the
amount of imported produce to 540 tonnes in any calendar year in order to ensure
that it did not result in excessive HGV movements and parking demand.
6.

The subject application would expand on the existing industrial use by enlarging
the processing and packing area of the packhouse building. There are currently
items stored in the open in and around the storage bay, including pallets and
packaging and this would likely allow for some internal storage, including as part
of 192245. The continued unchanged use as light industrial (Class B1(c)) remains
acceptable in the current context. However, given the two current applications
(192244 and 192245) have a total area of 998m2, Condition 5, which limits the
amount of imported produce, is carried over from F/2007/1307 to ensure the
continued management of traffic. It is noted that there has been no application to
alter this aspect of the development as part of these applications.

Location with the Countryside
7.

The site is located outside the settlement boundary and in the countryside and in
order to maintain the quality of the environment, Policy CP11 of the Core Strategy
does not permit development outside of development limits unless it represents a
sustainable rural or recreational enterprise, where it does not lead to excessive
expansion away from the original building and is contained within a building
suitable for conversion.

8.

Paragraph 83 of the NPPF also states that decisions should enable the
sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas, both
through conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new buildings.

9.

The proposal satisfies the requirements of Policy CP11 on the following grounds:

It involves the sustainable expansion of an existing business

The extension is modest in relation to the existing building

There is no excessive encroachment away from the existing building

It would be sited on existing hardstanding and would maintain the quality of
the environment

10.

It is also broadly consistent with the intent of Paragraph 83 of the NPPF as the
business is clearly operating successfully, with continued business investment and
high levels of permanent and seasonal employment.

Character of the Area
11.

Paragraph 170(b) of the NPPF requires that planning applications enhance the
natural and local environment by ‘recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of
the countryside, and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem
services – including the economic and other benefits of the best and most
versatile agricultural land, and of trees and woodland.’

114

12.

Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states that development must be appropriate in
terms of its scale, mass, layout, built form, height and character of the area and
must be of high quality design. NR1, NR2 and RD1 of the Borough Design Guide
state that development should respond to and improve key characteristics and
features of the site. Furthermore, NR9 states that large floorplates must be
designed to minimise potential impact upon the character of the area and NR11
requires that servicing be screened

13.

RD11 and Section 8.5.4 of the Borough Design Guide SPD states that extensions
are acceptable where there is no impact upon the countryside and where there
are environmental improvements. As a reference, a 50% increase in volume for a
one storey development is acceptable when compared with the original building.

14.

The existing building has been substantially extended and enlarged since its
original construction in 1962 and the subject proposal results in the following
increases in floor area and volume against the original and existing buildings:
PD/292/1962 (Original)
33335 (1st extension)
41246 (2nd extension)
44381(3rd extension)1
F/2000/2161 (4th extension)
AG/2006/7068 (5th extension)1
F/2007/1307 (existing)
192244 (proposed)
Inclusive of 192245
% increase from original
% increase from existing
% increase from original2
% increase from existing2
1
Not implemented
2
Inclusive of 192245

Footprint
137m2
800m2
1,124m2
1,867m2
1,635m2
2,111m2
2,981m2
3,435m2
3,978m2
2407%
15%
2803%
33%

Volume
714m3
5,112m3
7,438m3
12,102m3
9,865m3
11,555m3
20,014m3
22,511m3
25,231m3
3052%
12%
3433%
26%

Height
6.1m
7.7m
7.7m
7.7m
6.1m
4.4m
5.8m
6.1m
5.9m
0%
0%
0%
0%

Width
18.3m
36.5m
54.5m
78.7m
54.5m
54.5m
78.2m
79.6m
79.6m
335%
2%
335%
2%

Length
7.4m
25.4m
25.4m
37.9m
36.3m
8.7m
68.4m
68.4m
69.1m
824%
0%
833%
1%

15.

Whilst substantial, the enlargements over the years are representative of the
expansion and successful growth of the fruit farm. No objections have been raised
in previous applications, with the exception of a prior approval where it was
deemed that the extension would not satisfy the requirements of permitted
development.

16.

Relative to the existing building, the proposal represents a modest and measured
extension. It is well contained on the eastern side of the building, with no increase
in the overall length of the building, a ridge height that sits below the main ridge
height and an existing earth bund screening its visibility and form in views from the
east. The increases in footprint and volume are acceptable when accounting for its
partially concealed location on the farm and its position within existing
hardstanding and location amongst other buildings, leading to the conclusion that
there is no excessive encroachment. More particularly, when acknowledging the
continued growth of the existing business, the benefits from the scheme outweigh
any apparent harm to the character of the area. Notwithstanding, Condition 4
requires the removal of the works if they are no longer used for their approved
use.

115

Height
17.

NR5 of the Borough Design Guide SPD note that height, bulk and massing should
respond to the local context and NR7 requires that roofs be designed to the
context of the area, including visibility. The existing building has a maximum ridge
height of 7.8m and secondary ridge of 6.1m. The proposed extension will match
the height of the secondary ridge (and eaves), which is a comfortable relationship
and will not be imposing or out of character when viewed from surrounding
vantage points.

Materials
18.

RD7 and NR8 require materials, colours and details that are of high quality and
respond to the distinctive elements of the locality. Materials include aluminium
cladding, brickwork plinth, timber doors and a metal framed roller shutter. This
broadly matches the materials of the existing building and there are no objections
on character grounds or in terms of the building retaining an agricultural form and
appearance suitable for the surrounding countryside. Condition 3 requires
consistency in materials as confirmation.

Residential Amenities
19.

Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy aims to protect neighbouring amenity. The
nearest residential dwellings are 140m to the north and 230m to the south, which
is sufficient separation to ensure no additional harm in terms of acoustic privacy,
sense of enclosure of loss of light. On that aspect, the Council’s Environmental
Health Officer raised no concern on noise disturbance grounds.

20.

Within the farm itself, there are numerous mobile homes for seasonal workers
immediately adjoining the extension to the east and several other permanent rural
workers dwellings to the north within 75m. However, given these are dwellings
that are limited to on site workers only and these workers will likely be undertaking
the noise generating activities within the extension and the wider farm, there is not
perceived to be any long term residential harm and no objection is raised.

Access and Movement
Car Parking
21.

Policy CC07 and Appendix 2 of the MDD Local Plan stipulates minimum off street
parking standards. The extension measures 454m2 in area and it is feasible that
this will result in increased production and employment across the site, implying
that there will be an increase in parking requirements.

22.

No parking plan was submitted with the application but a review of the site
indicates that there is formal parking for at least 50 cars across several separate
parking areas. These spaces are used by office employees and farm workers. The
building is used for agricultural storage and for processing and packaging but also
includes offices and a staff room.

23.

The extension would generate a maximum of an additional 18 spaces. However,
the actual increase in demand for parking is likely to be significantly less as the

116

increase in employment generation would not correspond with the supposed
increase in parking demand. Moreover, there is ample space within the site for
formal and informal parking and because of the large numbers of seasonal
workers that are housed on site, the Council’s Highways Officer has not raised
any objection on parking grounds.
Access and Traffic Generation
24.

The extension to the building would likely allow for a more efficient operation and
has the potential to result in an increase in traffic movements to and from the site,
including larger HGV vehicles.

25.

The farm is currently subject to an s106 agreement dated 10 March 2006 (in
relation to F/2005/4929) which includes a lorry routing plan and prohibits the use
of Honey Hill for HGV access. This would be maintained as part of this application
and it is considered that the existing business currently operates without any wider
disruption to traffic movements on local roads and the likely increases are not
envisaged to alter this arrangement. As noted in paragraph 6, Condition 5 does
not allow any increase in imported produce as part of this extension or that in
192245. On the basis of the above, the Council’s Highways Officer also raises no
objection.

Landscaping and Trees
26.

Policy CC03 of the MDD Local Plan aims to protect green infrastructure networks,
promote linkages between public open space and the countryside, retain existing
trees and establish appropriate landscaping and Policy TB21 requires
consideration of the landscape character.

27.

The site is in the Wokingham District Landscape Character Area N1 ‘Holme Green
Pastoral Sandy Lowland’, a landscape of moderate character and quality with a
modest sensitivity to change. The key issues affecting the character area include
the loss of hedgerows associated with the expansion of fields and the
intensification of agriculture.

28.

The Council’s Trees and Landscape Officer notes that the building is located on
existing hardstanding and because there are no impacts on any existing
landscape features, no objection is raised.

Ecology
29.

Policy TB23 of the MDD Local Plan requires the incorporation of new biodiversity
features, buffers between habitats and species of importance and integration with
the wider green infrastructure network.

30.

The existing building is unlikely to host roosting bats and the hardstanding which
on which it will be located is of no ecological value. As such, the proposal is
unlikely to affect protected species or priority habitats and the Council’s Ecology
Officer raises no objections on ecological grounds.

117

Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
31.

Policy CP8 of the Core Strategy states that where development is likely to have an
effect on the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (TBH SPA), it is
required to demonstrate that adequate measures to avoid and mitigate any
potential adverse effects are delivered.

32.

The subject property is located within 5km of the TBH SPA but the scope of the
works are minor whereby there will be no foreseeable impact upon the SPA. The
proposal is therefore acceptable in terms of Policy CP8.

Building Sustainability
33.

Policy CC04 of the MDD Local Plan and the Sustainable Design and Construction
SPD require sustainable design and conservation. The proposed works are of
modest construction for agricultural related use and are considered to be
acceptable on sustainable design grounds.

Waste Storage
34.

The building extension will enable a more managed approach to storage of items
and collection and disposal of waste. On this basis, no objections are raised and it
is considered unnecessary to impose any specific conditions.

Flooding and Drainage
35.

Policy CC09 of the MDD Local Plan requires consideration of flood risk from
historic flooding. The site and access thereto is located within Flood Zone 1 and
the proposal represents no additional flood risk or vulnerability.

36.

Policy CC10 of the MDD Local Plan requires sustainable drainage methods and
the minimisation of surface water flow. The building will be sited on existing
hardstanding such that there will be no increase in runoff, which will be directed
into the existing drainage system for the existing building. The proposal is
therefore acceptable.

Environmental Health
37.

The area is listed as potentially contaminated on Council’s inventory but primarily
because of its agricultural use. As the extension is sited on existing hardstanding,
there are no foreseeable contamination concerns and the Council’s Environmental
Health Officer has raised no objection.

Community Infrastructure Levy
38.

The application is not liable for CIL payments because of its agricultural use.

Employment Skills
39.

Given the scale and form of the extension and because there is a cumulative floor
area of less than 1000m2, an Employment Skills Plan is not required.

118

The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010)
40. In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its
obligations under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected
characteristics include age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief. There is no
indication or evidence (including from consultation on the application) that the
protected groups identified by the Act have or will have different needs,
experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular planning application
and there would be no significant adverse impacts upon protected groups as a
result of the development.
CONCLUSION
41. The proposal represents a modest and appropriate extension to an existing
packaging and processing building. It will enable the ongoing growth and
expansion of a successful local soft fruit producer and contribute to some
employment growth and there are no immediate adverse impacts upon neighbour
amenity, the character of the area or highway movements. It is acceptable, subject
to Conditions 4-6, which seek to limit the use of the building, require its removal if
not used for its approved use, prohibit additional floor area and limit the amount of
imported produce, all for traffic and character related reasons.

119

This page is intentionally left blank

121

122

123

124

Agenda Item 67.
Application
Number
192245

Expiry Date

Parish

Ward

19 December 2019

Wokingham Without

Wokingham Without

Applicant
Site Address
Proposal

The Owner and/or Occupier
Heathlands Farm, Honey Hill, Wokingham RG40 3BG
Full application for the proposed erection of a single storey extension
to the south elevation of the existing soft fruit processing plant to
provide covered storage for pallets and packaging
Full
Simon Taylor
Major application (site >1ha)

Type
Officer
Reason for
determination
by committee

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on Monday 16 December 2019
Assistant Director – Place

SUMMARY
Hall Hunter Partnership are the largest soft fruit producer in Europe, producing over
12,000 tonnes of fruit annually across a total of 566 hectares. Of this, 82 hectares is at
the Heathlands and Birchin lnhams sites on Heathlands Road with production including
strawberries, raspberries, blackberries and blueberries and employment extending to
over 400 permanent and 2,000 seasonal staff.
The proposal comprises a 544m2 extension to the south western corner of the existing
packhouse, processing and packaging building and will primarily house stored items
used for grading, packing and labelling of soft fruits. It has been submitted concurrently
with application 192244 for a similar extension on the western side of the same building,
which is intended to house processing and packaging.
The existing building has been expanded extensively and regularly and changed use
since its original construction in 1962. Cumulatively, the proposed works across both
buildings represent modest extensions to the existing building and will house existing
materials and machinery that are currently stored outside of the building, thereby
enabling a more ordered arrangement. The building is not readily apparent in views, if at
all, from the public roadway and no objections were received from neighbouring
properties or from internal and external consultations. The application is recommended
for approval, subject to Condition 3 which requires consistency in building materials,
Condition 4 which requires the removal of the extensions if the approved use ceases
and Condition 6 which prohibits any mezzanine levels. Condition 5 also carries over
from the most recent approval for the building in 2007, which was imposed to limit the
amount of imported produce brought onto the site to ensure no adverse impacts arising
from imported produce.
PLANNING STATUS

Countryside

Site promoted by owner for inclusion as residential land in the Local Plan update

Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area (5km zone)

Bat consultation zone

Grade 4 agricultural land classification

125








Contaminated land consultation zone
Nitrate vulnerable zone (surface water)
Farnborough Aerodrome consultation zone
Heathrow Aerodrome wind turbine safeguarding zone
Minerals consultation zone
Adjoins non-classified road

RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following conditions and informatives:
Conditions
1)

Timescale
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).

2)

Approved details
This permission is in respect of the plans numbered 3852/4 and 3852/5, both
dated July 2019 and received by the local planning authority on 28 August 2019
and plans numbered 3852/1A and 3852/2, both dated July 2019 and received 24
September 2019. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details unless other minor variations are agreed in writing after the date
of this permission and before implementation with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried
out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby
approved.

3)

External materials
Except where stated otherwise on the approved drawings, the materials to be
used in the construction of the external surfaces of the extension hereby permitted
shall be of similar appearance to those used in the existing building, unless other
minor variations are agreed in writing after the date of this permission and before
implementation with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3.

4)

Limitations of use
The extension hereby approved shall be used only for the storage of agricultural
or horticultural products and for no other purpose. The extension hereby approved
shall not be used for any purpose other than those associated with the agricultural
production on the farm and handling of imported produce. If the extension hereby
approved should cease being used for this purpose within the unit within 10 years

126

from the date of substantial completion or first use, whichever is the later, then it
shall be removed from the land, and the land shall be restored to its condition
before the development took place within 3 years of the date that the use ceased.
Reason: The extension hereby approved would constitute inappropriate
development in the countryside if it were not for the proposed use.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP11 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policy TB21.
5)

Imported produce
The extension hereby approved and in F/2007/1307 shall be used for the storage
or packaging of agricultural or horticultural products primarily grown on site.
Imported produce shall not exceed 540 tonnes in any one calendar year. Imported
produce is defined as produce grown outside of Wokingham Borough Council.
The applicant shall maintain records of produce imported to the site and make
such records available to the Council within one month of a written request.
Reason: To prevent an over-development of the site that would result in additional
traffic movements and parking demand.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.

6)

Additional floorspace
No additional floorspace, including mezzanine floors, shall be constructed within
the extension hereby approved without prior written permission of the local
planning authority.
Reason: To prevent an over-development of the site and to ensure adequate
access arrangements and parking.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.

Informatives
1)

Legal agreement from F/2005/
HGV movements remain subject to an s106 agreement dated 10 March 2006 (in
relation to F/2005/4929) which includes a lorry routing plan and prohibits the use
of Honey Hill for HGV access.

2)

Changes to the approved plans
The applicant is reminded that should there be any change from the approved
drawings during the build of the development this may require a fresh planning
application if the changes differ materially from the approved details. Non-material
changes may be formalised by way of an application under s.96A Town and
Country Planning Act 1990.

127

3)

Protected species
This permission does not convey or imply any approval or consent required under
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for protected species. The applicant is
advised to contact Natural England with regard to any protected species that may
be found on the site.

4)

Discussion
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining
this application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations,
including planning policies and any representations that may have been received
and subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the
presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF.

PLANNING HISTORY
(Note: Applications relating to the subject building are highlighted)
App Number
Proposal
Decision
104/1956
Conversion of dairy to farm living
Approved 13 March 1956
accommodation
441/1956
Conversion of dairy to farmhouse
Approved 10 July 1956
PD/292/1962
Dutch barn
Approved 12 July 1962
R/245/1965
Implement shed and loose boxes
Approved 28 October 1965
O/149/1967
Conversion of annexe into staff living Approved 31 August 1967
accommodation
R/358/1967
Approved 26 October 1967
O/26/1969
New farmhouse (outline)
Approved 20 March 1969
610/1970
Additions and conversion of
Approved 31 December
farmhouse roof to store
1970
1426/1971
Extension to farmhouse
Approved 30 December
1971
324/1972
Renewal of O/26/1969
Approved 11 May 1972
18700
CoU of farm buildings to agricultural
Approved 13 January 1983
workers dwellings
30299
CoU of barn to residential
Approved 20 October 1983
33335
Potato and general store
Approved 8 June 1989
33620
CoU of farm buildings to residential
Refused 3 August 1989
36241
Replacement agricultural dwelling
Approved 24 October 1990
Appeal against conditions in 36241
Upheld 17 September 1992
36794
Conversion of reservoirs to fishing
Approved 20 December
ponds
1990
41246
CoU of farm buildings to B1(c) use
Approved 1 September 1993
42282
Replacement dwelling
Approved 22 March 1994
42356
Temporary mobile home
Permitted development
FP/1994/2512
New dwelling
Refused 20 June 1994
43290
CoU of farm buildings to B1(c) use
Approved 12 October 1994
44381
Extension to agricultural building for
Approved 18 August 1995
storage
44633
CoU of farm building to B1(a) use
Approved 4 September 1995
FP/1995/3839
Garage block
Approved 29 August 1995
F/2000/1295
Replacement dwelling
Approved 22 November
2000

128

F/2000/2161
F/2001/3757
F/2001/5114
F/2002/5626
F/2003/0167
F/2005/4929

AG/2006/6664
AG/2006/7068
AG/2006/7067
F/2006/8284
F/2006/9473
F/2007/1307
CLE/2010/1310

CLE/2010/1314

F/2010/1326

F/2012/0176
CLE/2014/2769
153182
183529
191827
191645
192244

Extension to horticultural unit for
covered storage
New dwelling (amendment to
F/2000/1295)
New dwelling (amendment to
F/2001/3757)
Replacement barn
Replacement Class B1 building with
access and parking
CoU of horticultural packhouse to
including handling imported produce
and new HGV access
Storage area for pallets and
packaging
Agricultural storage building
Winter storage reservoir (prior app)
Extension to packhouse
Replacement conservatory to
dwelling
Extensions to packhouse with
relocated loading bay
Siting of 21 mobile homes for
occupation of agricultural workers
with bunds, fencing and drainage
Siting of 12 mobile homes for
occupation by agricultural workers
with bunds, fencing and drainage
CoU of agricultural land for over
winter storage of vacant mobile
homes
Solar PV panels to refrigeration unit
Conversion and use of premises for
Class C4 HMO
Earthworks to create reservoir (prior
app)
Two storey side extension to dwelling
New agricultural building
Three agricultural workers dwellings
with access to Honey Hill
Extension to south western corner of
packhouse

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Existing land use(s)
Proposed land use(s)
Proposed land use(s)
Existing floor space of building
Proposed floor space of building

Approved 14 September
2000
Approved 18 May 2001
Approved 14 December
2001
Approved 15 April 2002
Approved 28 November
2003
Approved 13 March 2006

Refused 25 January 2006
Approved 23 March 2006
Approved 3 October 2006
Withdrawn 19 October 2006
Approved 20 February 2007
Approved 5 September 2007
Refused 18 August 2010

Approved 16 August 2010

Withdrawn 7 December 2012

Approved 22 March 2012
Approved 18 March 2015
Approved 23 December
2015
Approved 11 March 2019
Approved 15 October 2019
Pending
Pending

40 hectares (approximate)
Agricultural packhouse for soft fruit farm and
handling of imported produce (industrial use with
ancillary offices) within an agricultural farm
Class B8 (storage of items)
2,981m2
3,525m2 (increase of 544m2)

129

Proposed floor space of building
(inclusive of application 192245)
Parking spaces
CONSULTATION RESPONSES
WBC Ecology
WBC Highways
WBC Drainage
WBC Environmental Health
WBC Tree and Landscape
Southern Gas Networks
WBC Cleaner and Greener
WBC Community Infrastructure
WBC Planning Policy
SSE Power Distribution
National Grid
Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue
Crime Prevention Design Advisor
Minerals and Waste
Thames Water Utilities
REPRESENTATIONS
Wokingham Without Parish Council
Local Members
Neighbours

3,979m2 (increase of 998m2)
No formal change to parking

No objection.

No comments.

No objection.
No comments.

APPLICANTS POINTS

Unit A will link directly with the existing packhouse and adjacent to the main
loading bay area and will be largely screened on the west and south sides by
existing hedgerows and earth banking and by existing buildings to the north and
east

The scale of the proposed unit is compatible with adjacent buildings with the ridge
level maintained below those of the adjacent buildings

The positioning of Unit A contains it within the overall building envelope of the
processing and packaging operation

The proposed building will be very similar to the existing Packhorse and Storage

buildings with matching profiled roofing and cladding and blockwork plinths

The proposal will meet the requirements of Building Regulations and provide for
level access for disabled and wheelchair use
PLANNING POLICY
National Policy
Core Strategy 2010

NPPF
NPPG
CP1
CP2
CP3
CP6
CP7
CP8
CP9
CP11

National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Policy Guidance
Sustainable Development
Inclusive Communities
General Principles for Development
Managing Travel Demand
Biodiversity
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
Scale and Location of Development Proposals
Proposals Outside Development Limits

130

Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan
2014

Borough Design Guide

CC01
CC03
CC04
CC06
CC07
CC09
CC10
TB21
TB23
BDG

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
Sustainable Design and Construction
Noise
Parking
Development and Flood Risk
Sustainable Drainage
Landscape Character
Biodiversity and Development
Section 4

PLANNING ISSUES
Description of Development
1.

The proposal involves the construction of a 17.5m (w) x 31.1m (l) x 4.1m-5.9m (h)
extension to the south western corner of the existing packhouse building that is
currently used for the storage, processing and packaging of soft fruits and
associated equipment. It will be positioned within an existing hardstanding loading
bay. It will be used to house timber pallets and will include a rear and side facing
roller door.

Site Description
2.

Heathlands Farm is a 40 hectare soft fruit farm (operating as part of a larger
agricultural business) bounded by Heathlands Road to the west and Honey Hill to
the east. It comprises a variety of buildings at the north eastern corner, including
several residential dwellings for on-site workers, office buildings and car parking
as well as the subject packaging and processing building and loading bay
immediately to the south. Mobile homes for seasonal workers line the eastern
boundary and the remainder of the site is comprised of polytunnels for fruit
growing, reservoirs for water supply and trees, including along a significant length
of the farm boundary.

3.

The surrounding area is countryside and comprises a mixture of woodland and
farmland and numerous non-agricultural buildings, including The Crooked Billet
pub and some dwelling houses, including those interspersed along Honey Hill to
the north and east and Squires Garden Centre and several office and commercial
buildings along Heathlands Road to the west.

Principle of Development
4.

The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour
of sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development
Plan. Policy CC01 of the MDD Local Plan states that planning applications that
accord with the policies in the Development Plan for Wokingham Borough will be
approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Existing and proposed use
5.

The subject building was first constructed as a barn in 1962 before being enlarged
and converted to a potato store in 1989 (application 33335). Part of the building

131

was changed to Class B1(c) light industrial in 1993 (application 41246) before a
formalisation of its use as a packhouse to include the processing, production and
packaging of fruit, including imported produce from other farms and improved
access to accommodate HGVs, in 2006 (application F/2005/4929). A further
extension in 2007 (application F/2007/1307 included offices, cold store, additional
packing space and staff mess room. It was subject to Condition 9 which limited the
amount of imported produce to 540 tonnes in any calendar year in order to ensure
that it did not result in excessive HGV movements and parking demand.
6.

The subject application would expand on the existing industrial use by enlarging
the packhouse building to allow internal storage of pallets. There are currently
items stored in the open in and around the storage bay, including pallets and
packaging and this application is primarily for the internal storage of these items,
implying a Class B8 use. The continued Class B use remains acceptable in the
current context. However, given the two current applications (192244 and 192245)
have a total area of 998m2, Condition 5, which limits the amount of imported
produce, is carried over from F/2007/1307 to ensure the continued management
of traffic. It is noted that there has been no application to alter this aspect of the
development as part of these applications.

Location with the Countryside
7.

The site is located outside the settlement boundary and in the countryside and in
order to maintain the quality of the environment, Policy CP11 of the Core Strategy
does not permit development outside of development limits unless it represents a
sustainable rural or recreational enterprise, where it does not lead to excessive
expansion away from the original building and is contained within a building
suitable for conversion.

8.

Paragraph 83 of the NPPF also states that decisions should enable the
sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas, both
through conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new buildings.

9.

The proposal satisfies the requirements of Policy CP11 on the following grounds:

It involves the sustainable expansion of an existing business

The extension is modest in relation to the existing building

There is no excessive encroachment away from the existing building

It would be sited on existing hardstanding and would maintain the quality of
the environment

10.

It is also broadly consistent with the intent of Paragraph 83 of the NPPF as the
business is clearly operating successfully, with continued business investment and
high levels of permanent and seasonal employment.

Character of the Area
11.

Paragraph 170(b) of the NPPF requires that planning applications enhance the
natural and local environment by ‘recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of
the countryside, and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem
services – including the economic and other benefits of the best and most
versatile agricultural land, and of trees and woodland.’

132

12.

Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states that development must be appropriate in
terms of its scale, mass, layout, built form, height and character of the area and
must be of high quality design. NR1, NR2 and RD1 of the Borough Design Guide
state that development should respond to and improve key characteristics and
features of the site. Furthermore, NR9 states that large floorplates must be
designed to minimise potential impact upon the character of the area and NR11
requires that servicing be screened

13.

RD11 and Section 8.5.4 of the Borough Design Guide SPD states that extensions
are acceptable where there is no impact upon the countryside and where there
are environmental improvements. As a reference, a 50% increase in volume for a
one storey development is acceptable when compared with the original building.

14.

The existing building has been substantially extended and enlarged since its
original construction in 1962 and the subject proposal results in the following
increases in floor area and volume against the original and existing buildings:
PD/292/1962 (Original)
33335 (1st extension)
41246 (2nd extension)
44381(3rd extension)1
F/2000/2161 (4th extension)
AG/2006/7068 (5th extension)1
F/2007/1307 (existing)
192245 (proposed)
Inclusive of 192244
% increase from original
% increase from existing
% increase from original2
% increase from existing2
1
Not implemented
2
Inclusive of 192244

Footprint
137m2
800m2
1,124m2
1,867m2
1,635m2
2,111m2
2,981m2
3,525m2
3,978m2
2472%
18%
2803%
33%

Volume
714m3
5,112m3
7,438m3
12,102m3
9,865m3
11,555m3
20,014m3
22,734m3
25,231m3
3084%
13%
3433%
26%

Height
6.1m
7.7m
7.7m
7.7m
6.1m
4.4m
5.8m
5.9m
6.1m
0%
0%
0%
0%

Width
18.3m
36.5m
54.5m
78.7m
54.5m
54.5m
78.2m
79.6m
79.6m
335%
2%
335%
2%

Length
7.4m
25.4m
25.4m
37.9m
36.3m
8.7m
68.4m
69.1m
68.4m
833%
1%
833%
1%

15.

Whilst substantial, the enlargements over the years are representative of the
expansion and successful growth of the fruit farm. No objections have been raised
in previous applications, with the exception of a prior approval where it was
deemed that the extension would not satisfy the requirements of permitted
development.

16.

Relative to the existing building, the proposal represents a modest and measured
extension. It is contained within hardstanding on the western side of the building,
with only a very marginal increase in the overall length of the building, a ridge
height that sits 1.9m below the main ridge height and extensive landscape
hedging along the western side of the access road which screens its visibility and
form in views from the east. The increases in footprint and volume are acceptable
when accounting for its partially concealed location on the farm and its position
within existing hardstanding and location amongst other buildings, leading to the
conclusion that there is no excessive encroachment. More particularly, when
acknowledging the continued growth of the existing business, the benefits from
the scheme outweigh any apparent harm to the character of the area.
Notwithstanding, Condition 4 requires the removal of the works if they are no
longer used for their approved use.

133

Height
17.

NR5 of the Borough Design Guide SPD note that height, bulk and massing should
respond to the local context and NR7 requires that roofs be designed to the
context of the area, including visibility. The existing building has a maximum ridge
height of 7.8m and secondary ridge of 6.1m. The proposed extension will sit well
below the ridge height of the existing building, which is a comfortable relationship
and will not be imposing or out of character when viewed from surrounding
vantage points.

Materials
18.

RD7 and NR8 require materials, colours and details that are of high quality and
respond to the distinctive elements of the locality. Materials include aluminium
cladding, brickwork plinth, timber doors and a metal framed roller shutter. This
broadly matches the materials of the existing building and there are no objections
on character grounds or in terms of the building retaining an agricultural form and
appearance suitable for the surrounding countryside. Condition 3 requires
consistency in materials as confirmation.

Residential Amenities
19.

Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy aims to protect neighbouring amenity. The
nearest residential dwellings are 140m to the north and 230m to the south, which
is sufficient separation to ensure no additional harm in terms of acoustic privacy,
sense of enclosure of loss of light. On that aspect, the Council’s Environmental
Health Officer raised no concern on noise disturbance grounds.

20.

Within the farm itself, there are numerous mobile homes for seasonal workers
immediately adjoining the existing building to the east and several other
permanent rural workers dwellings to the north within 75m. However, given these
are dwellings that are limited to on site workers only, as these workers will likely
be undertaking the noise generating activities within the extension and the wider
farm and because it is intended for storage only, there is not perceived to be any
long term residential harm and no objection is raised.

Access and Movement
Car Parking
21.

Policy CC07 and Appendix 2 of the MDD Local Plan stipulates minimum off street
parking standards. The extension measures 544m2 in area and it is feasible that
this will result in increased production and employment across the site, implying
that there will be an increase in parking requirements.

22.

No parking plan was submitted with the application but a review of the site
indicates that there is formal parking for at least 50 cars across several separate
parking areas. These spaces are used by office employees and farm workers. The
building is used for agricultural storage and for processing and packaging but also
includes offices and a staff room.

134

23.

The extension would generate a maximum of an additional 13 spaces. However,
the actual increase in demand for parking is likely to be significantly less because
the proposal allows for the storage of items that are currently stored outdoors and
the increase in employment generation would not correspond with the supposed
increase in parking demand. Moreover, there is ample space within the site for
formal and informal parking and because of the large numbers of seasonal
workers that are housed on site, the Council’s Highways Officer has not raised
any objection on parking grounds.

Access and Traffic Generation
24.

The extension to the building would likely allow for the storage of items that are
currently stored outdoors although it could still be argued that it could allow for a
more efficient operation and thus has the potential to result in an increase in traffic
movements to and from the site, including larger HGV vehicles.

25.

The farm is currently subject to an s106 agreement dated 10 March 2006 (in
relation to F/2005/4929) which includes a lorry routing plan and prohibits the use
of Honey Hill for HGV access. This would be maintained as part of this application
and it is considered that the existing business currently operates without any wider
disruption to traffic movements on local roads and the likely increases are not
envisaged to alter this arrangement. As noted in paragraph 6, Condition 5 also
does not allow any increase in imported produce as part of this extension or that in
192245. On the basis of the above, the Council’s Highways Officer also raises no
objection.

Landscaping and Trees
26.

Policy CC03 of the MDD Local Plan aims to protect green infrastructure networks,
promote linkages between public open space and the countryside, retain existing
trees and establish appropriate landscaping and Policy TB21 requires
consideration of the landscape character.

27.

The site is in the Wokingham District Landscape Character Area N1 ‘Holme Green
Pastoral Sandy Lowland’, a landscape of moderate character and quality with a
modest sensitivity to change. The key issues affecting the character area include
the loss of hedgerows associated with the expansion of fields and the
intensification of agriculture.

28.

The Council’s Trees and Landscape Officer notes that the building is located on
existing hardstanding and because there are no impacts on any existing
landscape features, no objection is raised.

Ecology
29.

Policy TB23 of the MDD Local Plan requires the incorporation of new biodiversity
features, buffers between habitats and species of importance and integration with
the wider green infrastructure network.

30.

The existing building is unlikely to host roosting bats and the hardstanding on
which it will be located is of no ecological value. As such, the proposal is unlikely

135

to affect protected species or priority habitats and the Council’s Ecology Officer
raises no objections on ecological grounds.
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
31.

Policy CP8 of the Core Strategy states that where development is likely to have an
effect on the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (TBH SPA), it is
required to demonstrate that adequate measures to avoid and mitigate any
potential adverse effects are delivered.

32.

The subject property is located within 5km of the TBH SPA but the scope of the
works are minor whereby there will be no foreseeable impact upon the SPA. The
proposal is therefore acceptable in terms of Policy CP8.

Building Sustainability
33.

Policy CC04 of the MDD Local Plan and the Sustainable Design and Construction
SPD require sustainable design and conservation. The proposed works are of
modest construction for agricultural related use and are considered to be
acceptable on sustainable design grounds.

Waste Storage
34.

The building extension will enable a more managed approach to storage of items
and collection and disposal of waste. On this basis, no objections are raised and it
is considered unnecessary to impose any specific conditions.

Flooding and Drainage
35.

Policy CC09 of the MDD Local Plan requires consideration of flood risk from
historic flooding. The site and access thereto is located within Flood Zone 1 and
the proposal represents no additional flood risk or vulnerability.

36.

Policy CC10 of the MDD Local Plan requires sustainable drainage methods and
the minimisation of surface water flow. The building will be sited on existing
hardstanding such that there will be no increase in runoff, which will be directed
into the existing drainage system for the existing building. The proposal is
therefore acceptable.

Environmental Health
37.

The area is listed as potentially contaminated on Council’s inventory but primarily
because of its agricultural use. As the extension is sited on existing hardstanding,
there are no foreseeable contamination concerns and the Council’s Environmental
Health Officer has raised no objection.

Community Infrastructure Levy
38.

The application is not liable for CIL payments because of its agricultural use.

136

Employment Skills
39.

Given the scale and form of the extension and because there is a cumulative floor
area of less than 1000m2, an Employment Skills Plan is not required.

The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010)
40. In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its
obligations under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected
characteristics include age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief. There is no
indication or evidence (including from consultation on the application) that the
protected groups identified by the Act have or will have different needs,
experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular planning application
and there would be no significant adverse impacts upon protected groups as a
result of the development.
CONCLUSION
41. The proposal represents a modest and appropriate extension to an existing
packaging and processing building. It will enable the ongoing growth and
expansion of a successful local soft fruit producer and contribute to some
employment growth and there are no immediate adverse impacts upon neighbour
amenity, the character of the area or highway movements. It is acceptable, subject
to Conditions 4-6, which seek to limit the use of the building, require its removal if
not used for its approved use, prohibit additional floor area and limit the amount of
imported produce, all for traffic and character related reasons.

137

This page is intentionally left blank

139

140

141

142

Agenda Item 68.
Application Number
192312
Applicant
Site Address
Proposal

Type
Officer
Reason for
determination
by committee

Expiry Date
13 November 2019

Parish
Sonning

Ward
Sonning

Mr and Mrs T and C Murphy
The Atrium and Pool Court, Thames Street, Sonning RG4 6UR
Full application for the proposed construction of an external swimming
pool and ornamental pond to the rear of The Atrium, regrading of
garden land at Pool Court (retrospective) and amendments to
approved landscaping schemes proposed in connection with
applications 181850, 173369 (Pool Court) and 180857 (The Atrium)
Full
Simon Taylor
Listed by Councillor Firmager because of the visibility of the
development from the Thames Towpath, impact upon neighbour
amenity and drainage problems

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on Monday 16 December 2019
Assistant Director – Place

SUMMARY
The Atrium and Pool Court are two separate backland plots of approximately 0.45
hectares each at the northern edge of Sonning, with designated countryside adjoining to
the north. Pool Court comprises a non-designated heritage asset with a separate
outbuilding and tennis court. The demolition of the dwelling was refused and dismissed
at appeal. A replacement two storey dwelling house is currently under construction at
The Atrium, having been the subject of four recent planning or variation applications.
The application involves changes to the approved hard and soft landscaping scheme on
both sites (including changes to vehicular access), the addition of a swimming pool at
the Atrium and the retrospective raising of the ground level in the garden at Pool Court.
The common boundary between the two properties has also been altered but there is
no intention to formally amalgamate the two sites as part of this application. Since the
original submission, the plans have been revised, including the lowering of the elevated
patios to The Atrium, the deletion of the tennis court lighting and modifications to the
location of replacement trees and hedgerow (mostly in Pool Court).
The application has been listed by Councillor Firmager because of drainage, neighbour
amenity and visibility concerns. Sonning Parish Council and two neighbour submissions
raise additional concerns about the works being retrospective, loss of landscaping, use
of an outbuilding at Pool Court as an office and the existence of mounds of soil. These
issues remain relevant despite the revised plans.
The proposal, as amended, is acceptable on landscape character grounds, including
when viewed from the Thames Towpath. The revisions to the landscape scheme have
resolved the initial concerns of the Council’s planning officer and no objections are
raised on drainage, ecology and conservation grounds. Conditions have been carried
over from the most recent applications for both properties and these include revised
lighting details (Condition 3), revised landscape details (Condition 4), no changes in
ground levels to the north of The Atrium (Condition 5), compliance with the ecological
mitigation (Condition 6) and compliance with the Construction Management Plan for the
Atrium (Condition 8).

143

PLANNING STATUS

Limited development location

Settlement Edge/Adjacent to Designated Countryside

Sonning Conservation Area

Archaeological Site (part of site)

Contaminated land consultation zone

Radon affected area

Nitrate vulnerable one (groundwater)

Sand and gravel extraction consultation zone

Bat consultation zone

Flood Zone 1

Classified road (Thames Street)
RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following conditions and informatives:
1)

Timescale
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).

2)

Approved details
This permission is in respect of the plans numbered 17119-LD101-G, dated 26
November 2019 and 17119-LD102-A, dated 6 November 2019. The development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless other minor
variations are agreed in writing after the date of this permission and before
implementation with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried
out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby
approved.

3)

Lighting details
Within one month of the date of this planning permission, a consolidated scheme
of lighting across The Atrium and Pool Court sites shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme is to include any
proposed external lighting and measures to limit light pollution of the reservoir of
dark skies identified under the Wokingham District Landscape Character
Assessment (2004) and under Policy TB21 of the Local Plan.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to protect the character of the
Conservation Area.
Relevant policy: Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policies TB21 and
TB24.

144

4)

Landscaping and boundary treatments
The development at Pool Court and The Atrium is to adhere to the Tree Protection
Report and Method Statement for Pool Court (dated October 2018) and the Tree
Survey Report for The Atrium (dated November 2017). All hard and soft landscape
works and boundary treatments shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved hard and soft landscape plan as amended by the site plan numbered
17119-LD101-G, dated 26 November 2019.
However, within one month of the date of this planning permission, a revised and
consolidated Tree Planting Plan and implementation timetable for The Atrium and
Pool Court shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority, which shall confirm the species, planting sizes, spacing and numbers of
trees and shrubs to be planted, and any existing trees or shrubs to be retained.
Planting shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details in the first
planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the building(s).
Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years from the date of the planting
(or within a period of 5 years of the occupation of the buildings in the case of
retained trees and shrubs) die, are removed or become seriously damaged or
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size
and species or otherwise as approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21.

5)

Ground and building levels
The contours and levels of the rear garden area to the north of the patio areas of
the replacement dwelling at the Atrium (approved in 191808) shall not be modified
from those on the approved plans, whether by excavation, establishment of
retaining walls, increased ground levels or any other similar means.
The approved dwelling at The Atrium shall not be occupied until a final measured
survey of all areas to the north of the patios and tennis court within The Atrium and
Pool Court, showing details of existing and proposed finished ground levels (in
relation to a fixed datum point), has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority.
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory form of development and landscape
character of the area.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policy TB21.

6)

Ecological mitigation
Mitigation measures are to be carried out in full compliance with the
recommendations made in Section 5 of the ecological report (Windrush Ecology,
Ref: W2719_rep_Pool Court, Sonning_28-12-17, December 2017) for Pool Court

145

and in Section 5 of the ecological report (Windrush Ecology, Ref: W2355_rep_The
Atrium, Sonning_16-08-17, August 2017) for The Atrium as well as the Low Impact
Class Licence (reinforced in comments from Natural England received by email on
15 March 2018).
Reason: To ensure that the ecological value of the site is enhanced post
development in line with paragraphs 170 and 175 of the NPPF.
7)

Permeable surfacing
The hard surfacing of the patios and the driveway accesses for The Atrium and
Pool Court hereby permitted shall be constructed from porous materials or
provision shall be made to direct water run-off from the hard surface to a
permeable or porous area within the curtilage of the development, and the hard
surfacing shall thereafter be so-maintained.
Reason: To prevent increased flood risk from surface water run-off.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 10 and Managing Development Delivery Local
Plan policies CC09 and CC10.

8)

Construction method statement
Development is to be undertaken in accordance with the approved Construction
Traffic Management Plan (dated March 2018) throughout the construction period
and is to be applied to works within The Atrium and Pool Court.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience and neighbour
amenities. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.

9)

Access and turning
No part of The Atrium shall be occupied or used until the vehicle access and
turning space has been provided in accordance with the approved site plan 17119LD101–G. It shall be permanently maintained and remain available for the parking
of vehicles at all times.
Reason: To ensure adequate on-site parking provision in the interests of highway
safety, convenience and amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 and
CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.

10) Retention of trees and shrubs
No trees, shrubs or hedges within the site which are shown as being retained on
the approved plans shall be felled, uprooted wilfully damaged or destroyed, cut
back in any way or removed without previous written consent of the local planning
authority; any trees, shrubs or hedges removed without consent or dying or being
severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years from the
completion of the development hereby permitted shall be replaced with trees,
shrubs or hedge plants of similar size and species unless the local planning
authority gives written consent to any variation.

146

Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that development is being
carried out, of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of
amenity value to the area.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21.
11) Hours of work and access
No work relating to the development hereby approved, including works of
demolition or preparation prior to building operations, shall take place other than
between the hours of 8am and 6pm Monday to Friday and 8am to 1pm Saturdays.
No works are permitted at any time on Sundays or Bank or National Holidays.
No deliveries associated with the development hereby approved shall occur other
than between the hours of 9am and 3pm Monday to Friday and 8am to 1pm on
Saturdays. No deliveries or access associated with the development is permitted at
any time on Sundays or Bank or National Holidays.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience and neighbour
amenities. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
12) Restriction of permitted development rights
Notwithstanding the provisions of Class E of Part 1 of the Second Schedule the
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (or any Order revoking and re- enacting that Order with or without
modification), no buildings shall be carried out at The Atrium or Pool Court without
the express permission in writing of the local planning authority.
Reason: To safeguard the character of the Countryside and neighbouring
amenities. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP11 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy TB21.
13) Pool Court outbuilding
The detached outbuilding at Pool Court shall not be occupied or used at any time
other than incidental to the enjoyment of the residential dwelling located on the
site. It shall not be used, sold or sub-let as a separate dwelling.
Reason: A separate unit of accommodation of this nature may not be acceptable in
this location in the interests of the amenities, character of the area and highway
safety in accordance with Core Strategy Policies CP1, CP3, CP4, and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan Policies CC01, CC07, TB07, TB08.
14) In the event of any inconsistencies
In the event of inconsistencies between the development hereby approved
(including landscaping) and previous permissions for The Atrium and Pool Court,
this planning permission prevails.
Reason: To avoid potential conflicts with landscaping schemes or an accumulation
of hard surfacing.

147

Relevant policy: Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan Policy TB21.
Informatives
1)

Pre commencement details
Where this permission requires further details to be submitted for approval, the
information must formally be submitted to the Council for consideration with the
relevant fee. Once details have been approved in writing the development should
be carried out only in accordance with those details. If this is not clear please
contact the case officer to discuss.

2)

Changes to the approved plans
The applicant is reminded that should there be any change from the approved
drawings during the build of the development this may require a fresh planning
application if the changes differ materially from the approved details. Non-material
changes may be formalised by way of an application under s.96A Town and
Country Planning Act 1990.

3)

Protected species
This permission does not convey or imply any approval or consent required under
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for protected species. The applicant is
advised to contact Natural England with regard to any protected species that may
be found on the site.
Should any bats or evidence of bats be found prior to or during the development,
all works must stop immediately and an ecological consultant or the Council’s
ecologist contacted for further advice before works can proceed. All contractors
working on site should be made aware of the advice and provided with the contact
details of a relevant ecological consultant.
Should any Great Crested Newts or evidence of Great Crested Newts be found
prior to or during the development, all works must stop immediately and an
ecological consultant or the Council’s ecologist contacted for further advice before
works can proceed. All contractors working on site should be made aware of the
advice and provided with the contact details of a relevant ecological consultant.

4)

Discussion
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining
this application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations,
including planning policies and any representations that may have been received.
This planning application has been the subject of positive and proactive
discussions with the applicant in terms of amended plans being submitted by the
applicant to overcome concerns.
The decision to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in
favour of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF is considered to be a
positive outcome of these discussions.

148

PLANNING HISTORY – POOL COURT
App Number
Proposal
600/1954
New dwelling (outline)
78/1959
New dwelling and garage
PD/51/1969
Alterations and additions
00565
Replacement dwelling
38903
Single storey side extension (bedroom)
F/2007/0741
Single storey rear extension
170437
Demolition of existing dwelling and
replacement with new dwelling with
171171
basement and garage annex
W/17/3180148 Appeal against refusal of 171171
173369

180445
181850

Single storey side and rear extensions,
conversion of garage to habitable room
and repositioning of tennis court and
western boundary
Detached garage and ancillary
accommodation

182775

Discharge of landscaping and tree
protection conditions for 173369
182805
Discharge of landscaping and tree
protection conditions for 181850
191188
Change of approved roof from clay to
slate
PLANNING HISTORY – THE ATRIUM
App Number
Proposal
23240
Demolition of cottage and construction of
a single storey dwelling and garage
171293
Replacement two storey dwelling with
basement, detached garage and garden
172637
store
173537
Replacement dwelling house with
basement, detached double garage and
store and incorporation of curtilage land
from Pool Court
180771
Discharge of landscaping condition for
173537
180857
Variation to 173537 including
amendments to the garage, additional
covered parking and connection of
garage to the house
191808
Variation to 180857 including use of flat
roof as terrace, external staircase and
additional sliding doors to orangery

Decision
Approved 6 August 1954
Approved 9 June 1959
Approved 20/02/1969
Approved 16 May 1974
Approved 2 March 1992
Approved 11 May 2007
Withdrawn 28 March 2017
Refused 13 June 2017
Dismissed 12 January
2018
Approved 6 February 2018

Approved 25 April 2018
Approved 14 September
2018
Approved 29 November
2018
Approved 29 November
2018
Approved 29 May 2019

Decision
Approved 24 April 1985
Withdrawn 7 August 2017
Approved 2 November
2017
Approved 8 February 2018

Approved 2 May 2018
Approved 16 May 2018

Approved 18 September
2019

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site area
0.46 hectares (The Atrium) and 0.45 hectares (Pool Court)
Land use
Residential (no change)

149

Number of dwellings
Parking spaces

Single dwelling on each plot (no change)
> 3 spaces on each plot (no change)

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
WBC Drainage
No objection.
WBC Tree and Landscape
No comments received.
WBC Environmental Health
WBC Ecology
Objections are raised in relation to the proposed tennis
court lighting. (Officer comment: The tennis court lighting
has been deleted)
WBC Conservation
Concerns are raised in relation to the retaining walls to
the elevated gardens and swimming pools. (Officer
comment: This aspect of the proposal has been
amended by lowering the finished levels of the patio and
walls)
Berkshire Archaeology
No objection on the basis of findings outlined in previous
archaeological monitoring.
REPRESENTATIONS
Sonning
Objections are raised on the following grounds:
Parish
Council
 Raising of ground will affect drainage and flooding of adjacent
properties
Officer comment: The Council’s Drainage Officer has reviewed the
proposal and raises no objection. See ‘Flooding and Drainage’.


Works are retrospective and would have been unsupervised

Officer comment: It is noted that the modified contours to the garden to
Pool Court have been completed but retrospective permission is
possible.


Soil has been brought onto the site

Officer comment: The soil mounds at the northern side of The Atrium are
temporary and are excavated material from the basement. Condition 9
of the original planning permission (173537) prohibited any change to
the contours of the land extending north of the dwelling and the soil will
need to be removed from the site upon completion of the dwelling. The
same condition forms Condition 5 of this recommendation.



Hedging has been removed and the site is more visible
Impacts upon neighbour amenity from loss of landscaping

Officer comment: Hedging has been removed as part of the change to
the common boundary between the two properties. As amended, the
extent of proposed replacement landscaping is acceptable and the
visibility of the site from neighbouring properties is not sufficient to
warrant concern. However, it is noted that this comment is based on the
current unlandscaped nature of the site and without acknowledging that

150

replacement landscaping will be implemented at the next planting
season following completion of the dwelling at The Atrium.


Local
Members

Outbuilding at Pool Court is being used as an office

Officer comment: The plans indicate that the outbuilding at Pool Court
has changed from Garden Store/Gym to Gym/Home Office. The
ancillary nature of the building is maintained and no concerns are raised
although the limitations of its ancillary use is reinforced in Condition 13.
Councillor Firmager has listed the application on the following grounds:


The property at The Atrium will be visible from the Thames Towpath
especially since most of the hedges and trees have been removed
seriously affecting the scene by the river

Officer comment: Subject to the implementation of the approved
landscaping scheme, which includes hedgerow to the northern
boundary, the proposal has a satisfactory landscaping outcome for the
settlement edge location and in views from the River Thames. This is
noted in ‘Character of the Area’.


There will be a detrimental effect on the neighbouring properties by
the dominating presence of this application together with the lighting
of the tennis court

Officer comment: The tennis court lighting has been deleted, the patio to
the western side of The Atrium has been lowered in the most recent
revisions to the plans and there are no changes to the built form of the
dwelling. Whilst some landscaping has been removed between Pool
Court and The Atrium, this will be replaced in part and there are no
adverse amenity outcome for neighbouring properties.


Neighbours

There is going to be an impact on the drainage and the resultant
problems that will entail

Officer comment: The Council’s Drainage Officer has reviewed the
proposal and raises no objection. See ‘Flooding and Drainage’.
The application was consulted to neighbours from 7-28 October 2019.
Submissions were received from the following properties:
1)
2)

Thames Street, Sonning RG4 6UR (no house specified)
Star Court, Thames Street, Sonning RG4 6UR

The submissions raised the following issues:



Removal of hedgerow and scale of development harms the
conservation area and is contrary to the Sonning Conservation
Area Appraisal
Harm to the character of the area caused by loss of landscaping
and raising of ground levels

151

Officer comment: Subject to the provision of additional landscaping
details in Condition 4 and the final implementation of the approved
landscape scheme, the proposal has a satisfactory landscaping
outcome for the settlement edge location, the Sonning Conservation
Area and in views from the River Thames. This is noted in ‘Character of
the Area’.


Outbuilding at Pool Court has been changed to an office, which
harms the setting of the non-designated Pool Court. It should also
be limited in its use

Officer comment: The plans indicate that the outbuilding at Pool Court
has changed from Garden Store/Gym to Gym/Home Office. The
ancillary nature of the building is maintained and no concerns are raised
although this is reinforced in Condition 13.



Light pollution and heritage harm caused by tennis court lighting
Tennis court lighting will be visible

Officer comment: The tennis court lighting has been deleted from
revised plans.


Impacts upon TPO trees from raising in ground levels

Officer comment: There are no TPO protected trees on either site.
However, it is acknowledged that a tree has been removed without
consent from the grounds of Pool Court in the past and this application
retains the replacement planting that was required following its removal.
Refer to ‘Trees and Landscaping’ for comment.



Increased noise and wind from loss of hedgerow
Landscaped setting has been altered and views of the tennis court
are now available form Star Court

Officer comment: Landscaping has been removed along the common
boundary between Pool Court and The Atrium but will be replaced in
part. It is noted that the comments in terms of visibility, landscape
setting, noise and wind are based on the current unlandscaped nature of
the site and without acknowledging that replacement landscaping will be
implemented at the next planting season following completion of the
dwelling at The Atrium. When it is, the proposal will be acceptable on the
above grounds.


Works have already been undertaken

Officer comment: It is noted that the modified contours to the garden to
Pool Court and other minor aspects of the proposal have been
completed but retrospective permission is possible.


Tennis court has been assigned to The Atrium, harming the
significance of the non-designated asset at Pool Court

152

Officer comment: Refer to comments in ‘Heritage and Conservation’.
APPLICANTS POINTS
As far as the swimming pool and pond are concerned, these are proposed works and
would be located within the formal garden area of the site rather than in the more
informally planted areas towards the northern end of the site. Neither element would be
visible from public vantage points surrounding the site and, as such, it is evident that
there would be no harm caused to the character and appearance of the Conservation
Area or to the landscape setting of the village.
The remodelling of the garden land at Pool Court has already been undertaken and
provides a more graduated slope down from the house (to the west) than was previously
the case. The proposed new internal boundary tree and hedgerow landscaping that has
been undertaken, coupled with the wholly new tree and hedgerow planting proposed
along the rear boundary of The Atrium will ensure that the re-graded land is visually
screened from the river Tow Path and, again, will ensure that the visual amenities of the
site and its attractive rural backdrop are not harmed.
PLANNING POLICY
National Policy
NPPF
NPPG
Core Strategy
CP1
DPD 2010
CP3
CP6
CP7
CP9
CP11
Managing
CC01
Development
CC02
Delivery Local
CC03
Plan 2014
CC04
CC06
CC07
CC09
CC10
TB21
TB23
TB24
Borough Design
BDG
Guide
Others
SPDS
SCAA

National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Policy Guidance
Sustainable Development
General Principles for Development
Managing Travel Demand
Biodiversity
Scale and Location of Development Proposals
Proposals outside Development Limits
Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Development Limits
Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
Sustainable Design and Construction
Noise
Parking
Development and Flood Risk
Sustainable Drainage
Landscape Character
Biodiversity and Development
Designated Heritage Assets
Section 4
Sonning Parish Design Statement
Sonning Conservation Area Appraisal 2016

153

PLANNING ISSUES
Proposal Description
1.

As amended, the subject application acts to supersede the most recent approvals
for Pool Court and The Atrium with variations to the approved hard and soft
landscaping schemes across both sites, including:

Pool Court










Remodelling and partial raising of the ground levels to the north western
garden of Pool Court (retrospective)
Relocation of the approved hedgerow along the common boundary of both
properties and changes to species mix
Minor relocations of four approved replacement trees adjacent to the main
entrance
Relocation of three approved replacement trees in the main garden
Enlargement of the tennis court playing surface by 50m2 (1m width x 1m
length), moving closer to The Atrium, the lowering of the finished level of the
playing surface and the establishment of a retaining wall to the eastern edge
(retrospective)
Enlarged driveway and turning space
Additional paving to the south western and north eastern corners of the
dwelling
New pathway leading from the driveway for The Atrium to the outbuilding

The Atrium













Relocation of the approved hedgerow along the common boundary of both
properties and changes to species mix
Additional hedgerow to the northern boundary with the adjacent paddock
with species mix to match the approved hedgerow at Pool Court
Relocation of the gates to the northern boundary to the adjacent paddock
Rearrangement of the 4 x Betula in the north eastern corner
Planting of six additional trees within the rear garden, concentrated along the
eastern side boundary
Installation of a swimming pool and ornamental pond, including landscaped
surrounds to the western side of the dwelling at The Atrium within an
approved raised patio area
Enlarged patio areas to the western side of the tennis court
Remodelling of the central driveway feature
Provision of a bin store at the main entrance (retrospective) resulting in the
loss of two trees
Enlarged driveway including a turning court at the southern end of the site,
surrounded by hedgerow instead of six approved trees
Addition of gravel paths to the western side of the Atrium linking the parking
court and swimming pool, including remodelled landscaping and a net
increase of five additional trees along the western side boundary
No net change in the number of trees to the planted to the western and
southern sides of the dwelling

154

2.

It is not readily apparent from the site plan but with the relocation of the hedgerow
along the common boundary, the rearrangement of the tennis court so that it
opens towards the Atrium and the addition of a pathway from the driveway for The
Atrium to the outbuilding, it is apparent that the land included with the curtilage
and site of The Atrium is to be enlarged, consuming the southern end of the
garden and tennis court of Pool Court. This has not been referenced in the
application form or supporting documentation but is referenced in this report.

3.

The application has been amended since validation and after the consultation
period by lowering the levels of the swimming pool and patio surrounds at The
Atrium, various revisions to the landscaping arrangements and the deletion of the
lighting within the existing tennis court.

Site History
Pool Court
4.

Demolition of the existing dwelling was refused and dismissed as part of
application 171171. Subsequent to this, there have been three householder
applications comprising extensions to the Pool Court dwelling and repositioning of the
tennis court, a detached garage and ancillary outbuilding.

5.

The site has been the subject of some enforcement enquiries including:




RFS/2017/084058 relating to the illegal clearing of trees
RFS/2018/084227 relating to the illegal demolition of an outbuilding
RFS/2018/084593 relating to the breach of conditions relating to landscaping

6.

RFS/2017/084058 related to the illegal removal of a Magnolia towards the
southern end of the garden. As part of approved replacement landscaping
approved as part of the householder extensions, a replacement Magnolia was
required to be planted to the north of the tennis court.

7.

It is understood that the owner of The Atrium purchased Pool Court in November
2017.

The Atrium
8.

Planning application 172637 granted approval for the demolition of the existing
single storey dwelling house and construction of a new two storey plus basement
replacement dwelling house with garage, landscaping, kitchen garden in the south
western corner and other site works.

9.

173537 involved a resubmission of 172637 with other minor works and the
widening of the site via a relocated common boundary with Pool Court. 180857
varied this permission with the enlargement and relocation of the garage, changes
to the approved orangery and fenestration changes. It was varied again by
191808 with a roof terrace over the orangey with external staircase. Pre
commencement conditions associated with the approval are fully discharged,
including landscaping requirements, and building works are nearing completion.

155

10. The site has been the subject of some enforcement enquiries including:




RFS/2018/084698 relating to a breach of working hours
RFS/2019/084942 relating to unauthorised engineering operations
RFS/2019/085356 relating to the raising of ground levels (subject of this
application)

Site Description
Pool Court
11. Pool Court is a backland property behind existing buildings on the northern side of
Thames Street. It is predominately rectangular in nature with a total site area of
0.45 hectares. The existing dwelling is listed as non-designated heritage asset
dating from 1975, with a steeply pitched clay tiled gable roof with deep sprocketed
eaves. It is sited on the highest point and northern end of a gently sloping chalk
outcrop. A tennis court and outbuilding are concentrated to the southern end of the
site.
12. The Atrium is a backland property formed c1820 behind existing buildings on the
northern side of Thames Street. It is predominately rectangular in nature with a
total site area of 0.46 hectares, sloping consistently downwards by about 5m from
the south western corner to the north eastern corner. The replacement dwelling is
currently under construction.
13. Both properties share driveway access from the south eastern corner via a 145m
long gravel driveway to Thames Street that is also shared by four other properties.
Surrounding development
14. Surrounding development comprises smaller one and two storey cottages to the
south on Thames and High Streets (including numerous listed buildings),
expansive properties with larger dwellings elsewhere (including Sonning Court to
the north, Star Court to the west and the Rose Garden to the east) and designated
countryside to the north (with the adjoining paddock to the north in the same
ownership of the subject property). The Thames River and Tow Path is more than
100m to the north. The immediate area is also within the Sonning Conservation
Area.

Principle of Development
15. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour
of sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development
Plan. Policy CC01 of the MDD Local Plan states that planning applications that
accord with the policies in the Development Plan for Wokingham Borough will be
approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
16. The site is located within settlement limits within a limited development location
and is acceptable in terms of the principles stated in the Core Strategy and the
relevant policies in the MDD Local Plan.

156

Character of the Area
17. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states that development must be appropriate in
terms of the character of the area and high quality design. There are also relevant
guidelines in the BDG, including R1 and RD1-RD5, which require that
development is computable and does not harm the setting of Sonning Village.
Furthermore, R12 requires that boundary treatments contribute to the character of
the area and P2 aims to ensure that parking is compatible with the local character.
18. The northern boundary of both sites form the settlement edge (ie the sites adjoin
the designated countryside to the north) and the dwellings are visible from The
Thames Towpath. As such, Policy CC02 of the MDD Local Plan states that
development at the edge of settlements must respect the transition between the
built up area and the open countryside by taking account of the character of the
adjacent countryside and landscape. Similarly, RD9 of the Borough Design Guide
SPD requires soft landscaping that integrates to the rural setting.
19. From this landscape perspective, Policy CC03 of the MDD Local Plan aims to
protect green infrastructure networks, retain existing trees and establish
appropriate landscaping and Policy TB21 requires consideration of the landscape
character. R14 of the Borough Design Guide SPD also requires well-designed
hard and soft landscaping.
20. The Sonning Design Statement is also relevant. It states that care should be taken
to preserve or replace existing hedges and trees and aims to incorporate
appropriate landscaping schemes that respect and reflect the local landscape
character and incorporate native planting appropriate to the Sonning area. The
Sonning Design Appraisal also states at Section 7.1 that planted boundaries
(hedging and shrubs) should be used to eliminate the need for visually
inappropriate boundary materials.
21. The landscape scheme for The Atrium was last approved in May 2018 in planning
application 180857, and this followed the initial discharge of the landscaping
details as part of the approval for the replacement dwelling. There were no
objections to tree removal and replacement planting.
22. The landscape scheme for Pool Court was approved in November 2018 in
concurrent discharge applications in relation to householder extensions to the
dwelling but also to compensate for the unauthorised removal of a Magnolia tree.
There were several important considerations that are of relevance in this
application:





The hedge to the countryside boundary was approved at a minimum height
of 1.5m (h) x 1m (width) with specific species mix
Changes to contours were minimised to ensure no impact upon the health of
trees to be retained
A replacement Sequoia sempervirens was required to compensate for the
loss of a removed tree and it was to be located in a prominent lower location
of the site
The retaining wall of the tennis court initially could have affected RPZ of
trees to be retained

157

23. At the request of the Council, various revisions have been undertaken to the
landscape scheme since the initial submission to address initial concerns and to
rectify departures from previously negotiated outcomes, particularly for Pool Court.
24. The proposal, as amended, comprises the following primary changes:





Additional boundary hedgerow, additional tree planting, installation of a
swimming pool in an elevated patio, additional patio alongside the tennis
court and additional driveway, gravel paths, paving, bin store and pathways
at The Atrium
Changes to the garden contours, relocation of trees, enlargement and
lowering of the tennis court and additional driveway, paving and pathways at
Pool Court
Reduction in the length of hedgerow between the two properties

25. With these changes and when compared with the discharged plans, the proposed
works at The Atrium do not seek to materially alter the changes in ground level or
the encroachment of development (in the form of the swimming pool and patio)
northwards away from the replacement dwelling house at The Atrium. The
northernmost retaining wall is the same distance from the dwelling and the level of
the pool and patio remains unchanged at 43.8. There are various minor changes
to the landscape detail and the extent of hard and soft landscaping within the
patio, including gravel pathways, but it is not to the extent that would result in an
adverse detraction in the landscape setting of the site. Being permeable, either
with the use of gravel or by Condition 7, it also retains a satisfactory level of onsite infiltration.
26. Hedgerow (of box leaved holly) is maintained along the western and northern
edges of any of the retaining walls of the patios, which will aid in screening the
form of the retaining walls. At 500mm above the finished levels of the patio, it will
adequately screen the retaining walls and any fixed elements above, such as pool
fencing and furniture.
27. Additional hedgerow is proposed amongst an approved post and rail fence along
the north western boundary of The Atrium and in other infill areas, and this will
ensure an adequate transition and relationship to the countryside and with the
hedgerow at Pool Court. The species mix is acceptable and the height of 1.5m
and width of 1m will match.
28. There is no net reduction in the number of trees across The Atrium site but there
is a net increase in trees on the northern side of the dwelling where they are
visible from and contribute to the settlement edge setting. There is additional patio
alongside the tennis court, but it is much less visible in views from the public
domain. Likewise, additional gravel driveway will be confined to the southern and
western sides of the dwelling, where it is less conspicuous and otherwise
acceptable.
29. Pool Court is broadly consistent with the approved landscape plan, with the main
exception being the raising of ground levels towards the northern end of the
garden, undertaken to provide a more level lawn for the occupants. It is
adequately removed from existing trees, is outside of approved root protection

158

zones and is not significant enough to result in an adverse impression for the
landscape setting of the site and its relationship with the countryside.
30. Several trees have been relocated but not to any significant degree to warrant
concern. A Magnolia (Tree 9) as a compensatory tree for the felled tree will be
retained in a similar location to its approved location such that it will remain
prominent in views from the towpath and is not adversely compromised by any
change in levels. The application had initially sought to relocate the tree further
south alongside another Magnolia (Tree 12) in order to achieve a pairing but it is
argued that there is greater importance in retaining its visibility as a prominent tree
on its own. Trees 7 and 8 are relocated marginally such that concern is not raised.
31. The changes to the tennis court are retrospective. The enlargement of the playing
surface of the tennis court has not impeded the ability to achieve a hedgerow of
sufficient width alongside its western edge and the retaining wall and changes to
soil levels on its eastern edge sits outside of the root protection zone of existing
trees to be retained.
32. There is a marginal increase in gravel driveway and paving around the dwelling at
Pool Court but it is outside the root protection zone of trees to be retained and it is
not to the extent that it would compromise the landscape setting of the site. A new
pathway between the driveway of The Atrium and the outbuilding alongside the
tennis court is in the immediate vicinity of the root protection zone of Tree 6.
However, it has already been partly constructed and it can only be assumed that
its construction was undertaken with respect to ensuring no harm to tree roots.
33. The hedgerow along the common boundary was approved to be removed and
relocated as part of planning application 173537 but this application seeks to
make further changes. However, interpretation of plot separation is maintained,
and it connects with and continues beyond the tennis court, albeit at a reduced
height and width of 1m x 1m in this area. It is broadly in accordance with the
original approval and on this basis, no objection is raised.
34. More generally, the proposal has seen increased formalisation of the garden at
Pool Court and around the tennis court with greater manicuring and additional built
form that would have some perceived effect upon the impression of transition to
the rural setting of the countryside to the north. However, this is balanced with
increased tree planting and screening of the built form and in this regard, the
proposal retains a satisfactory landscape outcome for the site in accordance with
the Core Strategy, MDD Local Plan, Borough Design Guide and the Sonning
Design Statement.
35. Condition 4 still requires compliance with the arboricultural details and the
landscape plan hereby approved. However, because of some inconsistencies
between revised and older documentation, the consolidation of the two sites onto
the single landscape scheme and given the past history, additional tree planting
details are required as part of Condition 4. It would also allow for a double
checking to ensure that the mature height of trees is appropriate.

Heritage and Conservation

159

36. Both properties lie within the Sonning Conservation Area and Policy TB24 of the
MDD Local Plan requires the conservation and enhancement of Conservation
Areas, including their views and setting.
37. Whilst the two properties are not visible from Thames Street, an important view is
obtained from the north and north west along the towpath of the River Thames. As
noted above, the proposal retains a satisfactory appearance in the conservation
area, with no adverse increases in hard surfacing and built development and a
landscape scheme that will continue to complement and adequately screen the
hard surfaces and built form of the dwelling as well as allow a sympathetic
transition to the countryside to the north. On this basis, the proposal has an
acceptable outcome on conservation grounds.
38. Furthermore, Paragraph 197 of the NPPF states that the effect of an application
on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into
account in determining the application. In weighing applications that directly or
indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be
required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the
heritage asset.
39. Pool Court is a non-designated heritage asset and in the appeal decision for the
demolition of the dwelling at Pool Court (APP/X0360/W/17/3180148), the
Inspector observes the following at Paragraph 9:
‘…Pool House is a most attractive dwelling with an interesting and well
resolved mix of architectural styles. It is, moreover, a dwelling which, with its
restrained single-storey appearance and being well set back on its plot, is in
harmony with its wider setting on a slope leading up from the River Thames.
In light of the foregoing I consider Pool House as lying between moderate to
considerable significance and clearly meriting being regarded as a NDHA. As
the proposal involves the demolition of Pool House the harm to the NDHA
can only be regarded as substantial.’
40. There is a change to the setting of Pool Court through the cumulative effects of
the rearrangement of landscaping, the realignment of the boundary hedgerow, the
partially raised garden levels, additional paving around the dwelling and the
outbuilding and the assumption of the tennis court to The Atrium. However, each
of these aspects are minor in nature and a balanced judgement would indicate
that there is no unreasonable level of harm. Of most significance, the raising of the
ground level will alter the slope of the land when viewed from the towpath but in
wider countryside views, it is minimal at worst and indiscernible at best. On this
basis, there is no unreasonable harm to the character of the asset and the
proposal is acceptable.
41. The realignment of the common boundary and the assumption of the tennis court
into The Atrium will reduce the site area of Pool Court from 0.45 hectares to 0.31
hectares, a reduction of more than 30%. Such a change does not require planning
permission and the impact arising from a boundary alignment is limited,
particularly when most of the landscaping and the tennis court is retained.
However, a consideration of the setting of Pool Court is still necessary. In this
case, the main setting of Pool Court, with its main garden to the north and west

160

and its landscaped entrance and drive, will be retained. There is no adverse level
of crampedness and the setting of the non-designated heritage asset is
maintained.
Residential Amenities
42. As there are no changes to the built form of either dwelling and given there is
ample separation to property boundaries, there are no objections on the grounds
of overlooking, dominance or sense of enclosure. Furthermore, the change in
ground level within Pool Court or the location and levels of the swimming pool at
The Atrium would not result in any additional impact.
43. The tennis court lighting has been deleted from the plans due to the issues of
potential harm to neighbour amenity, amongst other reasons. As such, there are
no light pollution concerns. Moreover, the tennis court is existing, the swimming
pool is a typical feature within a residential setting and the density of the site is
unchanged such that there are no noise disturbance concerns.
44. In terms of any impacts between Pool Court and The Atrium, the layout of the
boundary hedgerow and the tennis court fencing suggests that the tennis court is
to be reallocated to The Atrium. The two sites are under one ownership but as
there is no immediate proposal to formally amalgamate the sites, the assessment
requires some consideration of impacts between the two properties.
45. There is privacy screening from the first floor terrace above the orangery at The
Atrium, which limits overlooking towards the tennis court but the removal of
boundary landscaping has resulted in sightlines between the garden areas of the
two properties. However, because there remains adequate separation between
the dwelling houses and with landscaping retained in various areas, there are no
unreasonable overlooking concerns and the proposal is acceptable.
Highway Access and Parking Provision
46. The changes to the landscape scheme have resulted in a net increase in the area
of the site covered by gravel driveway. This has no immediate adverse
implications for access and parking, with increased manoeuvrability and additional
parking provided on both sites. As the number of dwellings is unchanged, there
are unlikely to be any unreasonable increases in traffic movements to and from
the two sites. No objection is raised on this basis.
Amenity Space
47. The amount of external amenity space remains acceptable.
Ecology
48. Policy TB23 of the MDD Local Plan requires the incorporation of new biodiversity
features, buffers between habitats and species of importance and integration with
the wider green infrastructure network.
49. A number of trees and a line of boundary hedging, including the hedgerow
separating The Atrium and Pool Court, have already been removed under existing

161

approvals. The ecological report submitted with planning application 173369
concluded that the trees have negligible potential for roosting bats and no
objection was raised at the time. However, with wholesale changes to hard and
soft landscaping and the potential for additional external lighting, this application
remains subject to requirements from previous applications.
50. Condition 4 requires lighting details, particularly around the swimming pool, as
part of pre commencement details. Precautionary measures regarding bats,
nesting birds and Great Crested newts form part of the recommendations in
Section 5 of ecology reports submitted in the past for both properties and the
requirements to adhere to these recommendations are carried over to this
application in Condition 6. Subject to this arrangement, no objection is raised.
Flooding and Drainage
51. Policy CC09 of the MDD Local Plan requires consideration of flood risk from
historic flooding. The site and access thereto is located within Flood Zone 1 and
the proposal represents no additional flood risk or vulnerability. It is therefore
acceptable in terms of Policy CC09.
52. Policy CC10 of the MDD Local Plan requires sustainable drainage methods and
the minimisation of surface water flow. The proposed changes to the natural
contours alongside Pool Court are not considered to pose any adverse drainage
implications, with no net change in the footprint of the building and only a marginal
increase in hard surfaces. Elsewhere, the proposal involves some increases in
patio areas and changes to driveway access. However, Condition 7 maintains a
requirement for hard surfacing to remain permeable and the driveways will consist
of a gravel surface. Subject to these aspects and with the Council’s Drainage
Officer raising no objection, the proposal is acceptable in terms of Policy CC10.
Contamination
53. The area is listed as potentially contaminated on Council’s inventory but the
proposed changes due not raise any new implications.
Community Infrastructure Levy
54. The application does not affect CIL calculations.
The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010)
55. In determining this application, the Council is required to have due regard to its
obligations under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected
characteristics include age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief. There is no
indication or evidence (including from consultation on the application) that the
protected groups identified by the Act have or will have different needs,
experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular planning application
and there would be no significant adverse impacts upon protected groups as a
result of the development.

162

CONCLUSION
56. As amended, the application involves appropriate changes to the landscaping
scheme across The Atrium and Pool Court sites as well as the addition of a
swimming pool and modest alterations to ground levels. The impression of the
buildings and associated hard surfacing remains satisfactory in terms of its
backland location, position on the settlement edge and in the Sonning
Conservation Area and in views from the River Thames.
57. Part of the concerns raised by residents, the Parish Council and the ward member
relate to the appearance of the site during construction. However, with the revision
of the original plans, and subject to full implementation of the tree and hedgerow
planting as part of the soft landscape scheme and adherence to aforementioned
conditions discussed throughout the report, the application achieves a satisfactory
outcome for the site, even when accounting for the length of time that the
landscaping will take to establish. On this basis, no objections are raised.

163

This page is intentionally left blank

0
.8
45

.60
45

.20
45

0
45.4

.00
45

0
.6
44

0
.4
44

44.
40

20

44.

0
EE .5
TR R:0 14
I
:
G R
SP

46.00
45.80
45.60
45.40
45.20
45.00
44.80

60

DP

5no Quercus Ilex

.5
0
43

.0
0
44

44
.25
44.
50

steps / paving up
to tennis court

patio

lawn

level: 44.475

limestone gravel
perimeter to tennis
court

0
.1 E
50AV
E

5
VE
EA

timber clad retaining wall
with low-level box-hedge
(Buxus sempervirens) above

13
0.

0
EE .4
TR R:0 8
GI R:
SP

SV

int FFL 47.90

TENNIS COURT
timber clad retaining wall
with low-level box-hedge
(Buxus sempervirens) above

level:
44.00

level: 47.75

lawn

level: 47.75

IC L
C

GYM / HOME
OFFICE

48.00

43
.75

steps up

level:
47.15

45.40

HT:1.0
M

Hornbeam/Yew/Beech
in a typical mix of
40/20/40 maintained to
1.0x1.0m (width x height)

level: 45.00
level: 43.75

gravel driveway &
parking area

patio

RfT2

47
.8
0

planting bed
(mixed herbacious)

THE ATRIUM
banked planting bed
(mixed herbacious)

44.
00

45.4
0

proposed gravel path
and section of hedge
removed

driveway & parking
area

44.25

level: 44.50

Extra Heavy Nursery
Standard (EHNS), 18-20cm
girth, 3.5-4m high, 80 litre
container.

RfT5

Betula pendula (Silver Birch)

EHNS, 16-18 girth, 5-6m, 60
litre container.

RfT7

Sorbus aucuparia (Rowan)

Semi-mature, 25-30 girth,
6-6.5m, 200 litre container.
(Smaller stock is likely to be
available)

RfT8

Sequoia sempervirens
(Coast Redwood)

Feathered tree, 2-2.5m
high, in 240 litre container,
or 6-7m tree if available
(from Hillier).

RfT9

Magnolia ‘Galaxy’ (mature
height of 7-12m)

Selected Standard, 10-12
girth, 3.5-4m, 120 litre
container.

RfT10

Betula pendula (Silver Birch)

EHNS, 16-18 girth, 5-6m, 60
litre container.

RfT11

Betula pendula (Silver Birch)

EHNS, 16-18 girth, 5-6m, 60
litre container.

RfTStump

Salix alba ‘Tristis’ (Golden
Weeping Willow)

EHNS, 16-18 girth, 4-4.5m,
110 litre container.

Atrium RfT11

4 no. Betula utilis var.
jacquemontii (Himalayan
birch to replace Atrium T11)

EHNS, 16-18 girth, 5-6m, 70
litre container.

Additional Tree
'RfTAtrium'

1 no. Betula utilis var.
jacquemontii (Himalayan
birch to replace Atrium T11)

EHNS, 16-18 girth, 5-6m, 70
litre container.

NOTE: Aside from those referenced above, all new planting for The
Atrium remains as per the previous approval Ref: 173537

level:
47.75

0
EE .4
TR R:0 8
I
:
G R
SP

LANDSCAPING KEY
tree RPA - refer to tree reports / surveys

replacement/ supplementary tree
planting - refer to schedule
0
EE .2
TR R:0 6
I
:
G R
SP

retaining walls

RfT11

0
EE .3
TR R:0 8
GI R:
SP

planting bed (mixed herbacious) refer to schedule

0
EE .6
TR R:0 8
GI R:
SP

replacement / new hedging as
labelled - refer to schedule

paved areas

hatch indicates replacement/
supplementary tree planting refer to schedule

gravelled areas / driveway & parking

RfT5

bins

48.20

48.0
0

feature Cercis
canadensis
'Forest Pansy'

47
.80

0
EE .5
TR R:0 10
I
:
G R
SP

lawn

0
.5
44

lawn

DP .12E
50AV
E

0
EE .2
TR R:0 6
GI R:
SP

RfT10

gate

Prunus avium ‘Plena’
(double white
flowering Cherry)

5
EE .2
TR R:0 6
I
:
G R
SP

Prunus lusitanica

3no Quercus Ilex

level: 44.25

RfT2

48.0
0

vegetable beds
gravel
paths

Specification

47
.4
0

47.2
0

path and steps as
implemented on site

6
.0 E
53IDG
R

47.00
46.80
46.60
46.40
46.20

Hornbeam/Yew/Beech
in a typical mix of
40/20/40 maintained to
1.0x1.0m (width x height)

0
.1 E
50AV
E

45.2
0

level: 44.00

45.40

gravel paths

level: 45.00

Replacement Species

48
.20

patio

level: 44.40

RfStump

Ref.

steps up

PWM

3no pyrus chanticleer

level:
46.65

PWM
HT:1
.0M

45.
25

0
43.5

banked
planting bed
(mixed
herbacious)

45.40

patio
level: 45.00

0
EE .6
TR R:0 14
GI R:
SP

0
.6
47

.25
43

limestone gravel perimeter
to tennis court

47
.4
0

165

level: 45.00

0
EE .4
TR R:0 12
GI R:
SP

IC L
C

planting bed
(mixed
herbacious)
gravel
paths

48.
20

T12

RED LINES INDICATE EXTENT OF
PREVIOUSLY APPROVED PATIO AT
45.00 LEVEL

level: 44.40

47.80

steps up

patio
level: 43.80

EE 5m m 20
TR PR: 0.5 47.
S IA:
D

0
.2
47

level: 45.00

TREE / REPLACEMENT PLANTING SCHEDULE

DP

0
.2
47

planting bed
(mixed herbacious)

0
EE .5
TR R:0 14
GI R:
SP

DP

0
.0
47

patio

46.8
0

0
EE .3
TR R:0 8
I
:
G R
SP

• Acer campestre – Field Maple – 5%;
• Carpinus betulus – Hornbeam – 5%;
• Corylus avellana – Hazel – 6%;
• Crataegus monogyna – Hawthorn – 60%;
• Ilex aquifolium – Holly – 5%;
• Prunus spinose – Blackthorn – 23%;
• Sorbus torminalis – Wild Service – 3%
• Viburnum opulus – Guelder Rose – 3%.
46.60

planting bed
(mixed herbacious) TG4

gravel paths

0
EE .5
TR R:0 14
GI R:
SP

0
EE .3
TR R:0 10
GI R:
SP

46
.40

46.20

level: 44.55

0
EE .2
TR R:0 4
I
:
G R
SP

0
EE .1
TR R:0 3
GI R:
SP

GU

47.20

0
.0
46 80
.
45 .60
45

0
EE .3
TR R:0 8
I
:
G R
SP

48.
00

47.00

RfT7
Rowan

IC L
C

DP

proposed section of double-staggered native
species hedge as scheduled - to be maintained
at a height no less than 1.0x1.5m (width x height):

level: 43.80

swimming
pool

46.80

RfT8
Coast
Redwood

perimeter hedging to
pool area to be set
minimum 500mm above
pool / patio level

patio

GU

47.60

46.60

lawn

perimeter hedging to pool area to
be set minimum 500mm above pool
/ patio level

DP

47.40

RfT9
'Magnolia'

0
EE .5
TR R:1 18
GI R:
SP

POOL COURT

46.4
0

.7
5

43

43
.2
5

43
.0
0

46.20

replacement tree species
RfT7, RfT8 & RfT9 as
previously approved

level: existing

ramp
down
50 0m
m

0
EE .5
TR R:0 14
I
:
G R
SP

DP

Atrium T10 - Common lime to
remain (crown clean)

soft fruit w/ post &
wire cordons

0
EE .5
TR R:0 14
GI R:
SP

0
EE .5
TR R:0 14
GI R:
SP

lawn

lawn

U
DP G

rear garden

.75
42
mixed native hedge

47
.60

DP

• Acer campestre – Field Maple – 5%;
• Carpinus betulus – Hornbeam – 5%;
• Corylus avellana – Hazel – 6%;
• Crataegus monogyna – Hawthorn – 60%;
• Ilex aquifolium – Holly – 5%;
• Prunus spinose – Blackthorn – 23%;
• Sorbus torminalis – Wild Service – 3%
• Viburnum opulus – Guelder Rose – 3%.

.50
42

DP

44.

previously implemented double-staggered native
species hedge as scheduled - to be maintained at a
height no less than 1.0x1.5m (width x height):

GU

0
EE .5
TR R:0 5
GI R:
SP

0
EE .7
TR R:0 12
I
:
G R
SP

47.40

44
.00

43.
80

Atrium T12 - Silverbirch to
remain

IC

48.20

41
.50

41
.25

0
.0
46

20

split-chestnut post and three rail fence to
boundary
GU

.25
42

2no Amelanchier
lamarckii multi-stem

10

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

0
EE .5
TR R:0 5
I
:
G R
SP

split-chestnut post and three rail fence to
boundary

42

level: 44.40

8

.0M
PWM HT:1

• Acer campestre – Field Maple – 5%;
• Carpinus betulus – Hornbeam – 5%;
• Corylus avellana – Hazel – 6%;
• Crataegus monogyna – Hawthorn – 60%;
• Ilex
5 aquifolium – Holly – 5%;
.7Prunus spinose – Blackthorn – 23%;
41•
• Sorbus torminalis – Wild Service – 3%
0 – Guelder Rose – 3%.
• Viburnum opulus
.0

Corners have pedestals with
planters on top. 2 house the
pumps needed for the koi
pond.

46.

3.0m length of proposed Holly
hedge

proposed double-staggered native species
hedge as per previously approved hedge to
Pool Court - to be maintained at a height no less
than 1.0x1.5m (width x height):

koi pond - to specialist detail
& installation

6

4

2

VISUAL SCALE (m) 1:200

0
EE .5
TR R:1
I
G

level:
44.40

0

41m length of proposed replacement
Holly hedge (maintained to ultimate
height of 1.5m & width of 1m)

'RfTAtrium'

lawn

46.80

PR HT:1.2M

tree group
'Atrium RFt11'
(4no)
PR HT:1.2M

mixed native hedge

46.60

pedestrian gate into paddock area

1 no. additional Betula utilis
var. jacquemontii

planting bed
(mixed herbacious)

46
.4
0

split-chestnut post and three rail fence to
boundary

gate into paddock area for
maintenance etc

44
.80

44
.2
0

3.5m length of proposed
replacement Holly hedge

dashed lines indicate trees
removed / to be removed as
previously approved

0
EE .9
TR R:0 12
GI R:
SP

dashed lines indicate trees
to be removed as
previously approved

Path amended
Planning amendments
Pool levels amended
Levels amended
Tennis court lighting removed
Amendments
Further landscape amends.
description

status

0
EE .3
TR R:0 8
I
:
G R
SP

hedge

G
26/11/19
F
25/11/19
E
21/11/19
D
08/11/09
C
06/11/19
B
22/08/19
A
16/07/19
revision date

PLANNING
project title

fruit trees in orchard area:
2no Apple
2no Pear
1no Plum

LANDSCAPING AT THE ATRIUM &
POOL COURT, SONNING ON THAMES
drawing title

COMBINED LANDSCAPE PLAN

48.4
0

hedge at 1.5m high

metal edged planting
pockets for climbing plants to
be wired to existing brick wall
IC L
C

driveway widened to allow
improved vehicular turning space
with new gates to The Atrium

first issued

drawn

scale @ A1

/

DBR

1 : 200

job/drawing no/revision

17119 - LD101 - G
The Studio, 70 Church Road, Wheatley, Oxford, OX33 1LZ
01865 873936

existing vegetation

IC L
C

info@andersonorr.com

www.andersonorr.com

This page is intentionally left blank

0

1

3

2

4

5

VISUAL SCALE (m) 1:100
NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

existing trees (shown indicatively)

2.75m high perimeter fencing

2750

goal within fencing

TENNIS COURT - EAST ELEVATION (POOL COURT SIDE)

TENNIS COURT - SOUTH ELEVATION

167
existing trees (shown indicatively)

2.75m high perimeter fencing

2750

0.9m lowered section of fencing
& access gate

900

goal within fencing

TENNIS COURT - WEST ELEVATION (THE ATRIUM SIDE)

TENNIS COURT - NORTH ELEVATION

Planning - Tennis Court - Existing

A
06/11/19 Tennis court lighting removed
revision date
description
status

PLANNING
project title

LANDSCAPING AT THE ATRIUM &
POOL COURT, SONNING ON THAMES
drawing title

TENNIS COURT ELEVATIONS
first issued

drawn

scale @ A1

/

DBR

1 : 100

job/drawing no/revision

17119 - LD102 - A
The Studio, 70 Church Road, Wheatley, Oxford, OX33 1LZ
01865 873936

info@andersonorr.com

www.andersonorr.com

This page is intentionally left blank

PLANNING REF
: 192312
PROPERTY ADDRESS : Council Office
: Pearson Road, Sonning, Reading
: RG4 6UL
SUBMITTED BY
: Sonning Parish Council
DATE SUBMITTED
: 24/10/2019
COMMENTS:
Sonning Parish Council has carefully considered this application and has the
following comments.
The Council has been made aware that the site has been raised considerably. The
Council shares the concerns
with neighbours about the effect this is likely t o have had on
drainage from the site. Particularly as no permission for this work had been
previously approved and therefore the work was undertaken without any
supervision from the local authority.
The original, gradually sloping site, has been regrad ed so that it is
completely level and raised by several feet over adjoining gardens and could
allow water from the site to flood onto these properties. In order to achieve
this several tonnes of rubble have been brought into the site. A resident
questions whether this constitutes an engineering exercise and should have
required appropriate permissions and the Parish Council would like to be
advised of the answer to this.
The proposed lighting would be 6m high and, as the whole site has already been
raise d by at least a metre, it is likely to be more visible from adjoining
properties and surrounding areas. Original hedges, which offered substantial
screening and sound insulation have been removed and not replaced. Where they
have been replaced it has been with small immature hedging, which does not
offer the previous protection and will not do so for many years. This has a
negative impact on
neighbours privacy and presents more opportunities for disturbance to the
neighbours. It is likely to impact on th e existing amenity
currently enjoyed by the neighbours and is therefore contrary to CP1. The deep
hedge between the two properties (The Atrium and Pool Court), together with
the removal of many trees from the site, has removed the noise protection and
scr eening they offered.
The outbuilding,
previously approved on the Pool Court land, has now been identified as an
office and there are concerns that office use could become greater than might
be expected from a modest business in a domestic property.
Th e proposed lighting to the tennis court is of particular concern. Twentytwo
(22) spotlights would be evenly spread across six (6)
columns, identified for domestic use the lighting would, none the less, spill
out over the adjoining landscape and the nig ht sky. It will clearly be seen
from the towpath, surrounding countryside and adjoining properties. The light
pollution in a residential area in the Conservation Area, which would be
clearly seen, would be unacceptable. The lighting would be particularly
intrusive on Pool Court, identified as a nondesignated heritage asset as the
original deep hedge
screening the two sites from each other has been removed.
It is understood that the original tennis court has been lowered so much that
the original small (documented as no higher than 600mm) brick wall
surrounding it has been replaced by a new wall 1 metre high and another
approximately 1.8 metres high.

169

In conclusion the Parish Council strongly objects to the application and
therefore urges refusal.

L. A. Bates (Clerk to the Council).

170

PLANNING REF
: 192312
PROPERTY ADDRESS : Council Office
: Pearson Road, Sonning, Reading
: RG4 6UL
SUBMITTED BY
: Sonning Parish Council
DATE SUBMITTED
: 21/11/2019
COMMENTS:
Sonning Parish Council has carefully considered this application and has the
following comments.
The Parish Council has reviewed the
revised plans and is pleased to see that the proposed lighting to the swimming
pool have been withdrawn. However there ar e other concerns, outlined in the
Councils earlier submission, that remain. Therefore the Councils request that
the application be listed remain.
Lesley Bates (Clerk to the Council)
20 November 2019

171

This page is intentionally left blank

